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NOTICE OF MOTION 

The Plaintiffs will make a motion to Chief Justice Geoffrey Morawetz of the Ontario 

Superior Court of Justice on December 17, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., or as soon after that time as the 

motion can be heard. 

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard  

[  ] In writing under subrule 37.12.1(1) because it is; 

[  ] In writing as an opposed motion under subrule 37.12.1(4); 

[  ] In person; 

[  ] By telephone conference; 

[X] By video conference.
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at the following location:  

• Commercial List Office, 9th Floor, 330 University Avenue, Toronto M5G 1R7 

• Zoom details to be provided 

 

THE MOTION IS FOR: 

(a) An Order pursuant to Rule 12.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O 1990, Reg. 

194 (the “Rules”) appointing Tom Fenske (“Fenske”) as the representative 

plaintiff on behalf of the following class of Laurentian University Staff Union 

(“LUSU”) members and retirees, who together comprise all of the individuals on 

behalf of whom LUSU filed a Proof of Claim dated July 4, 2021 in the Laurentian 

University of Sudbury (“Laurentian” or the “University”) proceedings under the 

Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-36 (“CCAA”) :  

(i) former LUSU members who retired while members of LUSU and 

were receiving benefits from the University’s Retiree Health 

Benefits Plan (“RHBP”) as of February 1, 2021(including the 

estates of such LUSU retirees); 

(ii) current and former LUSU members who were LUSU members as 

of February 1, 2021 and were eligible to claim RHBP benefits as 

of that date (including the estates of such LUSU members); and 

(iii) current and former LUSU members who were LUSU members as 

of February 1, 2021 and who had contributed to the RHBP at any 
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time prior to that date (including the estates of such LUSU 

members) (the “LUSU Members”). 

(b) An Order pursuant to Rule 12.08 of the Rules appointing Fabrice Colin (“Colin”)

as the representative plaintiff on behalf of the following class of Laurentian

University Faculty Association (“LUFA”) members and former members

(including retirees), who together comprise all of the individuals on behalf of whom

LUFA filed a Proof of Claim dated July 31, 2021 in the Laurentian CCAA

proceedings:

(i) former members of the Laurentian University Faculty Association

(“LUFA”) who retired while members of LUFA and were

receiving RHBP benefits as of February 1, 2021 (including the

estates of such retirees);

(ii) current and former LUFA members who were LUFA members as

of February 1, 2021 and were eligible to claim RHBP benefits as

of February 1, 2021 (including the estates of such members);

(iii) current and former LUFA members who were LUFA members as

of February 1, 2021 and had contributed to the RHBP at any time

prior to that date (including the estates of such members); and

(iv) members of the Laurentian administration as of February 1, 2021

who were dues-paying members of LUFA at some time prior to

February 1, 2021 and contributed to the RHBP at any time prior to
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that date (including the estates of such members) (the “LUFA 

Members”). 

(c) An Order defining the “Settlement Class” as all LUSU and LUFA Members; 

(d) An Order defining the Common Issues for the Settlement Class as: 

(i) did the Defendants negligently or fraudulently misrepresent the 

state of the RHBP to the Settlement Class?; and 

(ii) in the alternative, did the Defendants knowingly assist Laurentian’s 

breach of trust with respect to the Settlement Class’s RHBP 

contributions? 

(e) An Order approving the Settlement Agreement between the Plaintiffs and the 

Defendants executed on November 14, 2023 (the “Settlement Agreement”); 

(f) A declaration that the claimants on behalf of whom LUSU filed its July 4, 2021 

Proof of Claim are the LUSU Members and only the LUSU Members have 

Excluded D&O Claims, as that term is defined in the Amended CCAA Plan of 

Compromise and Arrangement dated September 9, 2022 (the “CCAA Plan”); 

(g) A declaration that the claimants on behalf of whom LUFA filed its July 30, 2021 

Proof of Claim are the LUFA Members and only the LUFA Members have 

Excluded D&O Claims, as that term is defined in the CCAA Plan; 

(h) A Order fully and finally releasing all Excluded D&O Claims held by any former, 

current or retired members of LUSU and LUFA; 
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(i) A declaration that the Settlement Agreement is fair, reasonable and in the best 

interests of the Settlement Class; 

(j) An Order that the Defendants pay the settlement payment under the Settlement 

Agreement to Goldblatt Partners LLP, in trust, within thirty (30) days; 

(k) An Order approving the proposed settlement funds distribution methodology 

(“Plan of Distribution”); 

(l) An Order that this action be dismissed against the Defendants without costs; and 

(m) Such further and other relief as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court 

deems just. 

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE: 

Background 

1. The proposed representative plaintiff, Fenske, is an employee of Laurentian who 

participated in the RHBP. Fenske is also a member and the current President of LUSU. LUSU is 

a trade union that represents employees of the University engaged in certain clerical, technical, 

administrative, service, and security guard work.  

2. The proposed representative plaintiff, Colin, is an employee of Laurentian who participated 

in the RHBP. Colin is also member and the President of LUFA. LUFA is a trade union the 

represents faculty at Laurentian.  

3. The Defendants are former directors and/or officers of Laurentian. 
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4. The RHBP was a benefit plan that provided eligible University retirees with an annual 

reimbursement for out-of-pocket medical expenses and/or private health insurance premiums. The 

RHBP was established effective July 1, 1998.  

5. Members of LUSU and LUFA were eligible to participate in the RHBP. Participating 

members paid fixed monthly contributions to the RHBP and were eligible to receive RHBP 

benefits upon retirement (provided applicable eligibility criteria were met).  

6. On February 1, 2021, the University commenced proceedings under the CCAA. The RHBP 

was eliminated during the CCAA process. Hundreds of LUSU and LUFA members contributed to 

the RHBP between July 1998 and February 2021. 

7. In July 2021, LUSU and LUFA each submitted Proofs of Claim in the CCAA proceeding 

on behalf of certain current and former members claiming, inter alia, damages as against certain 

directors and officers of the University arising from their alleged involvement in the misuse and/or 

depletion of RHBP funds, the “Excluded D&O Claims”. The Excluded D&O Claims were not 

resolved or compromised in the CCAA process.  

8. The CCAA Plan granted LUSU and LUFA the right to assert the Excluded D&O Claims 

following the implementation of the CCAA Plan. The CCAA Plan contemplates that the Excluded 

D&O Claims may be brought directly by the unions in their own name or by way of an authorized 

representative on behalf of each union’s members pursuant to Rule 12 or the Class Proceedings 

Act, 1992, S.O. 1992, c. 6 (the “CPA”).  

9. Any claims against directors and officers of Laurentian for which no Proof of Claim was 

submitted during the CCAA proceeding were released pursuant to the Plan. 
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10. Following the implementation of the Plan, LUSU and LUFA engaged in extensive pre-

litigation negotiations with the Defendants with respect to the Excluded D&O Claims, culminating 

in the execution of the Settlement Agreement. 

11. The Settlement Agreement requires that LUSU and LUFA obtain Court approval of the 

settlement. 

Representation Order  

12. The pleadings disclose reasonable causes of action against the Defendants. There is an 

identifiable class. The claims of the LUSU and LUFA Members raise common issues. 

13. The representative plaintiff, Fenske: 

(a) Will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the LUSU Members; 

(b) Has a plan that sets out a workable method for the advancement of the proceeding 

on behalf of the LUSU Members, including the provision of notice to the LUSU 

Members; and 

(c) Does not have an interest in conflict with the interests of the other LUSU Members. 

14. The representative plaintiff, Colin: 

(a) Will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the LUFA Members; 

(b) Has a plan that sets out a workable method for the advancement of the proceeding 

on behalf of the LUFA Members, including the provision of notice to the LUFA 

Members; and 
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(c) Does not have an interest in conflict with the interests of the other LUFA Members. 

15. Pursuant to the terms of the CCAA Plan, the only entities capable of pursuing the claims 

being advanced on behalf of the Settlement Class are LUSU and LUFA or their authorized 

representatives. 

16. LUSU and LUFA, as unincorporated trade unions, may not be a party to any civil action 

by virtue of section 3 of the Rights of Labour Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. R.33. As such, the Excluded 

D&O Claims must by advanced by way of a representative action or class proceeding. 

17. A class proceeding under the CPA would be an unduly expensive and/or an inconvenient 

means for determining the claims of the LUSU and LUFA Class Members. 

18. For the purposes of settlement only, the Defendants consent to the representation orders 

sought herein. 

Settlement Approval 

19. The Plaintiffs and the Defendants have reached a proposed settlement of this action, as set 

out in the Settlement Agreement. 

20. The Settlement Agreement was negotiated at arm’s length and following a mediation with 

a third-party mediator. 

21. The Settlement Agreement is fair, reasonable and in the best interests of the Settlement 

Class. 

22. The Plan of Distribution is fair, reasonable and in the best interests of the Settlement Class. 
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23. The Plaintiffs have provided notice of the settlement to the Settlement Class that advised 

the Settlement Class of: 

(a) the existence of the Settlement Agreement, its salient terms, and the hearing of the 

motion for approval of the Settlement Agreement; 

(b) their rights to attend the hearing of the motion for approval of the Settlement 

Agreement; 

(c) their rights to object to the terms of the Settlement Agreement; and 

(d) their rights to object to Class Counsel’s proposed fee request.  

Other Grounds 

24. Rules 1.04(1), 2.01(1), 3.02, 12.08 (or, in the alternative, Rule 10.01) and 37 of the Rules 

 of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194. 

25. Rights of Labour Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.R.33. 

26. Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-36. 

27. Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court permits. 

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the motion:  

(a) The Statement of Claim, issued October 16, 2025; 

(b) The Affidavit of Tom Fenske, affirmed October 16, 2025; 

(c) The Affidavit of Brendan Scott, affirmed October 17, 2025; 
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(d) The Affidavit of Fabrice Colin, affirmed October 20, 2025; and 

(e) Such further and other evidence as the lawyers may advise and this Honourable 

Court may permit. 
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AFFIDAVIT OF TOM FENSKE 

I, Tom Fenske, of the City of Greater Sudbury, AFFIRM: 

1. I am a proposed representative plaintiff in this proceeding. I am a Technologist at the

Laurentian University of Sudbury (“Laurentian” or the “University”) and the President of the 

Laurentian University Staff Union ("LUSU"). LUSU is a trade union that represents over 240 

employees at Laurentian who are engaged in clerical, technical, administrative, service, and full-

time security-guard roles. As a Technologist, I am a member of LUSU’s bargaining unit at 

Laurentian. 

2. I have been a member of LUSU since January 8, 2007 and the President of LUSU since

January 1, 2012. Prior to becoming President, I held the position of Steward and, later, Chief 

Steward. As the President of LUSU, I am responsible for the day-to-day administration of the 

collective agreement between LUSU and the University.  
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3. As President of LUSU, I was a member of LUSU’s bargaining committee with respect to 

the renewal collective agreement negotiations in 2012, 2015, and 2018, as well as the collective 

agreement re-opener negotiations in 2020. I am a non-voting member of the Laurentian Senate and 

a non-voting member of the Laurentian Board of Governors. I have regularly attended Finance 

Committee meetings as a non-voting member since 2012.  I participated in the University’s Retiree 

Health Benefits Plan (the “RHBP”) and made contributions to the RHBP from 2007 until February 

2021.  

4. I represented LUSU in my capacity as President in the proceedings under the Companies’ 

Creditors Arrangements Act (the “CCAA”) following Laurentian’s application for CCAA 

protection on February 1, 2021. I also participated in negotiations with the Defendants regarding 

the resolution of the proposed representative action concerning the alleged misuse and/or depletion 

of RHBP funds. As such, I have knowledge of the matters contained in this Affidavit, except where 

stated to be based on information and belief, in which case I verily believe the information to be 

true.    

The RHBP 

Terms of the RHBP 

5. Laurentian established the RHBP effective July 1, 1998 for the benefit of employees of 

Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury (collectively the 

“Federated Universities”), Laurentian, the SNO Lab and MIRARCO research centres, and the 

Centre for Excellence in Mining Innovation. A copy of the RHBP Policy dated July 1, 1998 is 

included as Exhibit “A”. Copies of amended RHBP Policies dated December 1, 2008 and June 

11, 2018 are included as Exhibits “B” and “C”, respectively. 
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6. As set out in the RHBP Policy, eligible retirees were reimbursed on an annual basis for 

premiums that they paid for private health insurance or for other qualifying health expenses. The 

annual reimbursement amount was indexed to inflation, to a maximum of 3% per year. The 

University engaged the actuarial and accounting firm, Eckler Ltd., to provide periodic reports on 

the RHBP. According to the most recent report, as of July 1, 2020, the annual benefit amounts 

were as follows: 

(a) for LUSU retirees: $1,374.85 per annum for family plans and $687.45 per annum 

for single plans; and 

(b) for Laurentian University Faculty Association (“LUFA”) retirees: $1,589.53 per 

annum for family plans and $978.17 for single plans. A copy of Eckler’s July 1, 

2020 report is included as Exhibit “D”. 

7. To receive RHBP benefits, participants needed to retire at age 55 or older and contribute 

to the RHBP for at least 15 years. Eligible retirees received RHBP benefits for life. Upon the death 

of a retiree who had family coverage, benefits to the retiree’s spouse or dependants continued for 

two years from the date of death.  

8. The RHBP was funded by monthly contributions from RHBP participants, as well as 

annual contributions by Laurentian and the Federated Universities. Pursuant to the terms of the 

RHBP Policy, Laurentian was required to hold the RHBP contributions in a trust account and to 

credit interest to the trust funds. 
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RHBP Deficit 

9. I understand that the RHBP was underfunded for many years. Around 2014, the University,

LUSU and LUFA began exploring possible changes or alternatives to the RHBP to address its 

funding deficit. The University engaged Eckler to develop potential alternatives for consideration. 

Around 2015, I (along with other members of LUSU) attended several presentations by Eckler and 

the University in which the RHBP’s funding deficit was discussed and in which possible 

alternatives were described. Ultimately, LUSU and LUFA rejected the alternatives presented by 

Eckler and the University because they all involved the current and future beneficiaries of the 

RHBP absorbing the funding deficit in existence at the time.  

10. In 2019 and 2020, I attended Finance Committee meetings at which University

administrators presented financial statements that stated, inter alia, that (i) the University was 

increasing its annual contributions over time in order to eliminate the funding deficit; and (ii) the 

RHBP had assets valued at $1,929,000 for the fiscal years ending April 30, 2019 and April 30, 

2020. Copies of the University’s financial statements for the fiscal years ending April 30, 2019 

and April 30, 2020 are included as Exhibit “E”. 

11. Unbeknownst to me, the University had depleted all of the RHBP assets prior to

commencing its application under the CCAA in February 2021. 

The CCAA Proceeding 

My Role During the CCAA Proceeding 

12. On February 1, 2021, the University commenced an application under the CCAA (the

“CCAA Proceeding”). 
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13. As President of LUSU, I represented LUSU in various negotiations with the University 

and other stakeholders throughout the CCAA Proceeding. On behalf of LUSU, I negotiated with 

the University and agreed to changes to LUSU’s collective agreement and pension plan during the 

CCAA Proceeding.  

14. From the outset of the CCAA proceedings, LUSU represented the interests of its current 

members, those members whose employment was terminated by Laurentian during the CCAA 

proceedings and its retirees.  Given its status as the exclusive bargaining agent for its members, 

LUSU did not seek or obtain a representation order during the CCAA Proceeding. Likewise, the 

University and the Monitor did not require me or any other member of the LUSU executive to 

obtain a representation order before making binding decisions on behalf of LUSU and its members 

in the CCAA Proceeding.  

Elimination of RHBP 

15. In support of its CCAA application, the University filed an affidavit sworn January 30, 

2021 by its then President, Robert Haché (the “Haché Affidavit”). The Haché Affidavit disclosed 

that the Laurentian administration had, among other things, never established a trust fund to hold 

the RHBP contributions and had instead deposited contributions into the University’s operating 

account, thus comingling RHBP funds with its operating funds. The Haché Affidavit estimated 

that the RHBP has an accrued benefit obligation of $7.2 million as of April 30, 2020, but that the 

RHBP was completely unfunded. A copy of the Haché Affidavit, excluding its exhibits, is included 

as Exhibit “F”. 

16. While I was aware of the RHBP’s funding deficit, I was not aware that the RHBP funds 

were not being held separately in a trust account. I was also not aware that the RHBP was 
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completely unfunded as of February 2021. I first learned these facts when I read the Haché 

Affidavit in February 2021. 

17. The RHBP was eliminated during the CCAA Proceeding. 

Proofs of Claim 

18. In the CCAA Proceeding, parties that intended to assert certain claims against directors 

and officers of Laurentian were required to submit Proofs of Claim to the Monitor by no later than 

July 30, 2021. A copy of the Claims Process Order dated May 31, 2021 is included as Exhibit 

“G”. 

19. On July 30, 2021, under my direction, LUSU submitted a proof of claim on behalf of all 

LUSU members (including retirees and terminated employees) against current and former 

directors and officers of Laurentian for, among other things, the misuse of RHBP trust funds (the 

“Proof of Claim”). A copy of the Proof of Claim (without enclosures) is included as Exhibit “H”. 

20. The Proof of Claim was accepted by the Monitor. The Monitor did not require LUSU to 

obtain a representation order before submitting the Proof of Claim on behalf of LUSU’s members 

and former members.  

21. I was subsequently informed by the Monitor that claims against directors and officers of 

Laurentian would not be resolved in the CCAA Proceeding. As such, parties that submitted proofs 

of claim with respect to claims against directors and officers of Laurentian prior to July 30, 2021 

were given the right to pursue their claims after Laurentian exited the CCAA. 
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Terms of the Plan of Arrangement 

22. In September 2022, Laurentian’s creditors voted to approve the Plan of Compromise and 

Arrangement that the University had filed with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in July 2022. 

23. The University later obtained Court approval with respect to its Amended Plan of 

Compromise and Arrangement dated September 9, 2022 (the “Plan”). A copy of the Plan is 

included as Exhibit “I”. 

24. I understand and am advised by counsel that pursuant to the Plan, LUSU retained the right 

to bring an action against directors and officers of Laurentian in respect of the claims set out in 

LUSU’s Proof of Claim alleging misuse and depletion of RHBP funds (the “D&O Claims”).  

25. As noted in the Affidavit of Brendan Scott affirmed October 16, 2025, which I have 

reviewed, the Monitor told LUSU’s counsel that only LUSU submitted a Proof of Claim on behalf 

of current and former LUSU members against directors and officers of Laurentian with respect to 

the misuse and/or depletion of RHBP funds. The Monitor also advised that LUFA and the 

Federated Universities filed similar Proofs of Claim, with the latter filed on behalf of their 

employees arising out of the misuse and/or depletion of RHBP funds. Accordingly, I understand 

and am advised by counsel that the Federated Universities, LUSU and LUFA, or individual 

plaintiffs duly appointed as representatives of their members, are the only parties able to bring the 

D&O Claims. 

26. The Plan was implemented on November 28, 2022. A copy of the Monitor’s Plan 

Implementation Certificate is included as Exhibit “J”. 
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Post-CCAA Negotiations and Settlement 

Report of the Auditor General  

27. On November 17, 2022, the Auditor General for Ontario released a special report on the 

Laurentian insolvency (the “AG Report”). The AG Report found that senior administration 

officials had used restricted funds (including RHBP funds) to pay for capital projects. A copy of 

the AG Report is included as Exhibit “K”. I first learned of this fact when I reviewed the AG 

Report in November 2022. 

Representative Action 

28. In 2022, LUSU retained the law firm Wright Henry LLP to represent current and former 

LUSU members in a representative action against the Defendants for LUSU members’ and former 

members’ losses flowing from the D&O Claims. I understand from Fabrice Colin (“Fabrice”), 

President of LUFA, that LUFA retained the law firm Goldblatt Partners LLP around the same time 

to represent current and former LUFA members in a representative action against the Defendants 

with respect to LUFA members’ and former members’ losses flowing from the D&O Claims. 

Collectively, the law firms of Wright Henry LLP and Goldblatt Partners LLP are referred to as 

“Class Counsel”. 

29. Fabrice and I chose to pursue a representative action against the Defendants with respect 

to losses flowing from the D&O Claims on behalf of current and former members of LUSU and 

LUFA who: 

(a) retired while a member of LUSU or LUFA and were receiving benefits from the 

RHBP as of February 1, 2021 (including the estates of such LUFA and LUSU 

retirees); 
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(b) were a LUSU or LUFA member eligible to claim RHBP benefits as of February 1, 

2021 (including the estates of such LUFA and LUSU retirees); 

(c) were dues-paying members of LUFA prior to February 1, 2021 but left the 

bargaining unit to join the senior administration and were in that position at the 

time of Laurentian’s CCAA filing on February 1, 2021 (including the estates of 

such LUFA members); or  

(d) were a LUSU or LUFA member as of February 1, 2021 and had contributed to the 

RHBP at any time prior to that date (including the estates of such LUFA and LUSU 

members) (collectively, the “Settlement Class” or the “Settlement Class 

Members”).  

30. As a person who contributed to the RHBP and who was a LUSU member as of February 

1, 2021, I am a member of the Settlement Class.  

31. I am aware that several LUSU members and/or retirees who were Settlement Class 

Members passed away after February 1, 2021. LUSU will be providing notice of the settlement to 

deceased members/retirees based on the contact information that LUSU has on file (where 

available).  

Negotiations with the Defendants and Settlement  

32. Immediately after the University exited the CCAA in November 2022, Class Counsel, on 

behalf of the Settlement Class, engaged in without-prejudice negotiations with counsel to, Floyd 

Laughren, Michael Atkins, Jennifer Witty, Claude Lacroix, Dominic Giroux, Pierre Zundel, Carol 

McCaulay, Lorella Hayes, Ian Wood, John Pollesel, Judith Woodsworth and Robert Haché (the 
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“Defendants”). The Defendants are all former directors and/or officers of Laurentian, who served 

at Laurentian at various points between 2002 and 2022. The negotiations concerned the Settlement 

Class’s D&O Claims.  

33. On October 19, 2023, I participated in a mediation with the Defendants before Mediator 

Mary Jane Stitt. 

34. On November 14, 2023, LUSU and LUFA, on behalf of the Settlement Class, concluded a 

settlement agreement with the Defendants (the “Settlement Agreement”). Under the Settlement 

Agreement, the Defendants did not admit, and in fact expressly denied, liability for any conduct 

relating to the RHBP.  

35. I have reviewed the Agreement and have had its terms explained to me by Class Counsel. 

I have also reviewed the Affidavit of Brendan Scott affirmed October 16, 2025. I understand that, 

pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Defendants have agreed to pay CAD $3,000,000 (the 

“Settlement Amount”) in full and final settlement of the Settlement Class’s representative action 

against the Defendants.  

36. I understand that administrative fees and Class Counsels’ fees and disbursements in the 

amount of $300,000 will be deducted from the Settlement Amount. I further understand that the 

settlement is conditional upon obtaining Court approval of the Settlement Agreement.  

37. I have instructed Class Counsel to seek Court approval of the Settlement Agreement. I 

believe that the settlement is fair and reasonable and in the best interest of the Settlement Class.  
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38. I swear this Affidavit in support of the Plaintiffs’ motion for a representation order and for 

Court approval of the Settlement Agreement, including the Minutes of Settlement, plan of 

distribution and counsel’s fees and for no other or improper purpose.  

 

AFFIRMED REMOTELY by Tom Fenske 
stated as being located at the City of Sudbury, 
in the Province of Ontario, before me at the 
City of Welland in the Province of Ontario, on 
October 16, 2025, in accordance with  
O. Reg 431/20, Administering Oath or 
Declaration Remotely. 
  

 

 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits 
(or as may be) 

 

 TOM FENSKE 
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This is Exhibit “A” referred to in the Affidavit of Tom Fenske 
affirmed October 16, 2025 
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RETIREES BENEFIT PLAN POLICY
EFFECTIVE: JULY 1, 1998

1. Retirees will purchase private coverage from available external plans.

2. The University will establish a Retirees Health Benefit Plan (RHBP) to be used towards the
subsidization of retiree health benefit premiums in the following manner.

2a. A limit of $8.00 dispensing fee per prescription will be implemented in the current extended health plan.
The savings attributed to this change will be credited to the RHBP trust account.

2b. The request made to the Pension Committee to allow a pension-contribution holiday by the
employer to a limit of $200,000 has been approved. This amount will be credited to the RHBP
trust account..

2c. All current employees in the Extended Health Plan will pay afixed amount per month equal to
$2.00 per month for single and $5.25 per month for family äoverage. This represents
approximately 3.6% of the current monthly health premiums. This money will be placed in the
RHBP trust account.

2d. The University will contribute $25,000 per year into the RHBP trust account.

2e. The Federated Colleges will contribute an annual amount proportional to the Laurentian
contribution to the RHBP trust account.

3. Grant-funded and term employees may opt out of the RHBP.

Interest will be credited to funds on deposit in the RHBP trust account and retiree
reimbursements will be charged against the trust account.

5. Retirees will be reimbursed for premiums or other qualifying expenses paid in the amount of
$25.00 per month for single and $50.00 per month for family, payable on a yearly basis. The
list of expenses will be the same as that enjoyed by the full-time active employees. Over-the-
counter medication, except vitamins, will be considered an eligible expense provided that a
physician’s prescription is submitted with an original receipt containing the required
information (i.e. name of medication, date of purchase, cost of medication).

6. The Benefits Committee will continue to review the current benefit plans in order to achieve
savings which might be utilized to improve the RHBP.

7. An annual statement of transactions in the trust fund and updated projections will be provided
to the Benefits Committee. This Benefit Plan will be reviewed on an annual basis.

8. The amounts in items 2c, 2d, 2e and 5 are to be increased every year on July 1 by the average
increase in Consumer Price Index (CPI) to a maximum of 3%. The annual CPI taken into
consideration will be the CPI for the proceeding twelve (12) month period starting April 1 of
the previous calendar year to March 31 of the current calendar year.

Upon the death of the retiree, the spouse andlor dependents will continue to he afforded the
RHBP benefit for a period of two (2) years from the date of death of the retiree.

Revised: December 1, 2008
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RETIREES BENEFIT PLAN POLICY 
EFFECTIVE: JULY 1, 1998 

 
1. Retirees will purchase private coverage from available external plans. 
 
2. The University will establish a Retirees Health Benefit Plan (RHBP) to be used towards the subsidization of retiree 

health benefit premiums in the following manner. 
 

2a.  A limit of $8.00 dispensing fee per prescription will be implemented in the current extended health plan.  The savings 
       attributed to this change will be credited to the RHBP trust account.  (Effective July 1, 2018, this contribution is  
       rolled into the employer share.) 

 
2b.  The request made to the Pension Committee to allow a pension-contribution holiday by the employer to a 
        limit of $200,000 has been approved.  This amount will be credited to the RHBP trust account. 

 
2c.  All current employees in the Extended Health Plan will pay a fixed amount per month equal to $2.00 per 
       month for single and $5.25 per month for family coverage.  This represents approximately 3.6% of the 
       current monthly health premiums.  This money will be placed in the RHBP trust account. 

 
2d.  The University will contribute $25,000 per year into the RHBP trust account.  (Effective July 1, 2018, this 
       contribution is rolled into the employer share.) 

 
2e.  The Federated Colleges will contribute an annual amount proportional to the Laurentian contribution to the 
       RHBP trust account.  

 
3. Grant-funded and term employees may opt out of the RHBP. 

 
4. Interest will be credited to funds on deposit in the RHBP trust account and retiree reimbursements will be 

charged against the trust account. 
 

5. Retirees will be reimbursed for premiums or other qualifying expenses paid in the amount of $25.00 per 
month for single and $50.00 per month for family, payable on a yearly basis.  The list of expenses will be 
the same as that enjoyed by the full-time active employees.  Over-the-counter medication, except vitamins, 
will be considered an eligible expense provided that a physician’s prescription is submitted with an original 
receipt containing the required information (i.e. name of medication, date of purchase, cost of medication). 

 
6. The Benefits Committee will continue to review the current benefit plans in order to achieve savings which 

might be utilized to improve the RHBP. 
 

7. An annual statement of transactions in the trust fund and updated projections will be provided to the 
Benefits Committee.  This Benefit Plan will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

 
8. The amounts in items 2c, 2d, 2e and 5 are to be increased every year on July 1 by the average increase in 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) to a maximum of 3%.  The annual CPI taken into consideration will be the CPI 
for the proceeding twelve (12) month period starting April 1 of the previous calendar year to March 31 of 
the current calendar year. 

 
9. Upon the death of the retiree, the spouse and/or dependents will continue to be afforded the  RHBP benefit 

for a period of two (2) years from the date of death of the retiree. 
 

 
Revised:  June 11, 2018 
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Section 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The following report provides the actuarial valuation results of Laurentian University’s (the “University”)
Retirees Health Benefit Plan (“RHBP”) (and extrapolations thereof) in accordance with the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook Section 3463 – Accounting for Not-for-Profit 
Organizations (“CPA 3463”) for Fiscal 2020 (May 1, 2019 to April 30, 2020).

This report has been prepared at the request of Laurentian University (“the University”) and is intended 
for use by the University and its external auditor in support of amounts appearing on the University’s 
financial statements.

The University sponsors a Retirees Health Benefit Plan (“RHBP”) that provides reimbursement for retiree 
health benefit premiums for private medical insurance or qualifying medical expenses, subject to a 
maximum yearly reimbursement. To support the accruing obligations, active members participating in the 
RHBP pay monthly premiums into the RHBP fund while the University and Federated Universities
contribute annually. As well, the University and Federated Universities have been voluntarily contributing 
an additional amount from a portion of savings from the pay direct drug card into the RHBP fund.

The RHBP covers the members and retirees from Laurentian University, Sudbury Neutrino Observatory 
Institute (SNOI), and the following federated universities: Huntington University, Thorneloe University and 
The University of Sudbury (U of S). The accounting results in this report are summarized by reporting 
entity.

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to show the following information in accordance with CPA 3463:

1. The benefit cost for Fiscal 2020 and year-end disclosure results as of April 30, 2020; and 

2. The estimated benefit cost for Fiscal 2021.

Please note that all the information provided for Fiscal 2021 are estimates only and can be materially 
different from what is shown dependant on significant events and changes in assumptions that may occur 
during and at the end of Fiscal 2021. We will confirm or update these estimates at the time of the 
preparation of the final Fiscal 2021 disclosure results.
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Summary of Main Disclosure Result for the Year Ending April 30, 2020

The key financial information for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2020 is summarized as follows:

Projected Results for Fiscal Year Ending April 30, 2021

The projected expense for the fiscal year ending April 30, 2021 is summarized as follows:

The actual expense for Fiscal 2021 may be different than outlined here due to plan changes or significant 
events which may occur during the next fiscal year.

The financial amounts included in this report are in Canadian dollars. Detailed disclosure information is 
provided in Sections 3 and 4 of this report.

Actuarial valuations and extrapolations

An actuarial valuation of the RHBP was performed at June 30, 2017 based on data as at that date. The 
valuation was extrapolated to determine the Fiscal 2020 benefit expense. This valuation was also 
extrapolated to prepare the disclosure information at April 30, 2020 and estimated Fiscal 2021 expense. 
The maximum subsidy rates are updated annually, and the extrapolations reflect the applicable rates 
effective July 1, 2019, and July 1, 2020.

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

There were no changes to the actuarial assumptions or methods since the last disclosure as of April 30, 
2019.

Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thorneloe U of S RHBP Total

Benefit cost/(income) $242,640 $14,109 $4,197 $7,005 $17,896 $285,847

Fair value of plan assets $1,768,753 $39,821 $41,080 $40,774 $111,595 $2,002,023
Defined benefit obligation $7,206,000 $152,209 $123,131 $168,847 $416,134 $8,066,321
Defined benefit asset/(liability) ($5,437,247) ($112,388) ($82,051) ($128,073) ($304,539) ($6,064,298)

Employer contributions $147,596 $2,859 $2,746 $2,727 $5,616 $161,544
Employee current service contributions $154,555 $2,993 $3,146 $3,109 $6,694 $170,497
Employee past service contributions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thornloe U of S RHBP Total

Development of benefit cost/(income) for period
Current service cost 29,369 10,107 986 1,880 6,561 48,903
Financial cost (net interest cost on defined benefit liability) 289,877 6,612 4,994 6,798 16,827 325,108
Expected return on plan assets (71,070) (1,709) (1,664) (1,592) (4,361) (80,396)
Benefit cost/(income) for period $248,176 $15,010 $4,316 $7,086 $19,027 $293,615

Estimated employer contributions $150,548 $2,916 $2,801 $2,782 $5,728 $164,775
Estimated employee current service contributions $157,646 $3,053 $3,209 $3,171 $6,828 $173,907
Estimated employee past service contributions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
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Plan Provisions
The University has reported that there were no plan changes since the last disclosure as of April 30, 
2019.
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Section 2. RELIANCE AND CERTIFICATION

The results of the last actuarial valuation as at June 30, 2017 were extrapolated to April 30, 2020 for 
purposes of determining the year-end disclosure position as at April 30, 2020 and the estimated 2021
benefit cost.

We have relied on the following in our calculations:

Item Provider

RHBP census data provided as at June 30, 2017 Julie Richer at Laurentian University

Plan provisions and confirmation of plan provisions at April 30, 2020 Julie Richer at Laurentian University

Other (i.e. employee and employer contribution levels, asset info, etc.)
at April 30, 2020

Julie Richer at Laurentian University

This report has been prepared exclusively for the University and their external auditors for accounting 
purposes only, and in accordance with CPA 3463. The valuation report may not be relied upon or be 
appropriate for other purposes.

A plan’s actual costs will depend on a number of factors, including the amount of benefits paid, the number of 
members covered for benefits, the amount of plan expenses and other external influences on the plan costs. 
These amounts are not known at the valuation date and are uncertain, but are expected to fall within a 
reasonable range of possibilities. To prepare this report, the selected actuarial assumptions produce one 
scenario from a range of possible scenarios. The results of the single scenario are summarized in this report. 
However, actual plan experience will differ from the assumptions used, and the differences may be material or 
significant. 

Another reasonable set of assumptions could have been selected and the results would have been different. 
As well, valuation assumptions are likely to change at each valuation due to plan changes, data or experience 
changes, legislated events or changed expectations about the future.

Data

For the April 30, 2020 disclosure calculations, results were extrapolated from the valuation as at June 30, 
2017, using membership data as of that date. The data was provided by the University for purposes of 
preparing our actuarial valuation, and was reviewed for consistency and sufficiency at that time.

The membership data is summarized in Section 7 of this report and confirmed by the University in Section 
10.
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Plan Provisions

The most recent RHBP valuation is based on plan provisions as at April 30, 2020, and was used to 
determine the expense and disclosure as at April 30, 2020. The plan provisions have been provided or 
confirmed by the University in Section 10, and the plan provisions are summarized in Section 9 of this
report. 

Methods and Assumptions

The actuarial valuation methods and assumptions of the University’s management that have been used in 
the determination of the expense and disclosure amounts for fiscal year ending April 30, 2020 are 
summarized in Section 8 of this report. 

The methods used in the valuations and extrapolations are the same as prior years.

The assumptions used in the RHBP valuation and extrapolation of results to April 30, 2020 are the same 
as those used to prepare the April 30, 2019 disclosures.

The subsidy rates have been updated to reflect the rates effective July 1, 2020, as provided by the 
University.

The resulting gains or losses that have arisen due to changes in assumptions are summarized in Section 
6 of this report.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has been evolving. At this time, we do not 
expect the long-term impact of COVID-19 on the liability to be material.

To the best of our knowledge and on the basis of discussions with the University, it is our understanding 
that there were no events which occurred between the disclosure date of April 30, 2020, and the date this 
report was completed which would have a material impact on the results of the valuation, extrapolation or 
the year-end disclosures at April 30, 2020.
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Statement of Actuarial Opinion

In our opinion,

the membership data on which the valuation and extrapolations are based is sufficient and 
reliable for the purpose of the valuation;

the preparers of the financial statements have selected the assumptions, and they are in 
accordance with accepted actuarial practice in Canada; and

the calculations have been made in accordance with my understanding of the requirements of 
CPA 3463.

The valuation properly reflects the effect of all events and changes which have occurred subsequent to 
the most recent actuarial valuation and that have been brought to our attention. Nonetheless, emerging 
experience differing from the assumptions used will result in gains or losses which will be revealed in 
future valuations.

This report has been prepared, and my opinion given, in accordance with accepted actuarial practice in 
Canada.

Respectfully submitted,

    

Steve Cheon, FCIA, FSA Scott Mossman, FCIA, FSA

June 16, 2020 June 16, 2020

Date Date
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Section 3. FISCAL 2020 - DISCLOSURE

CPA Disclosure Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thorneloe U of S RHBP Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Reconciliation of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start 1,627,354 32,026 37,455 35,561 116,595 1,848,991
Actual returns and other adjustments 100,310 1,943 2,308 2,191 7,185 113,937
Employer contributions 147,596 2,859 2,746 2,727 5,616 161,544
Employees' current service contributions 154,555 2,993 3,146 3,109 6,694 170,497
Employees' past service contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefit payments (261,062) 0 (4,575) (2,814) (24,495) (292,946)
Fair value of plan assets at end 1,768,753 39,821 41,080 40,774 111,595 2,002,023

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation at start 7,016,919 133,506 119,048 164,611 403,652 7,837,736
Employer current service cost 25,004 9,643 882 1,741 6,161 43,431
Employees' current service contributions 154,555 2,993 3,146 3,109 6,694 170,497
Employees' past service contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest on defined benefit obligation 282,194 5,846 4,824 6,629 16,314 315,807
Benefit payments (261,062) 0 (4,575) (2,814) (24,495) (292,946)
Past service costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial (gain) loss on defined benefit obligation (11,610) 221 (194) (4,429) 7,808 (8,204)
Defined benefit obligation at end 7,206,000 152,209 123,131 168,847 416,134 8,066,321

Recognition of remeasurements and other items
Difference between actual return and interest income on plan assets (35,752) (563) (799) (826) (2,606) (40,546)
Net actuarial loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation (11,610) 221 (194) (4,429) 7,808 (8,204)
Past service costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Remeasurements and other items reflected in Net Assets (47,362) (342) (993) (5,255) 5,202 (48,750)

Development of benefit cost/(income) for period
Current service cost 25,004 9,643 882 1,741 6,161 43,431
Financial cost (net interest cost on defined benefit obligation) 282,194 5,846 4,824 6,629 16,314 315,807
Expected return on plan assets (64,558) (1,380) (1,509) (1,365) (4,579) (73,391)
Benefit cost/(income) for period 242,640 14,109 4,197 7,005 17,896 285,847

Defined benefit asset/(liability)
Defined benefit asset/(liability) at start (5,389,565) (101,480) (81,593) (129,050) (287,057) (5,988,745)
Benefit (cost)/income for period (242,640) (14,109) (4,197) (7,005) (17,896) (285,847)
Employer contributions 147,596 2,859 2,746 2,727 5,616 161,544
Remeasurements and other items reflected in Net Assets 47,362 342 993 5,255 (5,202) 48,750
Defined benefit asset/(liability) at end (5,437,247) (112,388) (82,051) (128,073) (304,539) (6,064,298)

Reconciliation of funded status
Defined benefit obligation at end 7,206,000 152,209 123,131 168,847 416,134 8,066,321
Plan assets at fair value at end 1,768,753 39,821 41,080 40,774 111,595 2,002,023
Funded status (5,437,247) (112,388) (82,051) (128,073) (304,539) (6,064,298)
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Section 4. FISCAL 2021 – ESTIMATED BENEFIT COST

CPA Disclosure Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thorneloe U of S RHBP Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Reconciliation of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start 1,768,753 39,821 41,080 40,774 111,595 2,002,023
Actual returns and other adjustments 71,070 1,709 1,664 1,592 4,361 80,396
Employer contributions 150,548 2,916 2,801 2,782 5,728 164,775
Employees' current service contributions 157,646 3,053 3,209 3,171 6,828 173,907
Employees' past service contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefit payments (292,185) (154) (4,957) (7,879) (17,683) (322,858)
Fair value of plan assets at end $1,855,832 $47,345 $43,797 $40,440 $110,829 $2,098,243

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation at start 7,206,000 152,209 123,131 168,847 416,134 8,066,321
Employer current service cost 29,369 10,107 986 1,880 6,561 48,903
Employees' current service contributions 157,646 3,053 3,209 3,171 6,828 173,907
Employees' past service contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest on defined benefit obligation 289,877 6,612 4,994 6,798 16,827 325,108
Benefit payments (292,185) (154) (4,957) (7,879) (17,683) (322,858)
Past service costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Actuarial (gain) loss on defined benefit obligation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Defined benefit obligation at end $7,390,707 $171,827 $127,363 $172,817 $428,667 $8,291,381

Recognition of remeasurements and other items
Difference between actual return and interest income on plan assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net actuarial loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Past service costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Remeasurements and other items reflected in Net Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development of benefit cost/(income) for period
Current service cost 29,369 10,107 986 1,880 6,561 48,903
Financial cost (net interest cost on defined benefit obligation) 289,877 6,612 4,994 6,798 16,827 325,108
Expected return on plan assets (71,070) (1,709) (1,664) (1,592) (4,361) (80,396)
Benefit cost/(income) for period 248,176 15,010 4,316 7,086 19,027 293,615

Defined benefit asset/(liability)
Defined benefit asset/(liability) at start (5,437,247) (112,388) (82,051) (128,073) (304,539) (6,064,298)
Benefit (cost)/income for period (248,176) (15,010) (4,316) (7,086) (19,027) (293,615)
Employer contributions 150,548 2,916 2,801 2,782 5,728 164,775
Remeasurements and other items reflected in Net Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Defined benefit asset/(liability) at end (5,534,875) (124,482) (83,566) (132,377) (317,838) (6,193,138)

Reconciliation of funded status
Defined benefit obligation at end 7,390,707 171,827 127,363 172,817 428,667 8,291,381
Plan assets at fair value at end 1,855,832 47,345 43,797 40,440 110,829 2,098,243
Funded status (5,534,875) (124,482) (83,566) (132,377) (317,838) (6,193,138)
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Section 5. SUMMARY OF SENSITIVITY RESULTS

Sensitivity Results at April 30, 2020 Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thorneloe U of S RHBP Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Effect on current service cost and interest cost for period
Impact of 1% increase in CPI assumption 107,600 5,600 2,100 2,300 6,800 124,400
Impact of 1% decrease in CPI assumption (83,200) (4,200) (1,600) (1,800) (5,200) (96,000)

Effect on defined benefit obligation at year end
Impact of 1% increase in CPI assumption 1,374,300 43,200 24,400 28,700 78,900 1,549,500
Impact of 1% decrease in CPI assumption (1,100,900) (32,800) (19,400) (23,500) (63,500) (1,240,100)
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Section 6. RECONCILIATION OF THE ACTUARIAL GAINS/LOSSES

Fiscal 2020 Laurentian SNOI Huntington Thorneloe U of S RHBP Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Sources of actuarial (gains)/losses in the period

(Gain)/Loss from expected benefit payments different from actual (22,182) 0 (375) (4,673) 7,194 (20,036)

(Gain)/Loss from updated subsidy rates 10,572 221 181 244 614 11,832

Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total actuarial (gain)/loss in period ($11,610) $221 ($194) ($4,429) $7,808 ($8,204)
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Section 7. MEMBERSHIP DATA

All information on the membership data was provided by Laurentian University. The membership data 
used in the valuations and extrapolations were compiled as at June 30, 2017.

We subjected this data to a number of tests for reasonableness and consistency, including the following: 
a member’s (and spouse’s, if applicable) age is within a reasonable range;
given age, rendered service was reasonable;
membership statistics for the most recent valuation compared to membership statistics as at last 
valuation appeared reasonable;
checked for duplicate records; and
missing or inconsistent information was verified by the client.

A reconciliation of the change in membership from June 30, 2014 to June 30, 2017 is summarized as 
follows: 

Total Total

Laurentian Thornloe Huntington SNOI U of S Laurentian Thornloe Huntington U of S

Number at June 30, 2014 795 13 16 27 40 891 277 7 6 21 311

New Entrants 87 1 3 13 10 114 0
Termination (52) 0 (3) (1) (4) (60) 0
Retirement (with benefits) (51) (1) (1) (2) (55) 51 1 1 2 55
Retirement (without benefits) (9) (1) (10) 0
Death (with survivor) (4) (4) 4 0
Death (without survivor) (1) (1) (18) (1) (1) (19)
Survivors benefit ended 0 (4) 0
ER Change 1 (1) 0 0
Data correction (1) (1) 1 1 1
Number at June 30, 2017 765 13 15 39 42 874 311 9 6 22 348

Actives Retirees & Survivors
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Membership Data – Actives as at June 30, 2017

Age/Service Distribution

Average Age 49.54
Average Service 10.63

Membership Data – Retirees as at June 30, 2017

Age Distribution

Average Age 75.20

Distribution by Coverage Type

*For eligible members who have not yet claimed

Age 0-10 10-20 20-30 30-40 40-50  Total

20-25 3 3

25-30 40 40
30-35 58 1 59
35-40 66 10 76
40-45 79 51 130
45-50 46 55 2 103
50-55 55 107 4 166
55-60 37 96 4 137
60-65 23 76 3 5 107
65-70 4 27 1 32
70-75 16 1 1 18
75-80 3 3
 Total 411 442 15 5 1 874

Years of Completed Service

Age Count

50-55 1
55-60 3
60-65 30
65-70 75
70-75 74
75-80 76
80-85 39
85-90 30
90-95 15
95-100 3
100-105 1
105-110 1
Total 348

Coverage
Number of 

Members
Single 69
Family 184

Nil* 95

Total 348
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Section 8. VALUATION METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

The assumptions used in the disclosure as of April 30, 2020, compared to those used as of April 30, 2019,
are summarized as follows:

Actuarial Assumptions

According to Section 3463 of the CPA Handbook, the assumptions used to compute the defined benefit 
obligation should be management’s best estimate, aside from the selection of the discount rate.

RHBP Actuarial Assumptions 

Discount rate

Expected Return on Assets
Inflation Rate (increase in 
Consumer Price Index)

Age Males Females
25 0.2240 0.2670
35 0.0600 0.0720
45 0.0432 0.0525
55 0.0000 0.0000

Age Faculty Staff
55-59 0.00 0.00
60-61 0.00 0.00

62 0.10 0.25
63 0.05 0.25
64 0.05 0.25
65 0.50 0.50
66 0.25 0.50
67 0.25 1.00
68 0.25 1.00
69 0.25 1.00
70 0.50 1.00
71 1.00 1.00

Percentage of members electing 
family coverage at retirement

Percentage of contributing active 
employees who will participate in 
the RHBP in retirement

Percentage of subsidy claimed

April 30, 2020 April 30, 2019

CPM-2014 Public Sector Mortality

with CIA Scale CPM-B - 105% Females, 115% Males
Mortality Rates

Termination Rates

4.0% per annum

4.0% per annum

2.0% per annum

80%

Retirement Rates

100%

Retired prior to or on July 1, 1998: 50%
Retired post-July 1, 1998: 60%
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Economic Assumptions

A discount rate of 4.0% per annum was used, which represents the expected long-term rate of return for 
the RHBP assets. This is unchanged from the prior disclosure. The expected rate of return was provided 
by the University. 

As provided by the University, a 4.0% rate of return on assets per annum is assumed for the assets 
supporting the RHBP, and is unchanged from the prior disclosure.

The increase in Consumer Price Index is assumed to be 2.0% per annum, which is unchanged from the 
prior disclosure. This is the indexing assumption used to estimate future RHBP subsidy amounts. 

The purpose of an accounting valuation is to report the financial position of the plan on a best-estimate 
basis, and for this reason, provisions for adverse deviations were not included in the valuation
assumptions since doing so would result in a more conservative financial position.

Demographic Assumptions

Most of the demographic assumptions (e.g. mortality and termination) used for this valuation were based 
on standard population tables instead of the plan’s experience, due to the limited statistical volume of 
data available and to be consistent with the assumptions used for the University’s pension plan valuation.

For mortality, the CPM-2014 Public Sector Mortality Table (adjusted 115% male/105% female) with 
generational projection using Scale CPM-B was used.

The main demographic assumptions concern the percent of members electing family coverage at 
retirement, member participation in the RHBP and the expected future claiming patterns of retirees 
eligible to make claims against the RHBP (but who have not done so to date).

The claiming assumptions for the subsidy amount are single percentage amounts that apply to the whole 
population, including retirees eligible to make claims against the RHBP but who have not done so. Based 
on historical experience, the percentage of the maximum subsidy amount claimed is assumed to be 50% 
for those retired on or before July 1, 1998, and 60% for those retired after this date. 
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The maximum subsidy benefits are as follows:

Maximum Subsidy 
Benefit 

Effective July 1, 2020: Effective July 1, 2019:
LUSU members LUSU members

Single coverage:  $   687.45 per year Single coverage:  $   672.99 per year 

Family coverage:  $1,374.87 per year
Family coverage:  $1,345.93 per year

GRANTS members GRANTS members

Single coverage:  $   817.52 per year Single coverage:  $   800.31 per year

Family coverage:  $1,374.87 per year
Family coverage:  $1,345.93 per year

LUFA, LUAPSA, EXECUTIVE, US, HU, 
TU members

LUFA, LUAPSA, EXECUTIVE, US, HU, 
TU members

Single coverage:  $   978.17 per year Single coverage:  $   957.58 per year

Family coverage:  $1,589.53 per year Family coverage:  $1,556.07 per year

Actuarial Cost Method

The benefit obligations shown in this report are computed using the Projected Unit Credit Method as 
prescribed in the CPA Handbook. The present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) is calculated 
under this method as an equal portion of the total estimated future benefit attributed to each year of 
service up to the attainment of “full eligibility” – as defined below. The DBO represents the portion of the 
total future benefit attributable to service rendered to date. The current service cost represents the portion 
of the future benefit deemed to accrue in the year. That is, 

For active members who have reached full eligibility, retirees and their spouses, or surviving 
spouses, the DBO is the present value of future projected benefits. For these members, the 
current service cost is nil. 
For each active member who has not reached full eligibility, the DBO is the present value of 
future projected benefits multiplied by the ratio of service to date to total expected service at full 
eligibility. For these members, the current service cost is the present value of future projected 
benefits divided by the total expected service at full eligibility. 

The plan’s current service cost is the sum of the individual current service costs of all plan members; the 
plan’s DBO is the sum of the individual DBO of all plan members. 

Full eligibility is determined as the earliest date at which the member reaches age 55 with 15 or more 
years of contributions to the plan

Amortization Method

Under CPA 3463, actuarial gains and losses are recognized as a charge to the Net Assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position in the year they arise. Any past service costs from plan amendments will 
also be reflected as a charge to the Net Assets in the year they arise. 

Assets

The trust account is held by the University to reimburse retiree health benefit premiums and qualifying 
medical expenses. The market value of the fund is used in the accounting results.
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Section 9. SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS

The following is a summary of the plan provisions pertinent to this valuation.

Effective Date

The RHBP was implemented in January 1999 retroactive to July 1, 1998. The plan provides 
reimbursement for retiree health benefit premiums for private medical insurance or qualifying medical 
expenses, subject to a maximum yearly reimbursement.

Eligibility

Former employees who retired before July 1, 1998 are automatically eligible for benefits. Employees 
hired before July 1, 1998 are eligible for benefits if they retire at age 55 or older and have contributed to 
the plan during the entire period since July 1, 1998. 

Employees hired on or after July 1, 1998 are eligible for benefits if they retire at age 55 or older and have 
contributed to the plan for at least 15 years. 

Employees do not receive any benefits under the RHBP if they terminate their employment, die or retire 
without meeting the above criteria.

All employees are eligible to participate in the RHBP, however, grant-funded and term employees may 
opt out.

Indexing

The yearly maximum subsidy payment, employee cost and employer contributions are indexed annually 
by the lesser of the average increase in the Consumer Price Index and 2%.

Benefit Duration

Benefits are payable for the life of the retiree. On the death of a retiree who had family coverage, benefits 
to the retiree’s spouse or dependants continue for two years from the date of death.

History of Plan Amendments

On several occasions, the maximum yearly reimbursement was increased over and above the average 
increase in the Consumer Price Index.

Effective July 1, 2002, the maximum reimbursement was increased by the average CPI plus an
additional 7.6% resulting from the demutualization proceeds that arose from policies issued by
Sun Life and held by the University. The maximum reimbursement was further increased ($400
for single, $800 for family) as a result of negotiations between the University and the Laurentian
University Faculty Association (LUFA).

In order to fund the enhanced maximum yearly reimbursement resulting from the negotiations in
2002, the University agreed to contribute an additional $30,000 per year for the 10 years following
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July 1, 2002. Annual contributions from the University and Federated Colleges averaged $98,800 
over the period July 1, 1999 to June 30, 2002 and totaled $296,500 over the three-year period.

Effective July 1, 2005, the annual single and family maximum reimbursement amounts were 
increased by $200 as a result of negotiations between the University and LUFA. This increase 
applied to employees in all groups with the exception of employees represented by the 
Laurentian University Staff Union (LUSU).

Effective July 1, 2006, the annual single maximum reimbursement amount was increased by 
$100 and the annual family maximum reimbursement amount was increased by $200. This 
increase was a result of a collective agreement and applied to LUSU employees only. 

Effective July 1, 2008, the annual maximum reimbursement amount was increased to $800 for 
single members and $1,300 for family members as a result of negotiations between the University 
and LUFA. This increase applied to employees of LUFA, Laurentian University Administrative and
Professional Staff Association (LUAPSA), University of Sudbury (US), Huntington University (HU) 
and executives.

In order to fund the enhanced maximum yearly reimbursement effective July 1, 2008, employees 
provided with the enhancement are contributing an additional $60 per year, covering roughly 40% 
of the cost of the increase.

Effective January 1, 2018, the annual maximum reimbursement amount was changed for 
Thorneloe University (TU) members to be the same as employees of LUFA, LUAPSA, US, HU 
and executives.

Employee Contribution Rates

The employee contribution rates are as follows:

Employee Contribution 
Rates

Effective July 1, 2020: Effective July 1, 2019:
LUSU members LUSU members

Single coverage:  $78.08 per year Single coverage:  $76.44 per year

Family coverage:  $156.17 per year Family coverage:  $152.88 per year

GRANTS members GRANTS members

Single coverage:  $156.17 per year Single coverage:  $152.88 per year

Family coverage:  $156.17 per year Family coverage:  $152.88 per year

LUFA, LUAPSA, EXECUTIVE, US, HU, 
TU members

LUFA, LUAPSA, EXECUTIVE, US, HU, 
TU members

Single coverage:  $229.53 per year Single coverage:  $224.70 per year

Family coverage:  $229.53 per year Family coverage:  $224.70 per year
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Section 10. EMPLOYER CERTIFICATE

With respect to the non-pension post-retirement benefit expense and disclosure for the fiscal year ending
April 30, 2020 under CPA 3463 for Laurentian University's RHBP, I hereby certify that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief:

The membership data provided to the actuary provides a complete and accurate description of all 
persons who are entitled to benefits under the terms of the plan for service up to the date of the last 
valuation as of June 30, 2017 and remains appropriate for the extrapolation to April 30, 2020; 

A copy of the plan documents and of all amendments made up to April 30, 2020 were supplied to the 
actuary;

All substantive commitments have been communicated to the actuary;

The actuarial methods used for the purposes of the valuation are those described in this report;

Management's best-estimate assumptions for purposes of the valuation of the plan and the 
extrapolation of the financial position of the plan as of the fiscal year-end April 30, 2020 are those 
described in this report; and

All events subsequent to the valuation that may have an impact on the results of the valuation have 
been communicated to the actuary.

  
Signed Name

  
Title Date

Normand Lavallee

AVP, Financial Services June 16, 2020
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I, Dr. Robert Haché, of the City of Sudbury, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH 

AND SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. I am the President and Vice-Chancellor of Laurentian University of Sudbury (“LU” or the 

“Applicant”) and a member of the Board of Governors (the “Board”) of LU, having served 

in this role since July 2019. 

2. Prior to joining LU in July 2019, I was the Vice-President of Research and Innovation at 

York University and prior to that, the Associate Vice-President of Research at the 

University of Calgary and the Vice Dean of Research for the Faculty of Medicine at the 

University of Ottawa.  I have been involved in leadership positions at post-secondary 

institutions for over 15 years and have extensive experience in the operational, academic 

and research arms of such institutions. 

3. As President and Vice-Chancellor, I am the chief executive officer (CEO) of LU.  I am the 

chair of the Senate and have supervision over and direction of the academic work and 

general administration of LU, including the faculty staff, students, and officers and 

employees of LU.  Further, I am a voting member of the Board, subject to certain limited 

exceptions. Generally speaking, I am the public face of LU.  For example, I am involved 

in coordination with the Government of Ontario, the Federated Universities (as defined 

below) communications with students, including the student associations and, at a high 

level, the Unions (as defined below).  Where I do not have direct communications, I rely 

on a team comprised of, among others, the Provost and VP Academic, AVP Human 

Resources & Organizational Development, VP Research, VP Administration, AVP 

25TAB 2 124



- 4 -

Financial Services, Chief Advancement Officer, the Executive Director of 

Communications, Marketing and Governmental Relations, and the University Secretary 

and the General Counsel of LU (collectively, the “Internal Team”). 

4. As such, I have knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to, save where I have 

obtained information from others.  Where I have obtained information from others, I have 

stated the source of the information and believe it to be true.   

5. In preparing this affidavit, I have relied upon the financial information in this affidavit has 

been provided to me by the VP Administration who is accountable for, and has 

responsibility over, LU’s Finance department. This is the best information available to me 

through the VP Administration, the Finance department and the books and records of LU 

as of the date of swearing.  LU has experienced a number of challenges with the limited 

team and resources in the Finance department, and such difficulties are made even more 

pronounced with the additional demands placed on their time in connection with the 

preparation for this CCAA proceeding. 

6. This affidavit is sworn in support of LU’s application for an Order (the “Initial Order”), 

among other things, commencing proceedings under the Companies’ Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”), and appointing Ernst 

& Young Inc. (“EY”) as the court-appointed monitor of the Applicant (in such capacity, 

the “Proposed Monitor”) in the CCAA proceeding, to facilitate the restructuring of the 

Applicant for the benefit of its stakeholders.  

7. All monetary amounts referred to in this Affidavit are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 

noted. 
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II. THE PRESSING NEED FOR RELIEF 

8. LU has experienced recurring operational deficits in the millions of dollars each year for a 

significant period of time.1  These operational deficits have led to the accumulated deficit 

in the operational fund of LU increasing from approximately $8.2 million in FY 2014-15 

to approximately $20 million per year in FY 2019-20. 

9. In the current 2020-21 fiscal year, LU projects a further operational deficit of $5.6 million.  

This is notwithstanding previous efforts implemented by the Internal Team and, previously, 

the budget committee (which was comprised of members of the Internal Team, among 

other academic and non-academic senior leaders) at LU to review and identify areas where 

LU could reduce its annual expenses and grow revenue.  In the years preceding this 

application, LU has: 

(a) reduced its non-faculty workforce from approximately 429 to 409 and faculty 

workforce (excluding the Barrie campus closure) from approximately 358 to 344 

at that time; 

(b) deferred the hiring of faculty and non-faculty positions; 

(c) negotiated with LUSU (as defined below) to forego their employee salary increases; 

(d) approved a pay freeze and reduced the salaries of its non-unionized, including 

managerial, employees; 

1 In fiscal year 2017-18, LU reported an operational surplus of approximately $2 million due to certain positive one-
time financial realizations by LU.  This fiscal year was an anomaly. 
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(e) approved a pay freeze and reduced the salaries of certain members of the Internal 

Team2; and 

(f) re-negotiated the funding model with the Federated Universities (as defined below). 

10. Nonetheless, these efforts are not enough.  LU is insolvent and absent the relief sought in 

the Initial Order, will run out of cash to meet payroll in February.  The financial challenges 

that LU faces are significant and, absent fundamental change, LU’s short-term and long-

term financial and operational sustainability are at risk. The COVID-19 pandemic has only 

exacerbated these issues. 

11. One significant source of financial challenge are the terms of LU’s collective agreement 

with Laurentian University Faculty Association (“LUFA”), which is addressed in this 

affidavit.  This financial issue is exacerbated by the labour relationship between LU and 

LUFA (there was a strike in 2017 during bargaining of the LUFA CA) stemming from 

decisions made in the past at LU and which remains challenging.  For example, there are 

approximately 102 active grievances that have been filed by LUFA dating back to 2017.  I 

am advised by LU’s external employment and labour counsel Michael Kennedy of Hicks 

Morley LLP that this volume of grievances is significantly higher than volumes seen at 

other Ontario universities. 

12. Operationally, the academic programming offered by LU is not sustainable in its current 

form and must be addressed.  LU offers 132 undergraduate programs and 43 graduate 

2 Some members of the Internal Team are considered ‘designated executives’ under the Broader Public Sector 
Executive Compensation Act, 2014.  The salary for the position of President and Vice-Chancellor of LU has 
remained unchanged since 2009. 
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programs.  Approximately 25% of students are enrolled in the top five programs, 

approximately 62% are enrolled in the top 25 programs and 83% are enrolled in the top 50 

programs. 

13. When considering individual courses (each program offers multiple courses), the issues are 

magnified.  Of the 1,902 courses offered by LU in the Winter 2021 semester: 

(a) 162 courses (8%) have five students or fewer enrolled; 

(b) 180 courses (9%) have between six to ten students enrolled; 

(c) 1,018 courses (53%) have between eleven to fourteen students enrolled; and 

(d) 568 courses (30%) have fifteen or more students enrolled. 

14. Notwithstanding the number of students enrolled in a course, LU must employ a faculty 

member to instruct that course.  A significant number of courses have ten or fewer students 

enrolled, and a majority of courses have fourteen or fewer students enrolled.  For context, 

average first-year and second-year class sizes at Canadian universities range from 23.1 

(Moncton) to 127.4 (McMaster).  Average upper year class sizes at Canadian universities 

range from 13.8 (Brandon) to 51.8 (McMaster).3

15. Low enrolment in courses causes such courses to be financially unsustainable.  The cost of 

offering such courses greatly exceeds the grant and tuition revenue received by LU for 

those courses. 

3 Source: The average undergraduate class size at Canadian universities, 2017, Maclean’s Canada: 
https://www.macleans.ca/education/the-average-undergraduate-class-size-at-canadian-universities.  
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16. Within the current structure, it costs more for LU and the Federated Universities to educate 

each student per year when compared to the average cost across all other Ontario 

universities.  Based on data retrieved from Council of Ontario Finance Officers, it costs 

LU and the Federated Universities approximately $2,000 more to educate its students per 

year than the Provincial average across all universities. 

17. Historical efforts to address LU’s program offerings have been unsuccessful.  For example, 

LUFA has challenged the July 2020 decision by the Provost and VP Academic of LU to 

temporarily suspend admissions to 17 academic programs with low enrolment.  This is 

currently the subject of a pending judicial review, which proceeding will be stayed if this 

application is granted.  

18. LU seeks to commence proceedings under the CCAA in order to provide it with a platform 

to financially and operationally restructure itself in order to emerge as a sustainable and 

long-term financially viable institution. The commencement of a CCAA proceeding to 

address these significant issues represents the only realistic path forward for the university 

at this time. 

19. It is in the interest of public policy, as well as current and future students, faculty, staff, 

retirees, the Greater Sudbury community and the Northern Ontario region generally, to 

provide LU with the breathing room and platform of a court-supervised proceeding with 

the oversight and assistance of a Monitor, in order for it to restructure. I believe that 

supporting a successful restructuring is consistent with the Ontario Legislature’s public 

policy objective of providing accessible (financially and geographically) higher education 

to Ontarians. 
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20. LU has made every effort over the last several years to support its students and provide the 

best academic and student experience possible.  Such efforts will continue following the 

commencement of these proceedings.  However, LU must take steps to ensure its long-

term sustainability.  LU requires financial assistance and the breathing room afforded by 

CCAA protection to effect an overall restructuring and to safeguard against significant 

changes to its operations and a corresponding decline in student experience which would 

likely result if this is not undertaken through a coordinated, transparent and efficient court-

supervised process.  A successful restructuring of LU will necessarily involve its federated 

universities: Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of Sudbury 

(collectively, the “Federated Universities”), as described below. 

III. OVERVIEW OF THE APPLICANT 

A. Background and Corporate Structure 

21. On March 28, 1960, LU was incorporated pursuant to An Act to Incorporate Laurentian 

University of Sudbury, S.O. 1960, c. 151 C. 154 (the “Act”). A copy of the Act is attached 

as Exhibit “A” hereto.  

22. LU is a non-share capital corporation governed by the Board.  The Bylaws provide that the 

Board is to be comprised of 25 voting members.  Currently, there are four vacancies and 

only 21 current voting members (of which I am one) and 9 non-voting members for a total 

of 30 members.  The constitution of the Board is pursuant to the General Bylaws of the 

Board (the “Bylaws”) and requires representation from various stakeholder groups of LU, 

as described more fully in paragraph 101.  Attached as Exhibit “B” is a copy of the 

corporate profile report for LU obtained from the Ministry of Government and Consumer 

Services. 
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23. LU is a registered charity pursuant to the Income Tax Act.  Its charitable registration number 

is 119009686RR0001. For all charitable contributions and donations received by LU, LU 

issues a tax receipt to the donor. LU’s charitable fundraising is an essential component of 

various programs and services that LU provides to its students. 

24. LU has operated in Sudbury, Ontario since its incorporation as a publicly-funded, bilingual 

postsecondary institution.  At one time, LU operated a satellite campus in Barrie, Ontario 

which closed operations entirely in 2019. 

25. As further discussed below, LU has a federated school structure whereby it has formal 

affiliations with several independent universities under the overall LU umbrella: the 

University of Sudbury (“SU”), the University of Thorneloe (“Thorneloe”) and Huntington 

University (“Huntington”).  

26. Since inception, LU strives to provide quality higher education to the community of 

Sudbury and Northern Ontario at large. LU has rapidly grown its reputation as a leading 

university for Northern Ontario, with increasing international recognition and strong 

national, provincial and regional impact. The innovative programs that LU offers have been 

a significant factor in LU’s growth and success. 

27. LU is considered an “access university”, since over 50% of the student population is 

comprised of first-generation postsecondary students (those whose parents did not attend 

university) and over 12% of the student population self-identifies as Indigenous. 

28. LU is an integral part of the economic fabric of Northern Ontario and serves as the primary 

postsecondary institution for a large geographic region.  The City of Greater Sudbury has 

32TAB 2 131



- 11 -

a population of approximately 165,000.  Northern Ontario communities depend on LU to 

educate a local workforce of professionals in a wide array of disciplines, which assists with 

keeping these communities competitive and thriving.  It is not uncommon for LU students 

from outside the region to decide to reside in Northern Ontario after graduation. 

29. LU is consistently one of the largest employers in Sudbury.  If LU ceased to operate, there 

would be a profound economic impact on the City of Greater Sudbury as many employees 

would lose their livelihood and, in some cases, that may cause such persons to move out 

of the region. 

B. Students and Academic Programming 

30. LU’s mission is to provide the best possible academic and social experience to its students.  

LU recognizes that its students are the lifeblood of the organization and while this 

restructuring will touch on a significant number of financial and operational aspects of LU, 

the primary goal of the restructuring is to ensure that current and future students will 

continue to have access to a high quality post-secondary education at LU for years to come. 

31. Academically, LU’s programs result in success for its graduates.  LU provides some of the 

best outcomes for students in Ontario, including the highest post-graduation employment 

rate in Ontario after both six months (94.3%) and two years (97.4%), as well as strong 

salary outcomes.4

32. This application is made with a view to protecting and preserving the student experience 

at LU.  I am committed to ensuring that the organization takes every step necessary to 

4 Source: Ontario University Graduate Survey, conducted in 2018-2019 with students who graduated in 2016. 
Available online at: http://www.iaccess.gov.on.ca/OsapRatesWeb/enterapp/home.xhtml.  
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ensure that the student experience is uninterrupted during this restructuring.  That will 

allow our students to focus on what they are at LU for – learning and growing as 

individuals, within a community of fellow students.  While the restructuring will be a 

central priority of the Board and Internal Team, it is our intention that student education 

and experience will not be impacted or disrupted. 

i. Undergraduate Programming 

33. LU primarily focuses on undergraduate programming, with approximately 8,200 total 

domestic and international undergraduate students (approximately 6,250 full-time 

equivalents) enrolled in the 2020-21 fall semester. 

34. LU students may choose to combine program offerings for a multidisciplinary and well-

rounded experience. To prepare LU students for the workforce, there are several programs 

offering hands-on experience, field work and co-op placements such as the Commerce and 

Engineering programs offered at LU. 

35. LU has five undergraduate faculties: 

(a) Faculty of Arts; 

(b) Faculty of Education; 

(c) Faculty of Health; 

(d) Faculty of Management; and 

(e) the Faculty of Science, Engineering and Architecture. 

36. Within these faculties, students can choose from approximately 132 undergraduate 

programs to enroll in.  Each faculty offers English and French programs and the Faculty of 
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Science, Engineering and Architecture offers a bilingual Bachelor of Engineering program 

designed to be responsive to the Francophone population at LU. 

37. As part of its bilingual mandate, LU offers its students the opportunity to obtain a 

Certificate of Bilingualism, which is awarded to students who earn a minimum of 15 credits 

in courses offered in English or French (whichever is not their primary language of study).  

In a world where fluency in more than one language is increasingly desirable, this 

Certificate is a valuable offering for LU students in their career progression and the 

Certificate provides a competitive edge in the workforce. 

38. LU has a consistent track record of providing an accessible and enhanced academic 

experience for Indigenous students. Key to this initiative is the Indigenous Student Affairs 

team, which strives to ensure a positive learning environment in a manner consistent with 

the Indigenous worldview. This team nurtures a learning environment supportive of the 

academic, spiritual, physical and emotional well-being of the First Nations, Metis, and Inuit 

student body.   

ii. Graduate Programming 

39. LU also has a strong graduate program, with approximately 1,100 total domestic and 

international graduate students (approximately 830 full-time equivalents) enrolled during 

the 2020-21 fall semester. 

40. Graduate studies are administered through the Faculty of Graduate Studies. 

41. LU offers over 40 Masters and Ph.D degrees, including, among others: (i) Ph.D in Rural 

and Northern Health; (ii) Ph.D in Mineral Deposits and Precambrian Geology; (iii) Ph.D 

in Boreal Ecology; (iv) Ph.D in Biomolecular Sciences; (v) Ph.D in Materials Sciences; 
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(vi) Sciences humaines et interdisciplinarité (Ph.D) (French); (vii) Masters in Indigenous 

Relations; (viii) Masters in Science Communication; (ix) Masters in Forensic Science; and 

(x) Masters in Business Administration. 

42. As part of their degree requirements, graduate students are required to complete research 

or scholarly activities.  Depending on the degree, this research can take place on campus 

in specified labs, with one of LU’s sixteen research centres, in the field in collaboration 

with industry and/or community partners, or in a clinical placement. Faculty supervise 

graduate students and, in many cases, fund the student’s research projects through grants 

they apply for and receive from external sources including, but not limited to, government, 

industry and community partners. 

iii. Northern Ontario School of Medicine 

43. Through agreement between LU and Lakehead University (located in Thunder Bay, 

Ontario), the Northern Ontario School of Medicine (“NOSM”) opened in 2005.  NOSM is 

an independent not-for-profit non-share corporation which serves as the faculty of 

medicine for both LU and Lakehead University.  LU and Lakehead University are the two 

members of NOSM and representatives from both organizations, among others, are on the 

Board of Directors of NOSM.  I am the current Chair of NOSM.   A copy of the Corporation 

Profile Report for NOSM is attached as Exhibit “C”. 

44. NOSM provides training in more than 90 communities across a geographic expanse of 

800,000 square kilometers and was established with a mandate to improve the health of the 

people in Northern Ontario.  The medical school is mandated both to educate doctors and 

to contribute to health care in Northern Ontario’s rural, urban, and remote communities. 
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45. NOSM has campuses located in Sudbury and Thunder Bay. LU owns the two buildings 

NOSM occupies on the Sudbury campus: the Health Sciences Education Resource Centre 

and the Medical School Building, which are leased to NOSM. A copy of the lease with 

respect to the Medical School Building is attached as Exhibit “D” and a copy of the 

amendment to the lease which added the Health Sciences Education Resource Centre to 

the demised premises is attached as Exhibit “E”.

46. The medical school has approximately 461 students enrolled in the 2020-21 academic year 

across the medical doctor (MD) program, residency, the dietetic internship program and 

the Masters in Medical Studies (MMS) graduate program. 

47. NOSM employs approximately 21 full-time faculty and has approximately 1,776 part-time 

stipendiary faculty.  As a result of the nature of NOSM’s learning model, many of the 

clinical stipendiary faculty are situated in more than 90 teaching sites across Northern 

Ontario and provide a clinical learning experience to the students of NOSM. 

48. Pursuant to a Relationship Agreement dated December 18, 2018 (the “Relationship 

Agreement”), LU and Lakehead University each agreed to provide certain support services 

and faculty to NOSM.  Both LU and Lakehead provide facilities and support services, 

student registration and student fee collection, scholarship receipt and disbursement, and 

other educational, research and operational services.  

49. NOSM and LU entered into a subsequent agreement as a schedule to the Relationship 

Agreement which governs the collection and accounting of tuition and incidental fees for 

the 2020/2021 academic year. As part of this agreement, LU provides collection and 

accounting services for NOSM at a fee of $250 per NOSM student enrolled at the Sudbury 
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campus.  A copy of the Relationship Agreement and its schedules are attached hereto as 

Exhibit “F”. 

50. Certain NOSM students pay their fees to LU and those funds are deposited into LU’s 

general operating account with all other student fees.  LU provides monthly outstanding 

balance reports for NOSM students to NOSM and issues the relevant tax forms directly to 

NOSM students.  LU also provides bursaries to NOSM students and LU is reimbursed 

directly by NOSM for such payments.  These funds flow through LU’s main operating 

account. 

51. Although NOSM was formed by agreement between LU and Lakehead University, NOSM 

is legally, financially and operationally independent from LU, save and except for the 

aforementioned services provided by LU and the holding of endowment funds by LU from 

third parties designated for NOSM.  NOSM faculty and staff have separate unions and the 

NOSM pension plan and benefits packages are separate from the LU programs.  NOSM 

receives its government support directly from the Province of Ontario (the “Province”). 

52. Approximately $14 million of the $53 million in endowment funds currently held by LU 

are funds that are in respect of donations or gifts from third parties for NOSM, rather than 

LU.  As will be described in greater detail below, due to the unique nature of endowment 

funds to a post-secondary organization, LU proposes that such funds continue to be held 

and available only for their designated and intended purpose (that is, to fund scholarships 

to qualifying students). 
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53. Other than any ancillary reputational impact as a result of LU’s insolvency, LU anticipates 

that NOSM and its students will be largely unaffected by the commencement of these 

proceedings. 

C. Research and Scholarly Activity 

54. LU places considerable emphasis on its research and enjoys the reputation of being a 

leading undergraduate university in Canada for research and scholarly activity.  In the most 

recent rankings from Research InfoSource, LU ranked first in sponsored research income 

in the undergraduate university category in Canada with $39.4 million. The average 

sponsored research income of similar undergraduate universities is $17.4 million.5

55. Sponsored research income includes all funds to support research received in the form of 

a grant, award, contribution or contract from external sources.  As discussed further below, 

LU carries significant obligations in respect of deferred contribution amounts on its balance 

sheet, which, among other things, represent sponsored research funds that have been 

received by LU in advance of the related expenses being incurred. These amounts include 

research grant funding which has not yet been allocated towards the designated research 

activities.  A few notable projects currently funded at LU through sponsored income are: 

(a) Metal Earth, which is funded through the federal government’s Canada First 

Research Excellence Fund (“CFREF”).  This program has received over $80 

million in in-kind funding from industry partners to date, and the federal 

government has committed $49 million in cash contributions over a seven-year 

5 Source: https://researchinfosource.com/pdf/Top50List2020MainMetrics_Undergraduate.pdf  
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period, with approximately $17 million committed between March 1, 2021 and 

March 1, 2023.  

(b) LU is scheduled to receive $3.7 million in funding over seven years from the 

McDonald Institute as an institutional partner in the CFREF project for astroparticle 

physics research. 

(c) Listening to Children’s Voices, which promotes Indigenous mental wellness, is 

funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research in the amount of $1.4 million 

over 5 years. 

(d) Neurodegeneration in Aging is scheduled to receive approximately $2 million over 

five years from the Baycrest Centre for Geriatric Care; and 

(e) the Canadian Foundation for Innovation has provided $200,000 to support the 

purchase of infrastructure for COVID-19 research. 

56. Laurentian University has 14 Senate-approved research centres and two affiliated research 

centres (SNOLab and MIRARCO, as defined and discussed below).  The majority of 

sponsored research is completed by faculty and students affiliated with a Senate-approved 

research centre.  These include research centres that carry out research on social justice and 

policy, rural and Northern Ontario health, ecology and ethical conservation, occupational 

safety, the Franco-Ontarian population, children’s health and Indigenous issues. 

57. Pursuant to the collective agreement with LUFA, full-time faculty are generally required 

to spend approximately 40% of their time during the academic year on scholarly activity, 

which includes commitments to external granting agencies and research funded by private 

research contracts. 
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58. To support research and scholarly activity, the LUFA collective agreement provides that 

LU is required to set aside $160,000 each year for the Laurentian University Research Fund 

(“LURF”) and provide an additional $20,000 per year to support the research activities of 

retired faculty members.  The Director of the Office of Research Services, under the 

supervision of the Vice-President Research, holds an open competition for LURF funding 

annually. LU’s past practice has been to roll over any LURF funds not awarded in a given 

calendar year into the next year’s open funding competition.  However, this funding has 

not been set aside in a separate account and instead has only been allocated in the internal 

general ledger of LU.  Historically, any LURF funds awarded to retired faculty members 

have been paid out of the general operating account of LU.  As a result of its liquidity crisis, 

LU does not have the funds to continue with the LURF program. 

59. External grants obtained by faculty are a significant source of funding used to support 

student research (including stipends for graduate students), employment for students and 

direct costs related to completing research activities. Funding programs administered by 

the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, Social Sciences and Humanities 

Research Council, and Canadian Institutes of Health Research (collectively, the “Tri-

Agencies”) are examples of grants held by faculty members to support their research 

programs, which create opportunities for students to develop their research skills and 

knowledge in a particular field. 

60. LU’s research programming is critical for many LU students. As discussed above, graduate 

students are required to complete research/scholarly activities and many undergraduate 

programs have a research component as part of their degree requirements. This necessarily 
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requires access to research facilities, equipment, services, and library materials to support 

graduate and undergraduate programming. 

D. Federated Universities 

61. LU and the Federated Universities are affiliated through a variety of historical relationships 

and contractual arrangements.  Each of the Federated Universities are separate legal entities 

and are governed by Boards that are independent of LU. 

62. Each of the Federated Universities owns its own buildings on land that is owned by LU 

and is leased to the Federated University by LU. The Federated Universities do not receive 

funding directly from the Ministry of Colleges and Universities (“MCU”), but historically, 

LU has transferred a portion of the funding it receives from the MCU to each Federated 

University according to a set formula, unless otherwise instructed by the MCU.  

63. Students who enroll at LU may study at any or all of the three Federated Universities (as 

well as LU), which are all physically located on LU’s campus.  Students enrolled in 

programs, courses, majors and minors which are administered by the Federated 

Universities remain students of LU and these courses are credited towards a degree from 

LU, which has the sole authority to confer degrees upon students (with the exception of 

Theology). In addition, all students of LU enrolled in courses delivered by the Federated 

Universities can fully utilize the services offered on the entire campus.  For all intents and 

purposes, the Federated Universities are integrated into LU, however, each of the Federated 

Universities manages its finances separately from each other, and from LU, subject to the 

arrangements described below. 
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64. From an employee perspective, most of the faculty of the Federated Universities are 

represented by LUFA, but each of the Federated Universities has its own collective 

agreement with LUFA. 

65. The employees of the Federated Universities are a part of the defined benefit pension plan 

of LU.  Each of the Federated Universities are required, pursuant to the pension plan, to 

contribute the amount required to fund the pension plan, taking into account the assets and 

liabilities of the plan.  Each of the Federated Universities directly contribute to the pension 

plan on a monthly basis. 

i. Terms of Financial Distribution between LU and the Federated Universities 

66. On November 10, 1993, LU and the Federated Universities entered into a Proposed Grant 

Distribution and Services Fees arrangement (the “1993 Funding Model”). Although this 

document was not signed, meeting minutes are attached to the document which indicate 

that LU and the Federated Universities were all in agreement with the terms of same, and 

the parties operated under the terms of such agreement until it was amended as of May 1, 

2019. A copy of the 1993 Funding Model is attached hereto as Exhibit “G”. 

67. The 1993 Funding Model was replaced by notices delivered by LU to each of the Federated 

Universities on May 1, 2019 (the “Financial Distribution Notices”). Copies of the 

Financial Distribution Notices for Huntingon, Thornloe and Sudbury, respectively, are 

attached as Exhibits “H”, “I” and “J” hereto.   

68. The Financial Distribution Notices update the previous funding formula under the 1993 

Funding Model and set out the terms for the distribution of operating grants to the 

Federated Universities and service fees charged by LU to the Federated Universities from 
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and after May 1, 2019. The Financial Distribution Notices amended, restated and replaced 

in their entirety any prior documentation, oral or written representations and past practices 

relating to the distribution of grant funding, tuition fees and service fees between LU and 

the Federated Universities, including but not limited to, those described under the 1993 

Funding Model. 

69. The Financial Distribution Notices advised the Federated Universities that LU would 

transfer funds to each of the Federated Universities in accordance with the new university 

funding model introduced by the Province in 2017 (the “New Funding Model”). The New 

Funding Model adopted an enrolment-based approach, where the Province would provide 

each post-secondary organization with a base level of operating funding determined in 

accordance with a specific level of eligible enrolment and program of registration. 

70. The underlying principle behind LU adopting the New Funding Model was to ensure that 

neither LU or any of the Federated Universities would subsidize the operations or services 

of the other, and each organization would be responsible for covering its own expenses.  It 

was intended to align the financial relationship of LU and the Federated Universities with 

the New Funding Model introduced by the Province, to which LU was subject. 

71. The Financial Distribution Notices also provide that, in exchange for the provision of non-

academic administrative services by LU to the Federated Universities, each of the 

Federated Universities would be assessed a charge by LU in the amount of 15% of shared 

revenues, being grant revenue and tuition revenue as defined in the Financial Distribution 

Notices (the “Administrative Services Fee”). The Administrative Services Fee partially 

covers the costs incurred by LU for a number of non-academic services it provides, which 

44TAB 2 143



- 23 -

include but are not limited to: (i) student fee collection and accounting; (ii) central 

computing services; (iii) administration of all pension and employee benefits; (iv) campus 

security; and (v) student support services. 

72. Since the Financial Distribution Notices were issued by LU to each of the Federated 

Universities on May 1, 2019 the parties have been operating in accordance with the funding 

mechanisms set out therein. 

ii.  University of Sudbury 

73. SU is a Roman Catholic bilingual university offering programs in Culture and 

Communication Studies, Indigenous Studies, Philosophy and Religious Studies and 

courses in both English and French. It was founded in 1913 as Collège du Sacré-Coeur 

before changing its name to the University of Sudbury in 1957. There are 211 students 

enrolled in SU-delivered programs, along with a further 24 students in a combined LU/SU 

Philosophy program and 56 students in Religious Studies, which is jointly administered by 

the Federated Universities. 

LU-SU Federation Agreement 

74. LU and SU entered into a Federation Agreement on September 10, 1960 (the “LU-SU 

Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “K”.  The LU-

SU Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the relationship between 

LU and SU will be permanent, and the success of the relationship is to be predominantly 

fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, rather than any formal agreements. 
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75. Pursuant to the LU-SU Federation Agreement, SU suspended all of its degree-conferring 

power (with the exception of Theology) in favour of LU, for so long as the LU-SU 

Federation Agreement is in effect. 

76. Tuition fees paid by LU students enrolled in SU-delivered programs are apportioned 

between LU and SU pursuant to the Financial Distribution Notice. 

77. The LU-SU Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within its 

campus for SU to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land to SU was 

completed pursuant to the SU Indenture (as defined and described in detail below).   

Leases between LU and SU 

78. Pursuant to an Indenture between LU and SU dated April 9, 1965 (the “SU Indenture”), 

LU leased certain land for a term of 99 years to allow SU to construct buildings and student 

housing for SU.  Provided that SU performs all of the covenants during the term of the SU 

Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on substantially the same 

terms. 

79. The SU Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) SU withdraws from the federation with 

LU or the land and premises cease to be used for educational instruction at a university 

level for three years, or (ii) SU is in breach or non-performance of the covenants of the SU 

Indenture.  In the event that the SU Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings constructed 

on the lands from SU.  The SU Indenture provides that the value of the buildings is to be 

determined by arbitration.  A copy of the SU Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “L”. 

46TAB 2 145



- 25 -

iii. Huntington University 

80. Huntington is an independent university founded in 1960 with its own charter, and offers 

programs in Communication Studies, Gerontology, Religious Studies and Theology. 

Students who graduate from Huntington have their degrees conferred by LU, save for a 

limited exception in respect of Theology.  There are 295 students enrolled in Huntington-

delivered programs this year, along with a further 56 students in Religious Studies, which 

is jointly administered by the Federated Universities. 

LU-Huntington Federation Agreement 

81. LU and Huntington entered into a Federation Agreement on September 10, 1960 (the “LU-

Huntington Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “M”.  

The LU-Huntington Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the 

relationship between LU and Huntington will be permanent, and the success of the 

relationship is to be predominantly fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, 

rather than any formal agreements. 

82. Pursuant to the Huntington Federation Agreement, Huntington agreed to suspend all of its 

degree-conferring powers except the power to grant degrees in Theology. 

83. Tuition fees paid by LU students enrolled in Huntington-delivered programs are 

apportioned between LU and Huntington by the Financial Distribution Notice.   

84. The LU-Huntington Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within 

its campus for Huntington to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land 
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to Huntington was completed pursuant to the Huntington Indenture (as defined and 

described in detail below).  

Other Agreements between LU and Huntington 

85. Pursuant to a lease indenture between LU and Huntington dated July 3, 1964 (the 

“Huntington Indenture”), LU leased certain land to Huntington for a term of 99 years to 

allow Huntington to construct buildings and student housing for Huntington.  The terms 

and conditions of the Huntington Indenture are substantially similar to the terms and 

conditions of the SU Indenture, such as: 

(a) provided that Huntington performs all of the covenants during the term of the 

Huntington Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on 

substantially the same terms; 

(b) the Huntington Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) Huntington withdraws 

from the federation with LU or the land and premises cease to be used for 

educational instruction at a university level for three years, or (ii) Huntington is in 

breach or non-performance of the covenants of the Huntington Indenture; 

(c) in the event that the Huntington Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings 

constructed on the lands from Huntington; and 

(d) the Huntington Indenture provides that LU may pay for buildings that can be used 

by LU in the ordinary course for university purposes (such as residences and 

classrooms), but LU is not required to pay for any buildings that duplicate existing 
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facilities at LU.  The value of the buildings is calculated as the cost of construction 

less depreciation calculated at 4% per annum. 

A copy of the Huntington Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “N”. 

86. Pursuant to a Memorandum of Agreement between LU and Huntington dated December 

12, 2005, Huntington transferred its music program to LU with provisions regarding the 

transfer of scholarship funds, space for the program and a cost sharing arrangement for the 

music faculty.  A copy of the Memorandum of Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit

“O”. 

iv. University of Thorneloe 

87. Thorneloe is a university with historic roots and affiliation with the Anglican Church of 

Canada and offers programs in the departments of Ancient Studies, Religious Studies and 

Women’s, Gender and Sexuality Studies. There are 119 students enrolled in Thorneloe-

delivered programs this year, along with a further 56 students in Religious Studies, which 

is jointly administered by the Federated Universities. 

LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement 

88. LU and Thorneloe entered into a Federation Agreement in 1962 (the “LU-Thorneloe 

Federation Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “P”.  The LU-

Thorneloe Federation Agreement contains a provision stipulating that the relationship 

between LU and Thorneloe will be permanent, and the success of the relationship is to be 

predominantly fostered through “mutual cooperation and goodwill”, rather than any formal 

agreements. 
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89. Pursuant to the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement, Thorneloe suspended all of its 

degree-conferring power (with the exception of Theology) in favour of LU, for so long as 

the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement is in effect. 

90. Pursuant to the LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement, tuition fees paid by LU students 

enrolled in Thorneloe-delivered programs are apportioned between LU and Thorneloe 

pursuant to the Financial Distribution Notice.   

91. LU-Thorneloe Federation Agreement requires LU to allocate and reserve land within its 

campus for Thorneloe to purchase and construct buildings on.  The allocation of land to 

Thorneloe was completed pursuant to the Thorneloe Indenture (as defined and described 

in detail below). 

Leases between LU and Thorneloe 

92. Pursuant to a lease indenture between LU and Thorneloe dated October 26, 1964 (the 

“Thorneloe Indenture”), LU leased certain land to Thorneloe for a term of 99 years to 

allow Thorneloe to construct buildings and student housing for Thorneloe.  The terms and 

conditions of the Thorneloe Indenture are substantially similar to the terms and conditions 

of the Huntington Indenture, including: 

(a) provided that Thorneloe performs all of the covenants during the term of the 

Thorneloe Indenture, LU is required to renew the lease for a further 99 years on 

substantially the same terms; 

(b) the Thorneloe Indenture may be terminated by LU if: (i) Thorneloe withdraws from 

the federation with LU or the land and premises cease to be used for educational 
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instruction at a university level for three years, or (ii) Thorneloe is in breach or non-

performance of the covenants of the Thorneloe Indenture; 

(c) in the event that the Thorneloe Indenture is terminated, LU is entitled to take 

possession of the lands, and may elect to purchase any or all of the buildings 

constructed on the lands from Thorneloe; and 

(d) the Thorneloe Indenture provides that LU may pay for buildings that can be used 

by LU in the ordinary course for university purposes (such as residences and 

classrooms), but LU is not required to pay for any buildings that duplicate existing 

facilities at LU.  The value of the buildings is calculated as the cost of construction 

less depreciation calculated at 4% per annum. 

A copy of the Thorneloe Indenture is attached hereto as Exhibit “Q”. 

E. Statutory Framework 

93. LU is governed by the Act.  The Act incorporated LU and vested the management of LU 

in the Board. The Act grants the Board all powers necessary or convenient to perform its 

duties and achieve the objects and purposes of the University. 

94. The objects and purposes of LU are described in the Act as: 

(a) the advancement of learning and the dissemination of knowledge; and 

(b) the intellectual, social, moral and physical development of its members and the 

betterment of society. 

95. The Act confers powers on LU, including, among other things, the power to: (i) establish 

courses (Senate); (ii) confer degrees (Senate); (iii) enter into federation agreements with 
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other colleges (Board); (iv) purchase, mortgage, lease and convey property (Board); (v) 

borrow money (Board); and (vi) commence proceedings in its own name (Board). 

F. Governance Structure 

96. The facts set out in this section relating to LU’s governance structure are based on my own 

knowledge and on information I have received and have been advised of by the University 

Secretary and General Counsel of LU, which I believe to be accurate in all respects. 

97. The governance structure of LU is bi-cameral. The Board and the President and Vice-

Chancellor generally have powers over the operational and financial management of LU, 

whereas the Senate of LU (the “Senate”) is responsible for the academic policy of LU. 

98. The Act establishes the governance structure for LU. Section 18(1) of the Act provides that 

all powers over, in respect of or in relation to the governance, financial management and 

control of LU and its officers, servants and agents, its property, revenues, expenditures, 

business and affairs are vested in the Board.  However, there is a carve-out in section 18(1) 

for matters that are specifically assigned by the Act to the President, the Senate or federated 

universities or colleges. 

99. Section 21 of the Act provides that the Senate is responsible for the educational policy of 

LU, subject to approval of the Board with respect to the expenditure of funds and the 

establishment of facilities. 

100. Section 28(2) of the Act provides that the President of LU is the chief executive officer and 

chairman of the Senate and has supervision over the direction of academic work and the 

general administration of LU. 
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i. Composition of the Board 

101. Pursuant to the Bylaws, the Board is comprised of 25 voting members, as follows: 

(a) President and Vice-Chancellor; 

(b) five members named by the Lieutenant Governor in Council; and 

(c) nineteen (19) members selected by the Board. These members are comprised of 

three people nominated by each of the federated universities (SU, Huntington and 

Thorneloe) one person nominated by the Laurentian University Alumni 

Association, two people nominated by the Student Associations of LU, and seven 

people put forward by the Nominations Committee of the Board. 

A copy of the Bylaws is attached hereto as Exhibit “R”. 

102. All voting members, except the members elected from student nominations, hold office for 

a period of three (3) years ending at the close of the annual meeting in the third year 

following such appointments. 

103. The elected voting members from student nominations hold office for a period of one (1) 

year ending at the close of the annual meeting in the year of such appointments. 

104. No voting member is permitted to hold office for more than four consecutive terms, 

however, the number of terms of a voting Board member who serves as Chair, Vice-Chair 

or past Chair of the Board may be extended.  A former voting member is eligible for re-

election after a lapse of one year. 

105. In addition, the Board may provide for non-voting members on the Board and Board 

Standing Committees. Such non-voting members are entitled to participate in the 
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discussions at meetings of the Board and Board Standing Committees, except when 

confidential matters are to be discussed “in camera”. 

106. A quorum is reached if there are ten (10) voting members present at a Board meeting.  All 

bylaws, motions and resolutions are decided by a majority of the votes of members present 

at said meeting with the exception of the enactment, amendment or repeal of by-laws, 

which must be approved at a meeting where at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting Board 

members are present, by a two-third majority of the voting Board members present.  

Further, a resolution signed by all members of the Board has the same force and effect as 

if passed at a regularly constituted meeting of the Board. 

ii. Formation of the Ad Hoc Committee 

107. On November 12, 2020, the Executive Committee of the Board, in exercising the powers 

of the Board under the Bylaws, authorized the formation of a special In Camera Ad Hoc 

Committee on Contingency Planning (the “Ad Hoc Committee”).  The Ad Hoc Committee 

was formed in response to the important and time sensitive work required to address LU’s 

financial challenges. 

108. The Ad Hoc Committee has the authority to act on behalf of the Board on matters related 

to all initiatives to address LU’s financial challenges, including the preparation for this 

application under the CCAA and providing certain ongoing strategic direction following 

the commencement of this CCAA proceeding.  The purpose of the Ad Hoc Committee is 

to provide day-to-day oversight and direction with respect to the CCAA proceedings in 

order to report back to the Board on any fundamental strategic decisions. 
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109. The Ad Hoc Committee is comprised of nine (9) voting members of the Board.  Since its 

formation, the Ad Hoc Committee has met on at least a bi-weekly basis, with increasing 

frequency over the past several weeks. 

110. Based upon the recommendation of the Ad Hoc Committee, the Board retained 

independent legal counsel (Peter Osborne of Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith Griffin LLP) 

to advise the Board with respect to issues solely related to the Board. 

iii. Authority to Commence Proceedings 

111. As set out above, section 8 of the Act provides that LU may commence proceedings.   

Further, section 18(1) of the Act provides that all powers over, in respect of or in relation 

to the governance, financial management and control of LU and its officers, revenues, 

expenditures, business and affairs are vested in the Board. 

112. Accordingly, the Board has the authority to authorize the commencement of this court 

proceeding.  On January 29, 2021, the Board convened a meeting duly constituted with 

quorum and on proper notice. At such meeting, the Board passed a resolution in camera 

authorizing LU to file this application to commence proceedings under the CCAA.  A copy 

of the Board resolution is attached hereto as Exhibit “S”. 

G. Key University Performance Measures 

113. LU has faced several major challenges recently, including declining demographics in 

Northern Ontario, the closure of LU’s Barrie campus which commenced in 2016 and was 

finalized in 2019, high debt levels and the Province’s domestic tuition reduction and freeze 

that was implemented in 2019. 
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114. Since 2011, Ontario has been facing weak demographic trends for university-aged entrants.  

This problem is particularly acute in Northern Ontario, where LU is located. LU’s domestic 

undergraduate direct entry high school enrolment, which represents Ontario high school 

students who attend LU immediately after high school, is a significant contributor to LU’s 

overall enrolment (around 40%) but has declined 22% since 2011. Ontario’s population 

projections suggest these trends will continue to get worse until 2024. Although this decline 

was offset by enrolment growth from students in online degrees and graduate programs, 

this growth is not sustainable. 

115. The current COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated these issues, including due to the loss 

of ancillary revenues derived from, among other areas, residence, parking, conferences and 

food services.  The loss of these revenues has made it increasingly difficult to manage the 

financial challenges that LU faces. 

116. LU has the fourth lowest domestic tuition and student ancillary fees in the Province. 

Historically, this was a strategic decision designed to attract more students to LU.  As 

tuition fees are one of LU’s primary sources of revenue, the Provincially-mandated tuition 

reduction of 10% in 2019 resulted in further stress to the financial situation of LU. While 

LU did receive one-time funding from the MCU to partially offset this revenue decline in 

2019-2020, the decrease in domestic tuition rates is a permanent loss of revenue which is 

further compounded by the Province-wide tuition freeze that is currently in place.  There 

is a risk that continued tuition freezes may be implemented by the Province, 

notwithstanding rising costs on an annual basis. 
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117. In addition to the low tuition fees, every employee of LU (including those of the Unions) 

and all retirees are entitled to free tuition for themselves, their spouses and their 

dependants. As a significant employer within Sudbury, this creates a potentially significant 

loss of tuition revenue every year. 

118. Due to these and other financial challenges, LU now has the worst primary reserve ratio of 

all universities in the Province (-29 days), the worst viability ratio (-17.6%) and one of the 

worst net income/loss ratios (-1.5%). 

119. In Maclean’s 2021 university rankings of primarily undergraduate schools across Canada, 

LU placed 12 out of 19 universities.  Reflective of LU’s leading research programs, LU 

ranked first in Canada in primarily undergraduate schools for total research dollars 

allocated to the school.6

time faculty, includes income from sponsored research such as grants and contracts, 

federal, provincial and foreign government funding, and funding from non-governmental 

organizations. 

H. Employees 

120. As at December 30, 2020 LU employed approximately 1,751 people.  Of this total, 

approximately 758 are full-time employees.  Term employees funded through grants may 

also work full-time hours, but are not included in the full-time employee total. The total 

number of employees fluctuates on a regular basis given the large volume of part-time and 

student employment offered by LU. Typically, the operating departments of LU employ 

6 Source: https://www.macleans.ca/education/university-rankings/canadas-best-primarily-undergraduate-
universities-rankings-2021/.  
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approximately 400-500 student employees. However, due to the impact of COVID-19 and 

students studying remotely, there were only approximately 200 student employees in 

November 2020, whereas there were 470 in November 2019. These amounts do not include 

GTAs (as defined below) and students employed by faculty for research purposes. 

121. There are approximately 612 employees represented by LUFA. Among these employees, 

355 are full-time faculty (including seven employees currently on a leave of absence from 

LU), 221 are sessional faculty or health care professionals and five are full-time 

counsellors.  Almost all of the full-time faculty have acquired tenure as defined in the 

collective agreement.  In addition, there are 31 individuals who are staff or students of LU 

who also teach a sessional/clinical course. The number of sessional employees varies from 

term to term depending on need. 

122. The non-faculty staff are represented by the Laurentian University Staff Union (“LUSU”).

LUSU represents LU’s staff, which includes all employees of LU in clerical, technical, 

administrative, service and security work. LUSU represents approximately 268 employees. 

123. The remainder of LU’s full-time employees who are not represented by a union include 

approximately 23 senior leadership employees, and 111 administrative and professional 

staff, most of which are in managerial roles. The managerial and non-managerial 

employees are considered part of an informal association that LU recognizes as the 

Laurentian University Administrative and Professional Staff Association (“LUAPSA”).  

LUAPSA has an executive committee that meets with LU on occasion and LU solicits 

feedback from the LUAPSA executive committee regarding matters that affect employees 

that are in positions falling under the LUAPSA umbrella. 
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I. Unions and Collective Bargaining Agreements 

i. LUFA 

124. Total salaries and benefits represent the single largest expense item for LU on an annual 

basis (approximately $134 million of $201 million in total expenses during fiscal year 

2019-20).  The total salaries and benefits paid by LU to its faculty (i.e. the members of 

LUFA) were approximately $70 million during fiscal year 2019-20, or 52% of total 

consolidated salaries and benefits. However, when excluding funding for salaries and 

benefits received from research grants, faculty are 57% of total salaries and benefits funded 

through operations, comprising LU’s single largest operating expense. 

125. Currently, LUFA members represent approximately 60% of total salaries and benefits. 

126. LUFA and the Board of LU are parties to a Collective Agreement (the “LUFA CA”), with 

a three year term which expired on June 30, 2020.  Pursuant to the provisions of the LUFA 

CA, the agreement automatically continues year-to-year unless notice is provided that 

either LUFA or LU intends to terminate or amend the LUFA CA.  In February 2020, LUFA 

provided LU with a notice to bargain.  Pursuant to Article 13.15.3 of the LUFA CA, the 

agreement automatically remains in force during any period of negotiation.  A copy of the 

LUFA CA is attached at Exhibit “T” hereto. 

127. LU and LUFA have been engaged in bargaining with respect to a new collective bargaining 

agreement.  As a prelude to bargaining and with a sense of the economic impact of COVID-

19 becoming apparent, LU met with the LUFA bargaining team on April 27, 2020, and 

briefed them on the economic state of LU.  In that discussion, LUFA was explicitly told 

by the University’s chief labour spokesperson, Michael Kennedy from Hicks Morley LLP, 
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that there was a material risk that LU could run out of money during the life of the collective 

agreement and that could happen as early as the Fall 2020 or as late as Spring 2021.  LUFA 

was also advised that LU would seek rollbacks in faculty compensation in the same way 

that it would with other unionized and non-unionized employee groups. 

128. LUFA’s response after the April 27, 2020, financial update meeting was to defer the 

commencement of bargaining on May 25 and 26, 2020, and seek more financial 

information regarding LU’s financial status and the budget for the upcoming and future 

academic years. LUFA required such information prior to the continuation of bargaining.   

129. LU has endeavoured to respond to much of LUFA’s information requests. On April 27, 

2020, LU responded to LUFA’s first request for financial information. Further, on August 

18, 2020, LU provided LUFA with a comprehensive package of financial information in 

response to their questions. LU also provided LUFA with financial update presentations 

on June 9, 2020 and August 26, 2020. 

130. LU and LUFA bargained on September 11, 23, 25, 29, October 1 and 2, 2020.  On 

September 11, 2020, LUFA responded to LU’s response to its financial information 

requests by indicating that “the administration is indicating a sudden and unprecedented 

financial crisis – the data reveals that while our financial situation is not optimal, our 

current position fiscal situation is better than 2016”.  Following the September 11, 2020 

bargaining date, LUFA provided a list of 11 priority questions regarding financial 

information they were seeking. 

131. On October 1, 2020, LU advised LUFA that EY had been retained as a financial advisor 

and that more financial information would not be forthcoming until LU had a chance to 
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work with EY.  On October 2, 2020, LUFA advised they did not think the information 

provided to date showed a financial crisis.  LU responded that given LUFA’s lack of 

satisfaction with the information provided to date demonstrating a financial crisis, that LU 

would defer providing more financial information until LU had the opportunity to review 

its financial data with EY. 

132. The parties also engaged the services of William Kaplan as mediator and met with him on 

October 5 and 6, 2020.  After the two-day mediation, bargaining was put on hold pending 

further review of LU’s finances. 

133. LU met with LUFA again on January 18, 2021 and responded to LUFA’s preliminary 

response to University’s financial circumstances. During the meeting on January 18, 2021, 

LUFA was advised by LU’s chief labour spokesperson that since the parties broke off 

bargaining in October, LU’s efforts to review and assess its finances had not changed the 

view that LU has profound economic challenges.  In fact, the passage of time had only 

served to confirm how profound LU’s financial challenges are.  More specifically, LU’s 

chief labour spokesperson confirmed as follows: 

(a) LU continued to be at risk of running out of money prior to the end of the academic 

term; 

(b) that LU had incurred short and long-term borrowing in excess of $100 million; 

(c) LU has consistently realized annual deficits going back to at least 2014-15; and 

(d) LU has no further capacity to service debt and/or acquire more debt. 
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134. Later that day on January 18, 2021, LUFA’s chief spokesperson, David Wright, of Ryder 

Wright Blair and Holmes LLP emailed LU’s chief labour spokesperson seeking production 

of a wide- ranging series of documents including: 

(a) all documents and financial records which support LU’s position that it is in an 

immediate financial crisis and will be unable to service debt or is likely to run out 

of funds in the near future; and  

(b) any documents provided to LU by Ernst & Young Inc. as a result of its 

review/analysis/consultation regarding LU’s finances. 

135. On January 22, 2021, the President of LUFA wrote to me indicating an intention to bring 

an Unfair Labour Practice Complaint pursuant to the Ontario Labour Relations Board 

alleging that LU had not provided any financial information to support that LU was in 

financial duress and that LU, as a result, had unduly delayed bargaining.  A copy of the 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit “U”.

136. LU’s chief labour spokesperson responded in an email to LUFA’s information request on 

Friday, January 29, 2021.  In his email response, LU’s chief labour spokesperson explained 

the following: 

(a) many of LUFA’s questions were predicated on previously provided financial 

information which did not reflect the current financial circumstances of LU and 

were no longer applicable; 

(b) LUFA’s request for all documents and financial records which supports LU’s 

position that it was in an immediate financial crisis,  was unable to service its debt, 
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or likely to run out of funds in the near future, was overly broad and beyond the 

duty to bargain in good faith;  

(c) LUFA already had the information it needs to understand the precariousness of 

LU’s financial circumstances.  It was well known and documented that LU has had 

an ongoing deficit since 2014-2015 and had accumulated debt of over $100 million.  

Moreover, the December 11, 2020 Board Information Package showed LU’s 

anticipated actual 2020-21 revenues were $148,548,297 and expenditures were 

$159,147,976; and 

(d) LU did not have the ability to obtain or service more debt or have access to borrow 

more money to finance its operations.  LU’s operations continue to be funded by 

the revenue it receives from tuition, grants, and other ancillary revenue.   

137. I am advised by our external labour counsel, Michael Kennedy of Hicks Morley LLP that 

as of the date of this affidavit, LUFA has not exercised its statutory right to request a 

conciliator pursuant to the Labour Relations Act and in fact, LUFA requested that LU agree 

to a moratorium whereby neither party would request a conciliator. 

138. I am further advised by Mr. Kennedy that there are a number of terms of the LUFA CA in 

favour of LUFA members that are considered to be above-market.  The following 

summarizes such provisions: 

(a) the annual salary increases provided for in the LUFA CA have resulted in salaries 

for LU assistant professors that are among the highest when compared to other 

Ontario universities; 
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(b) faculty have the option to elect “buying out” of a course (up to 15 credits over 5 

years, but no more than 6 credits in a given Academic Year) for the purposes of 

dedicating more time to scholarly activity if faculty reimburses LU for the cost of 

their replacement. The Dean of each faculty decides whether to approve the buy-

out, however, LU has an obligation to not unreasonably withhold its approval. This 

was intended to have a net-zero cost impact, however, in practice, if a sessional is 

required to replace the course, there are additional benefits and vacation pay 

obligations which result in a 10% premium to LU because LU is not permitted to 

seek reimbursement over and above the base salary for a course; 

(c) the large number of faculty who are able to reduce their teaching load to do other 

work that may not generate revenue (i.e. assume a chair/director position or the 

coordination of other duties), which causes LU to replace the workload through 

sessional instructors, thereby increasing overall faculty expenses; 

(d) courses assigned to full-time faculty members may only be cancelled if there is zero 

enrolment, which requires LU to continue offering courses with very low enrolment 

that are not financially sustainable; 

(e) sessional contracts which are typically entered into well in advance of the start date 

of a course cannot be reassigned to a full-time member or be cancelled without a 

financial penalty equal to 15% of the contract (approximately $1,200 per course), 

limiting LU’s flexibility in ensuring appropriate deployment of academic 

resources; 

(f) LUFA members who work between ages 65 and 71 are permitted to draw upon 

their pension while at the same time receiving a full salary.  This has created a 
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situation where LU has one of the highest rates of faculty members over the age of 

65 in the Province.  As of December 9, 2020, approximately 26 full-time faculty 

members were collecting both a pension and receiving a full salary; 

(g) Some LUFA members, who earn an income over a certain threshold and are 

enrolled in the Pension Plan are also eligible for the SuRP (as defined below).  

Based on my experience at other Canadian universities, a SuRP such as the plan 

provided by LU is not normative in the university sector, particularly as a smaller 

university; 

(h) Faculty years of service and earnings after the age of 62 continue to be counted 

towards accrual of pension value for LUFA members, which incentivizes LUFA 

members to postpone retirement; and 

(i) all full-time faculty and retirees are entitled to free tuition at LU, together with the 

spouses and dependants of all full-time faculty, retirees, deceased retirees, and 

deceased faculty. As discussed above, this can contribute to a significant loss of 

tuition revenue every year. 

139. The LUFA CA also contains financial exigency provisions which provide for a collegial 

process to evaluate the financial affairs of LU and determine whether budgetary cuts 

affecting members of LUFA are necessary. 

140. Determination of whether financial exigency exists is made by a Financial Commission 

(the “Commission”) consisting of three members (one LU representative, one LUFA 

representative and one mutually agreeable person). 

141. The salient terms of the financial exigency provisions provide: 
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(a) financial exigency is defined as substantial and recurring deficits that are projected 

to continue for more than two years, which threaten the long-term solvency of LU 

as a whole; 

(b) reductions in academic staff for reasons of financial exigency may only occur after 

efforts to alleviate the financial crisis by reductions in all other segments of the 

budget have been made; 

(c) LU is responsible for providing notice that a state of financial exigency exists and 

bears the onus of proving financial exigency; 

(d) the Commission decides whether financial exigency exists and, if so, the amount of 

reduction required in the budgetary allocation to salary and benefits; 

(e) the Commission decides how the budget will be reduced across faculty, library and 

other similar units at which point, the faculty and library councils shall apportion 

the budgetary reductions across their departments and schools; 

(f) tenured members may not be laid-off in preference to a non-tenured member, unless 

there is a clear and substantial reason for doing otherwise; 

(g) LU must make efforts to secure alternative positions within the university for 

members who have been laid off with up to one year of re-training and members 

are entitled to a first right of refusal on academic vacancies for which they are 

competent for three years following lay off; and 

(h) any members who are laid off are entitled to: (i) 12 months’ notice or 12 months’ 

salary in lieu of notice, and (ii) an additional one month’s salary for each year as a 
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full-time employee, provided that no tenured member shall receive less than 12 

month’s salary. 

142. The financial exigency provisions entail a lengthy process for establishing whether

financial exigency exists. LU does not have access to cash to meet its obligations while

that process would be undertaken. LU’s prospects of a successful restructuring will be

handicapped if the financial exigency provisions and timeline are followed, particularly if

a stay of proceedings is not obtained when financial exigency is declared by LU.  The

process is onerous and rigid requiring: (i) the transfer of control to the Commission, (ii) a

protracted timeline for the review of LU’s financial state and recommendations on

terminations, (iii) priority rights in respect of who may be terminated, which may be

incompatible with LU’s long-term faculty requirements and need for an overall

restructuring; and (iv) a high degree of discretion in decisions made by the three members

constituting the Commission.

143. The financial exigency provisions of the LUFA CA create extraordinary liabilities for LU

with respect to termination and severance payments that LU also does not have the cash to

fund.  This additional burden places LU in the untenable situation that it cannot be fiscally

prudent and take the steps required for its financial stability, while also being unable to

address material faculty costs as a result of the obligations arising under the financial

exigency provisions of the LUFA CA.

144. Creating an effective process under the supervision of the Court and with the benefit of

CCAA protection will provide LU with the opportunity to address the shortcomings in the

process contemplated by the financial exigency provisions.  LU is of the view that the
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appointment of a Mediator by the Court within the parameters of these CCAA proceedings 

and providing the Mediator with flexibility to adapt a process and timeline to achieve a 

resolution is the best option available.  Ultimately, it is the hope of LU that such mediation 

and discussions will result in LU achieving a collective agreement with LUFA in 

conjunction with negotiations and a resolution with other key stakeholders, that fits within 

the parameters of future sustainability of LU. 

145. These negotiations, and most importantly a resolution, need to be undertaken, completed 

and capable of being implemented by May 2021 due to: (i) the extent of DIP financing 

relative to the cash flow forecast; (ii) the need to plan for and implement the necessary 

changes in programming for the 2021/2022 Academic Year to be ready for September; and 

(iii) the need to demonstrate to existing and prospective incoming students of the successful 

restructuring of these critical components in order for 2021 high school graduates to choose 

LU as their destination for university prior to the June 2021 deadline for acceptances, and 

in order to retain the support of existing LU students and their families. 

146. The need for the court-supervised mediation to commence immediately is urgent.  The 

labour situation at LU is tenuous, and stability and transparency within this CCAA 

proceeding and the involvement of the Monitor will be critically important to provide the 

Applicant with the best possibility of success. 

ii. LUSU 

147. On July 1, 2018, LUSU and LU entered into a Collective Agreement that was set to expire 

on June 30, 2021 (the “LUSU CA”). Over the past two years, LUSU executives and their 

members have engaged in dialogue with LU to address some of the issues facing LU.  A 

copy of the LUSU CA is attached hereto as Exhibit “V”. 
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148. The LUSU CA provides a 1.5% salary increase effective July 1, 2020. It also contains 

highly burdensome provisions regarding temporary lay-offs, which offers LU limited 

flexibility in addressing staffing issues. Deferring salary increases and loosening the 

provisions on temporary lay-offs will need to be reviewed and considered as part of LU’s 

restructuring. 

149. The LUSU CA provides flexibility to transfer and reassign staff based on the operational 

requirements of LU.  Practically, this flexibility is limited due to the specialized skills of 

non-administrative positions in the LUSU bargaining unit.  For example, biology 

technicians, information technology specialists and security require a specialized skillset 

which makes it difficult to reassign LUSU members to these positions when greater need 

arises. 

150. Most importantly, the LUSU CA includes a memorandum of understanding, negotiated 

into a prior CA which has since been renewed for the remainder of the LUSU CA term, 

waiving the redundancy and termination provisions. This effectively prevents LU from 

terminating any LUSU employee for redundancy for the remaining term of the LUSU CA. 

151. In light of the financial challenges of LU, LUSU agreed to open the existing LUSU CA 

early for negotiation, prior to its expiration on June 30, 2021.  Those negotiations achieved 

the following: 

(a) Year 1: a 1.0% salary reduction, which previously was a 1.5% salary increase 

under the LUSU CA; 

(b) Year 2:  a 0.5% salary increase on July 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022; 

(c) Year 3: a 0.5% salary increase on July 1, 2022 and January 1, 2023; 
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(d) Six furlough days for all LUSU members without pay in 2020. This provided LU 

with a one-time cash savings of $450,000; 

(e) Confirmation of LU’s ability to effect employee transfers and the additional 

flexibility to reassign and transfer staff during the collective agreement; 

(f) Retirement incentive to maintain salary and pension at the pre-reduced salary level 

on June 30, 2020, with the condition to retire on or before October 31, 2020; and 

(g) The reassignment, transfer and retirement provisions resulted in 11.5 position 

redundancies in 2020, a total annual salary and benefits savings of approximately 

$808,077.

iii. CUPE Collective Agreement 

152. On September 1, 2019, CUPE and LU entered into a Collective Agreement (the “CUPE 

CA”) which covers Masters level and Ph.D-level students who are employed as Graduate 

Teaching Assistants (“GTAs”). Approximately 305 GTAs are represented by CUPE 

although this number can fluctuate. The CUPE CA is set to expire on August 31, 2021.  A 

copy of the CUPE CA is attached hereto as Exhibit “W”. 

153. In September 2019, CUPE agreed to a total compensation increase of 1%. The entirety of 

the increase was allocated to scholarship payments, with a 0% increase in salary over the 

two-year term of the CUPE CA. 

J. Pension and Benefit Plans 

154. LU is the administrator of three types of plans for its employees: (i) a Primary Retirement 

Plan for Laurentian University and its Federated and Affiliated Universities (the “Pension 
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Plan”), (ii) a Supplementary Retirement Plan (“SuRP”), and (iii) a Retirement Health 

Benefits Plan (the “RHBP”). 

i. Defined Benefit Pension Plan

155. There are currently 406 individuals collecting a lifetime pension from the Pension Plan. 

There are 981 active members currently contributing to the Pension Plan but not yet 

collecting a benefit.  In addition, there are approximately 500 individuals no longer 

employed by LU that are eligible, but not yet collecting such benefits.  This includes 

beneficiaries of the Federated Universities, the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory Laboratory 

(“SNOLab”), the Mining Innovation Rehabilitation and Applied Research Corporation 

(“MIRARCO”) and Centre for Excellence in Mining Innovation (“CEMI”).  Under the 

Pension Plan, LU is defined as the “primary employer” for the Federated Universities, 

SNOLab, MIRARCO and CEMI.  A copy of the Pension Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“X”.

156. The Pension Plan is a defined benefit pension plan for all eligible employees of LU and the 

Federated Universities.  Pursuant to the Pension Plan, all full-time employees of LU or the 

other applicable employers who are employed on a continuous full-time basis (as 

determined by the employer) must participate in the Pension Plan.  Other employees who 

are not full-time employees may elect to join the Pension Plan once such employee has 

been continuously employed for at least two years and the employee meets certain 

minimum salary or employment hour requirements. 

i. Pension Plan Valuation 

157. Based on the actuarial valuation of the Pension Plan as of January 1, 2020 (updated 

December 2020), the Pension Plan had a solvency ratio of 85.4%, representing a going 
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concern deficiency of approximately $4.5 million.  This liability must be liquidated over a 

period not exceeding ten years, beginning one year after the date of valuation (i.e. January 

1, 2021). 

158. As a result of this going concern deficiency, the actuary concluded that LU must make an 

annual special payment contribution of $505,000, payable in monthly instalments of 

approximately $42,083.  LU made the January instalment of the special payment during 

the week of January 17, 2021. 

159. Due to its insolvency, LU will be seeking relief from this Court to stay the payment of any 

pre-filing or post-filing special payments to the Pension Plan, which will assist LU with its 

current liquidity crisis and maximize the chance that LU can successfully restructure. 

ii. Supplementary Retirement Plan (SuRP) 

160. In addition to the Pension Plan, LU is the provider of a SuRP for certain employees of LU 

who are eligible for the Pension Plan and earn an income over a certain threshold. 

161. The SuRP was commenced on July 1, 2002.  If retiring employees are eligible based on 

income, they are automatically put into the plan and receive either an annual or monthly 

payment.  In 2020, the aggregate amount of SuRP payments was $384,489.18. The 

projected amount of SuRP payments to be made in 2021 is $262,744.87. A copy of the 

SuRP policy is attached hereto as Exhibit “Y”.

162. The contributions and benefits of the Pension Plan are directly related to employees’ salary. 

However, due to certain limitations under the Income Tax Act, the pension benefits payable 

from the Pension Plan to higher-paid employees may be less, as a percentage of salary, 

than the benefits payable to lower-paid employees. As a result, the SuRP was implemented 
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to provide additional benefits to active employees of LU over the amounts payable from 

the Pension Plan. The intention is that the total benefits from the two plans combined 

should be roughly equal to the amount that would have been payable from the Pension Plan 

alone if the Income Tax Act limits were not a factor. 

163. Historically, LU has never set aside cash to fund the SuRP and as a result, the SuRP is 

unfunded.  In previous years, LU paid the lump-sum payment out of its operations account.  

As such, the SuRP is entirely unfunded. As at April 30, 2020, the accrued benefit obligation 

was $3,063,000. 

iii. Retirement Health Benefits Plan (RHBP) 

164. LU also provides the RHBP to retired employees of LU that elect to enrol in the program.  

In addition to LU employees, the RHBP is available to employees of the Federated 

Universities, SNOLab, Mirarco and CEMI. There are currently 866 employees 

contributing to the RHBP but not yet collecting the benefit, and 358 retirees who are 

eligible to collect the benefit. A copy of the RHBP policy is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“Z”.

165. To be eligible to participate in the RHBP, employees must satisfy the following conditions: 

(a) the employee must retire at age 55 or older; 

(b) the employee must have contributed for at least 15 years to the RHBP; and 

(i) the employee has purchased private coverage and can provide the employer 

with receipts for private coverage; or 

(ii) the employee did not purchase private coverage, but can provide the 

employer with receipts for medical expenses. 
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166. Employees do not qualify if the employee qualifies for continued coverage under the 

Laurentian University Group Plan. 

167. Employees participating in the RHBP are required to pay a monthly premium which varies 

depending on the type of employee (i.e. LU, Federated Universities, SNOLab or LUSU 

member) and whether the employee enrolls in single or family coverage. 

168. The RHBP Policy provides that LU will establish a trust account in respect of the RHBP.  

This trust account was to receive all contributions by employees participating in the RHBP, 

the annual $25,000 contribution by LU and the proportionate contributions by the 

Federated Universities. 

169. Rather than establishing a separate trust account, I understand that LU has historically 

tracked contributions to the RHBP as a liability in its accounting records.  Contributions 

received by LU in respect of the RHBP were deposited into LU’s general operating bank 

account and are not held separately, or at all at this time. As at April 30, 2020, the accrued 

benefit obligation was approximately $7,200,000. 

170. I have only recently become aware of the fact that these contributions were merely recorded 

as internal accounting entries and had not actually been set aside.  Upon this issue being 

brought to my attention, I have requested the finance team to take the steps necessary to 

establish a segregated bank account for the monthly RHBP contributions received from the 

employees of LU to be deposited and retained, and this process is currently underway. 
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K. Certain Material Relationships and Contractual Arrangements 

i. SNOLab

171. SNOLab is Canada’s deep underground research laboratory, located in Vale’s Creighton 

mine in close proximity to Sudbury, Ontario.  SNOLab’s science program focuses on 

astroparticle physics, although it also conducts biology and geology experiments. 

172. SNOLab is governed by the Third SNOLab Trust Agreement (the “SNOLab Trust 

Agreement”) dated May 10, 2012 between Queen’s University, Carleton University, the 

University of Montreal, and LU (collectively, the “SNOLab Member Institutions”).  The 

SNOLab Trust Agreement incorporates the SNOLab Constitution, the most recent version 

of which is dated November 27, 2012 and effective as of February 1, 2013 (the “SNOLab 

Constitution”). A copy of the SNOLab Trust Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“AA” and a copy of the SNOLAB Constitution is attached hereto as Exhibit “BB”.

173. SNOLab is an unincorporated Senate-approved Institute of Queen’s University.  The 

SNOLab Constitution provides that although SNOLab is formally constituted as a part of 

Queen’s University, it operates through the SNOLab Trust Agreement among the SNOLab 

Member Institutions.   

174. The SNOLab Member Institutions have changed over time, but at present they are Queen’s 

University, Carleton University, Université de Montreal, University of Alberta and LU.  

Pursuant to the SNOLab Trust Agreement, each SNOLab Member Institution has a twenty 

percent (20%) interest in SNOLab’s assets, and is responsible for SNOLab’s liabilities and 

obligations (including any potential wind-up obligations) on the same percentage basis. 
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175. Oversight and governance of SNOLab and its operational management occurs through the 

SNOLab Institute Board of Directors (the “SNOLab Board”).  The SNOLab Board is 

made up of a majority of independent directors.  Each of the SNOLab Member Institutions 

are entitled to appoint one non-independent director to the SNOLab Board and, as such, 

LU appoints one member to the SNOLab Board. LU’s appointee is the Vice President, 

Research. 

176. The operations of SNOLab are funded by a combination of federal and provincial 

government research grants. The SNOLab Trust Agreement provides that SNOLab 

Member Institutions may also apply for and receive individual grants on behalf of SNOLab 

and, when granted, such funds are governed by the SNOLab Trust Agreement. 

177. During the time that LU has been a SNOLab Member Institution, certain LU faculty 

members have received research grants that, in whole or in part, are for research conducted 

at or with SNOLab. Prior to December 2020, those research grant funds were typically 

received and deposited by LU into its main operating account.  It is likely that LU holds 

grant money that is allocated to research activities at SNOLab, but those amounts are 

difficult to ascertain absent an extensive reconciliation exercise. 

178. SNOLab is the employer for all individuals appointed to SNOLab.  However, pursuant to 

the SNOLab Constitution, SNOLab shall make arrangements for each employee to be on 

the payroll of a Member Institution and paid by a check drawn on its payroll account.  All 

direct costs of such Member Institution will be charged and reimbursed by SNOlab, 

including salaries and benefits, termination costs and legal fees, if any. SNOLab retains 
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control of the employees and retains responsibility for ensuring that all statutory 

obligations are met for the employees. 

179. As a result of this employee structure, LU processes the payroll for approximately 128 of 

SNOLab employees (2 on a monthly basis and 126 on a bi-weekly basis), provides their 

benefit programs, and eligible SNOLab employees participate in the Pension Plan. 

180. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

SNOLab up front and then invoices SNOLab for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt of 

the invoice, SNOLab reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and 

Pension Plan contributions. 

181. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to SNOLab.  SNOLab funds all 

of the amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

ii. MIRARCO 

182. MIRARCO is headquartered in Sudbury, Ontario and is the mining research arm of LU. 

MIRARCO’s success is a significant reason for LU’s reputation as a leading mining 

university in Canada.  The operations of MIRARCO are funded by a combination of private 

research contracts and government grants for research and the provision of technical 

services. MIRARCO also generates revenue by conducting training workshops for various 

entities in the mining sector. 

183. MIRARCO is a non-share capital corporation incorporated under the Corporations Act.  

MIRARCO is a wholly owned by LU and is consolidated in LU’s financial statements. The 
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majority of MIRARCO’s Board of Directors are independent from LU, although there is 

some overlap with the Board. MIRARCO’s executive team is comprised primarily of 

mining experts. 

184. As LU’s mining research arm, LU processes the payroll for all of MIRARCO’s 19 

employees, provides their benefit programs and eligible MIRARCO employees participate 

in the Pension Plan. 

185. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to MIRARCO.  MIRARCO funds 

all of the amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

186. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

MIRARCO up front and then invoices MIRARCO for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt 

of the invoice, MIRARCO reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and 

Pension Plan contributions. I understand that MIRARCO has itself experienced financial 

difficulties in the last several years, which has resulted in outstanding payables owing to 

LU. 

iii. CEMI 

187. CEMI is a non-share capital corporation incorporated pursuant to the Corporations Act.  

CEMI is one of Canada’s leading contributors to mining innovation by introducing new 

practices, procedures, tools and techniques to help generate significant improvement in the 

performance of mines. CEMI coordinates innovation initiatives with mining companies 

and helps ensure they are successfully implemented.  The operations of CEMI are funded 
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by a combination of private research grants and government research grants. CEMI also 

generates revenue by conducting training workshops for various entities in the mining 

sector.  

188. Oversight and governance of CEMI occurs through the CEMI Board of Directors, which 

is composed of leaders of the mining industry, including mining experts, government 

agency representatives and academics. CEMI has partnerships with numerous academic 

institutions globally, including LU.  

189. Although LU is only one of CEMI’s institutional partners, as part of its partnership with 

CEMI, LU processes the payroll for CEMI’s five employees, provides their benefit 

programs and eligible CEMI employees participate in the Pension Plan. 

190. Save and except for the costs of administering such employment related matters, there are 

no further costs to LU related to providing these services to CEMI.  CEMI funds all of the 

amounts required to meet its own payroll, benefits programs and the employer 

contributions to the Pension Plan. 

191. LU funds the payroll, benefit programs and contributions to the Pension Plan on behalf of 

CEMI up front and then invoices CEMI for the total amounts paid.  Upon receipt of the 

invoice, CEMI reimburses LU in full for the total cost of payroll, benefits and Pension Plan 

contributions. 

iv. St. Joseph’s Health Centre of Sudbury 

192. Pursuant to a lease between LU and St. Joseph’s Health Centre of Sudbury (“St. Joseph’s”) 

dated February 26, 2001, LU leased certain lands to St. Joseph’s for the construction of a 
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long-term health care facility with a term of 99 years (the “St. Joseph’s Lease”). The rental 

rate was a one-time payment of $300,000 at the commencement of the term. LU and St. 

Joseph’s are independent of each other, but have agreed to collaborate on certain research 

projects. A copy of the lease is attached hereto as Exhibit “CC”. 

193. LU and St. Joseph’s entered into a further agreement dated April 1, 2003, whereby LU 

agreed that it would not encumber or mortgage the title to the lands covered by the St. 

Joseph’s Lease between April 1, 2003 and March 31, 2024. This restrictive covenant was 

registered on title to the leased lands. However, the agreement also provided that despite 

the restrictive covenant, LU is not precluded from selling the leased lands during the term 

of the St. Joseph’s Lease. A copy of the agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “DD”.

194. On October 20, 2003, St. Joseph’s mortgaged its leasehold interest, with the consent of LU, 

in the leased lands to Royal Trust Corporation of Canada (“Royal Trust”) in the amount 

of $8,005,693.00 pursuant to a financing agreement between St. Joseph’s and Royal Trust. 

A Notice of Charge of Lease has been registered on title to the leased lands by Royal Trust. 

A copy of the mortgage with Royal Trust is attached here to as Exhibit “EE”. 

v. Leases 

195. LU has entered into a number of leases with various parties in which LU is the lessor. The 

following chart summarizes certain details of each lease: 

Date Counterparty Expiry of 
Term 

Building/Space 
Leased 

Registration 
on title 

Exhibit

Sept. 11, 
2011
(amended 
September 
1, 2016)

Ontario 
Minister of 
Infrastructure 
(Crown) 

August 31, 
2021

Vale Living with 
Lakes Centre 

N/A “FF” 
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April 1, 
2019

Silvia 
Larocque 

May 31, 2023 1,771 square feet 
in the McEwen 
School of 
Architecture

N/A “GG” 

January 1, 
2019

Zayo Canada 
Inc. 

December 31, 
2020 (now 
monthly 
tenancy)

3,032 square feet 
in the McEwen 
School of 
Architecture

N/A “HH” 

February 
26, 2001 

St. Joseph’s 
Health Centre 
of Sudbury 

March 1, 2100 Village of Care 
Campus 

Registered on 
PIN 73592-
0412.
Instrument # 
LT908773.

“CC” 

October 
24, 2019 

Students’ 
General 
Association

May 1, 2068 Student Centre 
building 

N/A “II” 

April 9, 
1965

University of 
Sudbury 

April 9, 2064 University of 
Sudbury 
buildings 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT223242.

“L” 

July 3, 
1964

Huntington 
University 

July 3, 2063 Huntington 
buildings 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT213378.

“N” 

October 
24, 1964 

Thorneloe 
University 

October 24, 
2063

Thorneloe 
builidngs 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument #  
LT217228.

“Q” 

July 1, 
2006

NOSM June 30, 2016 
(now monthly 
tenancy)

Health Sciences 
Education 
Resource Centre

N/A “D” 

December 
1, 2005 
(amended 
July 1, 
2011) 

NOSM August 31, 
2035

Northern Ontario 
School of 
Medicine 
Building 

N/A “E” 

March 16, 
1964

Hydro-
Electric 
Power 
Commission 
of the City of 
Sudbury

November 1, 
2013 (now 
monthly 
tenancy) 

Certain lands 
used for hydro 
substation 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT436399. 

“JJ” 
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September 
12, 1969 

Ontario 
Student 
Housing Corp.

August 14, 
2019. Either 
party had 
option to 
renew for 5-
year term, 
otherwise, the 
lessee is to 
return all lands 
and buildings 
to LU.

Single Student 
Residence (SSR) 
building 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT287236. 

“KK” 

November 
8, 1973 

Ontario 
Student 
Housing Corp.

August 14, 
2023.

Single Student 
Residence (SSR) 
building 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT353270.

“LL” 

February 
12, 1988 

Ontario 
Minister of 
Government 
Services 
(Crown)

January 1, 
2087

Mineral and 
Mining Research 
Centre 

Registered on 
PIN 73593-
0465.
Instrument # 
LT804581.

“MM” 

October 
15, 1968 

Ontario 
Minister of 
Lands and 
Forests 
(Crown) 

No term 
provided. 

Crown granted 
LU certain tracts 
of land. LU 
agreed that if the 
land is no longer 
required for 
university 
purposes, LU 
will re-convey 
the land to the 
Crown if the 
Crown requests 
it to do so.

Registered on 
PIN 73583-
0406.
Instrument # 
LT264533. 

“NN” 

L. Cash Management System 

196. Until December 2020, LU utilized a simple cash management system with one primary 

operating bank account at Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”) whereby substantially all funds 

received by LU were deposited and LU funded its operations and all expenses from the 

same account. 
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197. In addition, LU maintains an investment account with SEI Investments for the purpose of 

depositing all donations received to fund future scholarship in the endowment fund of LU 

and has a blocked account with both the Bank of Montreal (“BMO”) and Toronto-

Dominion Bank (“TD”) solely for the purpose of sweeping and processing debt service 

payments. 

198. Since December 2020, LU has taken steps to alter its cash management system to better 

manage the various sources of cash that are provided to LU, which included opening three 

new bank accounts.  Today, LU’s cash management system includes the following bank 

accounts: 

(a) operating bank accounts where all grants, tuition and ancillary revenues are 

received, and through which disbursements are made; 

(b) the investment account with SEI (which holds the endowment funds); 

(c) the blocked accounts with BMO and TD; 

(d) a bank account dedicated to all research grants and award funding; 

(e) a bank account for all other restricted funds, other than certain restricted donations 

that are received through a dedicated account which funds will remain in that 

account; and 

(f) a bank account dedicated to the employee and employer contributions to the RHBP. 

199. The changes to the cash management system will allow LU to better account for cash that 

is received for specific purposes, and ensure that such funds are not comingled with other 
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operational amounts such as tuition, enrollment-based grants received from the Province 

and ancillary revenues 

IV. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

200. For the financial information that is described below, I have been advised of same by LU’s 

VP Administration, and believe it to be true. 

A. Financial Statements of LU 

201. As at the close of business on January 28, 2021, LU had approximately $13 million in 

unrestricted cash on hand, after allowing for known payments that were due on that day.  

LU does not prepare interim quarterly financial statements and the audited annual financial 

statements are the most recent available financial statements in the last twelve months.  A 

copy of LU’s audited consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended April 30, 

2020, are attached hereto as Exhibit “OO”.  

202. As at April 30, 2020, LU’s assets had a book value of approximately $358.5 million and 

LU’s liabilities were valued as follows: 

(CAD $’000s) April 30, 2020 
ASSETS 
Current 
Cash and short-term investments 4,544 
Accounts receivable 27,045 
Other current assets 1,650 

33,239 
Non-current 
Accounts receivable 169 
Investments 52,845 
Employee future benefit assets - 
Capital assets 272,267 
TOTAL ASSETS 358,520 

LIABILITIES, DEFFERED CONTRIBUTIONS  
AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities 
Line of credit 14,400 
Short-term loan 1,367 
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,319 
Accrued vacation pay 1,846
Deferred revenue 1,009 
Current portion of long-term debt 2,738 

43,679 
Long-term obligations 
Long-term debt 88,973 
Employee future benefits liabilities 20,788 

109,761 
Deferred contributions
Deferred contributions 38,519 
Deferred capital contributions 129,879 

168,398 
Net assets
Unrestricted (19,986) 
Vacation and employee future benefits (22,635) 
Internally restricted 3,848 
Investment in capital assets 22,610 
Endowment 52,845 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED 
CONTRIBUTIONS AND NET ASSETS

358,520 

B. Assets 

203. As at April 30, 2020, LU had assets with a book value totaling approximately $358 million, 

of which approximately $33 million is comprised of current assets such as cash and short-

term investments, accounts receivable and other current assets. 

204. The remaining assets of LU consist primarily of investments in LU’s segregated 

endowment fund ($53 million) and capital assets ($272 million), comprising LU’s land and 

buildings. 

i. Capital Assets 

205. The capital assets of LU are comprised of: (i) buildings, (ii) equipment and furnishing, (iii) 

site improvements, (iv) land; and (v) an art and library collection.  The book value of the 

capital assets (except land) are derived by their cost less accumulated amortization.  As of 

April 30, 2020, the book value of buildings is approximately $249 million, equipment is 
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approximately $7 million and site improvement is approximately $2 million.  The land has 

a book value of approximately $13 million. 

206. In addition to the land and buildings on LU’s main campus, the capital assets of LU consist 

of other buildings and real property in and around the Sudbury area such as the Art Gallery 

Building located at 251 John Street, the President’s House located at 179 John Street, the 

Vale Living with Lakes Centre at 840 Ramsey Lake Road and the McEwen School of 

Architecture located in downtown Sudbury at 85 Elm Street. 

ii. Investments 

207. LU’s investments consist solely of its endowment fund created through historic gifts and 

donations from third parties to LU for the specific purpose of funding scholarships at LU.  

As of April 30, 2020, LU’s endowment fund is approximately $53 million.  As described 

previously, approximately $14 million of that is in respect of endowment funds received 

for NOSM students. 

208. LU’s endowment fund has been treated as not being accessible for operational purposes as 

it is only to be used for limited purposes such as the funding of student scholarships and 

other commitments supported by the fund.  For 2020-2021, LU has set a spending rate of 

2.5% of the endowment fund. 

209. The endowment fund is comprised of an investment portfolio that holds the following asset 

classes: equity funds ($22 million), fixed income ($26 million), structured credit ($1.8 

million) and real estate ($2.7 million). 

210. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the investment portfolio yielded a negative return 

for the 2019-2020 fiscal year, requiring LU to fund from its operations the shortfall of the 
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spending rate from 2019-2020 and a portion from 2018-2019.  That shortfall was 

approximately $1.8 million. 

211. Since access to the assets in the endowment fund is treated as limited to the specific 

purposes described above, these assets have not been accessed by LU for operational 

purposes or to satisfy any obligations and liabilities. 

V. LIABILITIES OF THE APPLICANT 

212. As at April 30, 2020, LU had liabilities with a book value totaling approximately $322 

million, of which approximately $43 million is comprised of current liabilities, including 

$14.4 million for unsecured lines of credit (which as of today’s date, have not been utilized 

due to LU’s insolvency), a short-term loan, accounts payable, the current portion of long-

term debt, accrued vacation pay and deferred revenue. 

213. As at April 30, 2020, LU had deferred contributions with a book value of approximately 

$168 million, of which approximately $130 million consists of deferred capital 

contributions and $38 million consists of deferred external contributions for research and 

other expenses to be incurred in subsequent fiscal years. 

214. The remaining long-term liabilities are mostly comprised of LU’s long-term debt and 

future pension benefit liabilities in respect of LU’s employees and those of the Federated 

Universities whose employees are members of the Plan. 

215. As of January 29, 2021, LU is current on all statutory priority payables for which it is 

responsible, including with respect to SNOLab, MIRARCO and CEMI, which LU 

administers payroll on behalf of. 
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A. PPSA Registrations 

216. Based on the searches conducted in the Personal Property Security Registration System 

(the “PPSA Registry”) for “Laurentian University of Sudbury”, the only security interest 

registrations made against LU are with respect to certain computer equipment lessors. 

217. A copy of a certified search of the PPSA Registry as at January 26, 2021, with respect to 

LU is attached hereto as Exhibit “PP”.  

B. Unsecured Lines of Credit and Short-Term Credit Facility 

218. LU had access to two unsecured revolving credit facilities with two financial institutions.  

Pursuant to a letter agreement most recently dated May 1, 2019, between LU and Caisse 

Populaire Voyageurs Inc. (“Desjardins”), LU had access to a revolving demand loan 

facility up to the maximum amount of $26 million (the “Desjardins Line of Credit”).  The 

Desjardins Line of Credit provides that it may be used to finance daily operations, however, 

the agreement also provides that the revolving demand loan facility is for the purposes of 

providing short-term variable rate financing of internal projects.  Attached hereto as 

Exhibit “QQ” is a copy of the agreement governing the Desjardins Line of Credit. 

219. Due to the nature of LU’s cyclical revenue cycle and the timing of when tuition payments 

and grant amounts are received by LU annually, the Desjardins Line of Credit is only 

needed at specific times during the year.  For example, during the summer months, LU 

utilizes the full amount of the Desjardins Line of Credit. When tuition is received in 

September, the Desjardins Line of Credit is typically paid down and is not drawn again 

during the Fall. However, LU typically draws on the Desjardins Line of Credit again in 

February.  At this time, no amounts are drawn on the Desjardins Line of Credit. 
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220. Upon filing for CCAA protection, LU will no longer have access to the Desjardins Line of 

Credit. Accordingly, LU is seeking DIP financing at the comeback hearing, as discussed 

below. 

221. Pursuant to a letter agreement most recently dated June 12, 2019 (as amended from time 

to time, the “RBC Credit Facilities Agreement”), between LU and RBC, LU had access 

to, among other credit facilities with RBC, a demand revolving facility with availability of 

up to a maximum principal amount of $5 million (the “RBC Line of Credit”).  Similar to 

the Desjardins Line of Credit discussed above, LU would draw on the RBC Line of Credit 

at various times of the year based on its immediate cash requirements.  In addition to the 

RBC Line of Credit, RBC provided LU with a $250,000 revolving demand facility in 

respect of letters of guarantee.  Attached hereto as Exhibit “RR” is a copy of the RBC 

Credit Facilities Agreement. 

222. Pursuant to a letter agreement dated October 3, 2005 (as amended on May 30, 2008, June 

1, 2009 and July 27, 2016, the “TD Credit Facility Agreement”), among other credit 

facilities, The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD Bank”) provided LU with a single draw 

committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $2,000,000, with a 

maturity date of April 3, 2021, for financing in respect of the Athletic Facility. As of 

January 29, 2021, the outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $1,323,626 

(exclusive of accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is not entitled 

to draw further amounts under this facility. 

C. Guarantees 

223. In accordance with a Guarantee dated June 27, 2018, LU guaranteed the obligations owed 

by the Laurentian University Students’ General Association (“SGA”) to TD Bank up to 
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the maximum principal amount of $8,500,000 pursuant to a Letter Agreement between 

SGA and TD Bank dated April 10, 2018 which is attached hereto as Exhibit “SS”. 

Attached hereto as Exhibit “TT” is a copy of the Guarantee dated June 27, 2018. 

D. Unsecured Long-term Debt 

224. In addition to its short-term unsecured lines of credit with Desjardins and RBC, LU has 

unsecured long-term debt obligations to Bank of Montreal, RBC and TD Canada Trust. 

Bank of Montreal 

225. Pursuant to a term sheet, fixed rate promissory note and an ISDA Master Agreement 

(collectively, the “BMO Facility”), each dated November 12, 2004, LU and BMO entered 

into an unsecured fixed rate term loan and fixed rate operating loan with an interest rate 

SWAP option up to the maximum principal amount of $4,116,098 (the “BMO Credit 

Facility”).  The term of the BMO Credit Facility is 20 years. 

226. On June 16, 2020, LU requested and BMO agreed to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments under the BMO Credit Facility for a period of several months.  As of today’s 

date, approximately $1.3 million is outstanding under the BMO Facility.  A copy of the 

credit facility agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “UU”. 

Royal Bank of Canada 

227. Pursuant to the RBC Credit Facilities Agreement, in addition to the RBC Line of Credit, 

RBC has provided LU with the following additional unsecured credit facilities: 

(a) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$13,547,000, with a maturity date of November 22, 2040, the proceeds of which 

were used by LU to finance the construction of a new building on LU’s campus; 
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(b) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$17,994,000, with a maturity date of October 7, 2042, the proceeds of which were 

used as takeout financing of a new residence located on LU’s campus (the 

“Residence Takeout Facility”); 

(c) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of 

$40,509,000, with a maturity date of December 15, 2041, the proceeds of which 

were used as takeout financing of the Sudbury Campus Modernization Project; and 

(d) a fully advanced non-revolving term facility in the principal amount of $3,616,000, 

with a maturity date of May 31, 2023, the proceeds of which were used as takeout 

financing in respect of a renovation loan in respect of a single student residence 

(the “Renovation Takeout Facility”) 

(collectively, the “RBC Credit Facilities”). 

228. On or about June 25, 2020, LU requested, and RBC agreed, to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments for a period of several months in respect of the Residence Takeout Facility and 

the Renovation Takeout Facility. 

229. Pursuant to the RBC Credit Facilities Agreement, LU has, among other things, covenanted 

not to grant, create, assume or suffer any charge, security interest or encumbrance affecting 

any of its properties or assets without the written consent of RBC. 

230. Commencing January 11, 2021, LU engaged in open discussions with RBC with respect to 

its financial situation and the contingency planning exercises underway.  Those discussions 

included advising RBC that LU was already in discussions with prospective DIP lenders 
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and requesting whether RBC would consider providing DIP financing on an expedited 

basis. 

231. As a result of LU’s financial situation, LU could not satisfy the conditions precedent to 

borrow any additional amounts under the RBC Credit Facilities and LU advised RBC that 

it did not intend to make any further draws on any of the RBC Credit Facilities. 

232. As a result, on January 15, 2021, RBC delivered a letter through counsel advising that all 

availability under the RBC Credit Facilities were cancelled.  However, all cash balances in 

RBC bank accounts have continued to be available to LU. 

Toronto-Dominion Bank 

233. Pursuant to the TD Credit Facility Agreement, TD Bank has provided LU with the 

following unsecured credit facilities:  

(a) committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $14,800,000, 

with a maturity date of August 31, 2021, used to pay out a previous facility 

advanced by TD Bank for the construction of a student residence. As of January 

29, 2021, the outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $10,575,875 

(exclusive of accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is 

not entitled to draw further amounts under this facility; and 

(b) committed reducing term facility in the initial principal amount of $6,150,000 

(subsequently increased to $10,000,000), with a maturity date of September 30, 

2018 (which was extended to September 28, 2023), used to pay out previous 

facilities advanced by TD Bank and Infrastructure Ontario for the construction of a 

new Athletic Facility and to convert to long term debt. As of January 29, 2021, the 
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outstanding principal balance owing under this facility is $6,570,917 (exclusive of 

accrued interest and costs). This is a single draw facility and LU is not entitled to 

draw further amounts under this facility. 

234. Pursuant to the TD Credit Facility Agreement, LU has covenanted that its indebtedness 

under the TD Credit Facility Agreement to TD Bank will rank at least pari passu with all 

other obligations of LU.  A copy of the TD Credit Facility Agreement is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “VV”.  

235. On or about June 25, 2020, LU requested, and TD Bank agreed, to provide certain payment 

accommodations to LU in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and defer principal 

payments for a period of several months in respect of the TD Credit Facility Agreement. 

236. Commencing January 11, 2021, LU engaged in open discussions with TD Bank with 

respect to its financial situation and the contingency planning exercises underway.  Those 

discussions included advising TD Bank that LU was already in discussions with 

prospective DIP lenders and requesting whether TD Bank would consider providing DIP 

financing on an expedited basis. 

237. Below is a summary of the long-term debt obligations of LU (in thousands) as at April 30, 

2020 and as reflected in the notes to the annual financial statements: 

Bank Maturity Amount 
Outstanding

BMO 2024 1,366
RBC 2040 13,187
RBC 2043 17,573
RBC 2023 2,770
RBC 2042 39,496
TD 2036 10,647
TD 2043 6,672
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TOTAL LONG-
TERM DEBT 

91,711

E. Interest Rate Swaps 

238. In order to manage its long-term interest rate risk, LU entered into a series of interest rate 

swap transactions with its lenders.  In each case, LU agreed to pay a fixed rate of interest 

on a notional principal amount and the counterparty lender agreed to pay a variable rate of 

interest on a notional principal amount based on the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate 

(“CDOR”). 

239. As the interest rate swap transactions correspond to certain of LU’s long-term debt 

obligations, the notional principal amount outstanding varies month to month in 

accordance with the amortization schedules appended to the interest rate swap 

confirmations.  The net impact of these interest rate swap transactions to LU has been a net 

monthly cash outflow of approximately $340,000.  Copies of the swap confirmations for 

the interest rate swap transactions separated by financial institution are attached hereto as 

Exhibits “WW” (RBC), “XX” (TD) and “YY” (BMO). 

F. Employee Future Benefits 

240. As described above, LU has three post-employment benefit plans.  On an annual basis, LU 

determines its obligations for its employee future benefits using certain funding 

assumptions within the financial statements of LU. 

241. In fiscal year 2019 - 2020, LU reduced the discount rate used in the calculation of future 

employee benefits, which had the corresponding effect of increasing the liability 

component to the post-employment benefit plans.  The decrease in the discount rate was 

caused by the reduction of overnight interest rates by the Bank of Canada in response to 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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242. A lower discount rate resulted in a net increase in total plan liability after the asset value 

of the investments as at April 30, 2020. 

G. Deferred Contributions 

243. The deferred contribution amounts on LU’s balance sheet represent funds that have been 

received by LU in advance of the related expense being incurred and in respect of which 

the funds were designated by the payor for a specific purpose.  Such purposes include: 

(a) Research Grants:  Grants received pursuant to specific research awards that in 

many cases are received in advance of the research actually being undertaken.  

These funds are required to be held and only used for the specific research 

contemplated in the grant and only for qualifying types of expenditures; 

(b) Restricted Donations:  Donations or other contributions received with a 

requirement that the funds are to be used for specific purposes; and 

(c) Scholarships:  Donations or funds received specifically to fund scholarships to 

students. 

244. Deferred research contributions include external research grants that faculty members have 

received which have outstanding allocations for 2021 to, among other things, pay students, 

fund research projects and research equipment purchases, and to transfer to affiliated 

research partners. 

245. Contracts associated with research grants typically include the amount and designated 

purpose for which the funds are allocated. Most contracts also contain certain provisions 

with respect to financial administration obligations. For example, universities receiving 

funds from the Tri-Agencies are governed by the Tri-Agency Guide on Financial 
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Administration and are further bound by the Agreement on the Administration of Agency 

Grants and Awards by Research Institutions (the “Tri-Agency Agreement”).  Typically, 

these agreements provide for reporting obligations and that the funds received by LU must 

be used for the specific purpose intended by the grant or award.  In the case of the Tri-

Agency Agreement, it requires LU to establish a separate account for each grant or award. 

246. As of December 30, 2020, LU had a liability of approximately $36.5 million in respect of 

deferred contributions, which have been allocated in the internal general ledger.  Although 

funds which comprise deferred contributions are received by LU for an intended purpose, 

historically, the funds have been received and deposited into LU’s sole operating account 

and comingled with all other sources of revenue.  As a result of the current financial 

position of LU, those funds have been spent and there are no funds set aside or available 

to satisfy the obligations represented by these deferred contributions. 

247. I understand that it is not uncommon for Ontario universities to deposit research grants and 

awards into their main operating account. However, it is not an issue with universities that 

have sufficient cash. In this case, it is LU's liquidity crisis and insolvency over a number 

of years that have caused the issue because LU used those research grant and award funds 

for operating purposes. 

248. This issue may impact LU’s ability to meet its research obligations as they become due, 

which may cause an event of default under certain research contracts it has entered into 

privately and with the Tri-Agencies.  LU’s access to research funding may be negatively 

impacted in the future if corrective actions are not taken to rectify these historical issues. 
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249. Although LU cannot retroactively remedy the amounts received on account of historical 

deferred contributions, LU implemented measures in December 2020 to account for and 

separately track all funds that are received by LU for a specific purpose.  As discussed 

above, LU implemented a new cash management system to allow LU to appropriately 

manage future research grant and award funding received. 

250. The new cash management system and processes contemplate that new incoming restricted 

funds will be deposited and held in the appropriate dedicated bank accounts until such time 

as the underlying obligations as specified in the research grant or donation have been 

satisfied, at which time LU will reimburse itself for such costs from the segregated account. 

251. Going forward, LU intends to continue to utilize the segregated bank account system 

established for all deferred contribution funds received and will advise agencies and donors 

of the establishment of these new bank accounts.  However, there may be an interim period 

whereby these funds are first received in LU’s general operating account until updated 

banking information for the new accounts can be provided to the sources for these 

payments.  In the circumstances, members of LU’s finance department will track receipts 

and transfer funds into the appropriate segregated account where they will be held for the 

specific purpose intended. 

H. Deferred Capital Contributions 

252. As at April 30, 2020, LU had a deferred capital contributions liability of approximately 

$129 million. This represents donations, grants or other contributions previously received 

by Laurentian to fund capital projects.  This amount is amortized or recognized as income 

over a period consistent with the amortization of the capital assets.  As a result, this amount 

does not represent a future cash liability of LU.  
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253. LU assesses the condition of its buildings and other assets and estimates the amount (the 

“Deferred Maintenance Amount”) required to be spent on maintenance and other 

improvement-type items to ensure that the buildings remain in a good state of repair.  This 

Deferred Maintenance Amount is not recorded on LU’s financial statements because it is 

not an obligation that has been incurred, although it does represent future obligations that 

may need to be incurred to maintain the infrastructure, unless LU reduces its footprint.  

Currently, LU’s estimate of the Deferred Maintenance Amount is approximately $135 

million. 

254. LU has allocated 1.5% of operating revenues, including the amounts received from the 

MCU under the Facilities Renewal Grant, in its annual budget since 2017 (approximately 

$2.3 million in 2020-21) to deferred maintenance contributions in order to deal with 

required capital and building repairs.  It is very likely that the budgeted amount is not 

sufficient to manage the deferred maintenance needs of LU. However, as a result of LU’s 

financial circumstances it is unable to contribute any additional amounts. 

255. In the event that there are a series of significant and expensive maintenance projects that 

require immediate attention by LU, it would be extremely difficult for LU to address these 

issues without obtaining further external financing.  Through these CCAA proceedings, 

LU intends to address its underlying financial difficulties, which will allow LU to 

normalize amounts allocated to deferred maintenance. 

I. Litigation 

256. LU is currently involved in several outstanding litigation matters. I am advised by the 

General Counsel of LU, that the outstanding litigation that LU is a party to generally 

consists of: 
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(a) Construction Claims brought by LU: LU has initiated a claim for damages 

against several contractors and subcontractors in the amount of approximately 

$2,500,000 with respect to certain alleged deficiencies in the cladding work on the 

School of Education building. Further, LU has initiated a separate claim for breach 

of contract damages against Bondfield Construction Company Ltd. (“Bondfield”) 

in the amount of approximately $2,500,000 as well as a claim against Travelers 

Insurance Company for $2,000,000; 

(b) Construction Lien Claims: Several subcontractors have registered construction 

liens against the lands owned by LU in relation to the McEwen School of 

Architecture project. The aggregate amount of the outstanding construction liens is 

approximately $5.9 million made by the following six lien claimants: (i) Accel 

Electrical Contractors Limited, (ii) BBM Excavating Company Ltd., (iii) F&M 

Caulking Ltd., (iv) Forma-Con Construction, (v) Interpaving Ltd. And (vi) Sandro 

Steel Fabrication Ltd.;

(c) Civil Claims: There are several minor civil litigation claims brought by and against 

LU; 

(d) Human Rights Claims: There are four current human rights applications brought 

against LU for various alleged acts of discrimination; 

(e) Litigation Covered by Insurer: Several claims for damages are covered by LU’s 

insurance policies and are being defended by the insurer and its respective counsel; 

and 
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(f) Data Breach Class Action:  LU is a named party to a proposed $40 million class 

action claim in respect of a security incident that resulted in the personal and 

confidential information of certain LU students being disclosed without permission.  

As of today’s date, the proposed class action has not been certified to proceed as a 

class action and the claims against LU have not been evaluated on their merits. 

257. A summary of the outstanding litigation matters described above is attached hereto as 

Exhibit “ZZ”.  

258. With respect to the construction projects on property and buildings owned by LU, I have 

been advised by the University Secretary and General Counsel at LU that pursuant to the 

Construction Act (Ontario), LU is required to holdback 10% of the price of the services or 

materials as they are actually supplied under the contract until all liens have been expired 

or satisfied.  Based on information provided to me by the VP Administration and the LU 

Finance team, I understand that LU is responsible for approximately $3 million in unpaid 

holdback.  While these obligations were recorded for internal accounting purposes as being 

held in trust, since LU uses only one operating account and has no trust accounts, LU does 

not have the requisite funds required to pay the holdback amounts. 

259. As of January 8, 2021, LUFA has filed approximately 102 active grievances and one 

ongoing Unfair Labour Practice complaint. I am advised by LU’s labour counsel Michael 

Kennedy of Hicks Morley LLP, who also acts for other universities, that the number of 

grievances at LU is considerably higher than he has seen at other universities in Ontario.  

During the fiscal years 2018/2019 and 2019/2020, LU’s legal costs associated with 

grievances and complaints were $328,303 and $379,276, respectively. The most common 
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issues described in these grievances are challenges to LU’s management rights, allegations 

of insufficient resources and challenges to promotion or performance assessments. There 

are a further two active grievances filed by LUSU and none by CUPE. 

260. In the summer of 2020, LUFA brought an application for judicial review of the Provost 

and VP Academic’s decision to suspend admissions to 17 academic programs which all 

had either low or very low enrolment. In some instances, these programs had 2-3 students. 

The Provost and VP Academic reached this conclusion after discussions with the various 

Deans and the future of the programs was then to be put to the Academic Planning 

Committee in the Senate.  LUFA’s application argues that the jurisdiction to make 

decisions on academic programs lies solely with the Senate. The decision to suspend 

admissions to programs as being within the purview of the Provost and VP Academic is 

supported by the Ontario Universities Council on Quality Assurance (“CQA”), which is 

the provincial body responsible for assuring the quality of all programs leading to degrees 

and graduate diplomas. A copy of the letter from the CQA dated January 22, 2021 

approving the decision is attached hereto as Exhibit “AAA”. 

VI. CASH FLOW FORECAST 

261. Attached as Exhibit “BBB” is a statement of the projected 13-week cash flow forecast (the 

“Cash Flow Statement”) of LU for the week beginning February 1, 2021 to the week 

ending April 30, 2021.  The Cash Flow Statement was prepared with the assistance of Ernst 

& Young Inc. (“EY”), the Proposed Monitor herein. 

262. The Cash Flow Statement demonstrates that if the relief requested is granted, including the 

approval of the DIP Facility (as defined below) at the comeback hearing, LU has sufficient 

liquidity to meet its obligations during the initial 13-week period of a CCAA filing. 
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VII. INSOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY CRISIS 

A. Historical Long-Term Financial Stability Initiatives 

263. LU’s financial issues were first identified as early as 2008-09 when a previous 

administration presented a budget to the Board that would not likely be balanced for the 

2008-2009 academic year, with little to no improvement for the future financial prospects 

of LU absent any change.  Although that budget was approved, the Board expected the 

financial situation to be remedied as a top priority item. 

264. During the summer of 2008, the acting President of LU convened a retreat of the entire 

leadership team at LU to launch a process to create a plan to address the current and future 

financial prospects of LU.  This retreat led to the formation of a Core Transition Group 

Committee (“CTG Committee”) made up of fifteen employees of LU from management 

and faculty to meet on a weekly basis to examine the various components identified at the 

retreat with a view to drafting a go-forward plan to present to the Board.  The CTG 

Committee prepared a Plan for Regaining Sustainability at LU (the “2009 Plan”) and 

presented it to the Board on December 18, 2008 and again on February 20, 2009.  The 

Board approved the implementation of the 2009 Plan, expected to occur over a three-year 

period, during the February meeting.  A copy of the 2009 Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“CCC”. 

265. Pursuant to the 2009 Plan, the CTG Committee recommended a number of measures such 

as: (i) efforts to increase domestic and international enrolment, (ii) an increased internet 

presence through a revamped website, (iii) an integrated marketing and communications 

strategy, (iv) the retention of first-year students, international students and aboriginal 

students, (v) a reorganization of several upper management positions to eliminate 
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inefficiencies and provide for a better decision-making process, and (vi) the establishment 

of the “Next 50 Campaign”– an initiative to raise $50 million in cash and pledges. 

266. The 2009 Plan also identified that the growth of LU would lead to a severe shortage of 

space and a corresponding need for new capital projects.  Beginning in 2014, LU undertook 

a $64 million Campus Modernization Project for the construction of approximately 

250,000 sq. ft. of classrooms, research, study and public space. 

267. The Campus Modernization Project involved LU incurring a substantial amount of long-

term debt (approximately $40 million) to pay for the construction of buildings and facilities 

to modernize the campus in order to accommodate LU’s historical growth and fuel the 

projected enrolment growth.  LU elected to defer repayment of the principal amounts 

borrowed until after construction was completed, leading to the accrual of further interest. 

268. LU approved further significant investments in the 2014-15 budget to further support the 

2012-2017 strategic plan outcomes, graduate expansion strategy and enrolment growth 

targets. 

269. When the Board approved the 2016-17 operating budget, LU forecasted operational 

deficits continuing through 2021-22 leading to an accumulated operational deficit of 

greater than $43 million.  The Board took steps to address the issue and in February 2017, 

the Board approved the Long-Term Sustainability Report (the “2017 Report”).  The 2017 

Report highlighted the need to take a hard look at areas where LU could reduce costs and 

increase revenues in an effort to improve LU’s financial outlook.  It also outlined that many 

of the measures required to achieve long-term sustainability will take time to implement 
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and will generate benefits that start small and increase over time. A redacted copy of the 

Long-Term Sustainability Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “DDD”.

270. In June 2017, the Board approved the 2017-18 Budget and the multi-year projected 

revenues and expenses for 2018-2019 to 2022-2023.  This budget included savings targets 

and forecasted a deficit of $889,000 for 2018-19.  

271. In response to the financial challenges faced by LU, including the unexpected enrolment 

decline in Fall 2017, steps were taken by academic and non-academic senior leaders and 

other support resources to implement on-going sustainability measures identified in the 

2017 Report and various other measures identified and informed by feedback from staff 

and faculty. Since 2018, LU and its senior leaders have tried to identify all potential sources 

of savings, efficiencies, cost avoidances and new sources of revenue in an effort to address 

its financial challenges and the accumulated operational deficit. 

272. At one point, LU delivered programs at Georgian College in Barrie, beginning in 2001.  

After the term of the original agreements expired in 2014, LU and Georgian College 

engaged in negotiations to continue the relationship.  LU considered a major expansion in 

Barrie, however, negotiations stalled with Georgian College and the MCU. Declining 

revenues and increasing expenses associated with the delivery of programs in Barrie, 

together with the failed expansion, resulted in the decision to close the Barrie campus being 

made in February 2016. 

273. The Barrie campus ultimately closed in May 2019. As a result of the closure, LU 

experienced an overall decline in enrolment in 2017 and additional one-time and on-going 

faculty costs.  LU also lost the enrolment of many international students as a result of 
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foreign policy issues in 2018.  Notably, Saudi Arabia ordered its international students 

studying in Canada to relocate to educational institutions in other countries as a result of a 

diplomatic dispute with the Canadian government. Prior to this dispute, there were 163 

students from Saudi Arabia enrolled at LU in Fall 2017.  This enrollment decreased to 26 

students from Saudi Arabia in Fall 2018. 

274. These stresses on LU’s revenue were exacerbated by changes made to the tuition fee 

structure across the Province.  The Provincial Tuition Fee Framework for 2019-20 and 

2020-21 required all universities in Ontario to reduce domestic tuition fees by 10% and the 

Province implemented a subsequent tuition freeze.  This had the impact of a permanent 

loss of $5.5 million in revenue in 2019-20, including the foregone ability to increase rates 

by 3%. This projected loss of revenue compounds to approximately $6.8 million in 2020-

21.  The MCU provided a one-time Northern Tuition Sustainability Grant in 2019-20 in 

the amount of $4.3 million, of which $0.2 million was shared with each of the Federated 

Universities A further aggravating factor related to the tuition decrease and freeze is that 

prior to the implementation of the Provincial Tuition Fee Framework, LU’s fees were 

already below the allowed maximum amount of tuition fees set by the Province as a result 

of a past strategic decision made by LU that was designed to increase enrolment. 

275. At the same time as the tuition freeze, LU received less funding from certain MCU grants 

(such as the Graduate Capital Grant and Teacher Education Stabilization Grant). In 2020-

2021, LU anticipates a decline in the funding of the Core Enrolment grant due to declining 

domestic enrolments, including from the closure of the Barrie campus. 
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276. With the exception of the modest growth experienced in 2020, enrolment has declined each 

year from 2015 to 2018 and tuition fees remain low, while labour and debt servicing costs 

have grown substantially.  LU’s academic costs are generally higher as a percentage of 

total costs than other Ontario universities.  LU has made efforts to reduce administrative 

costs which has resulted in a situation in which the reduced administrative staff has limited 

ability to focus on potential revenue-generating projects, while academic costs have 

become unsustainable. 

277. During the previous decade, LU has not periodically re-evaluated its offered programs to 

ensure it is focusing on programs that reflect current student demands.  For example, 

demand for Faculty of Arts programs have declined while demand for business and 

engineering programs has increased.  LU has not typically made program changes to align 

with these shifts in demand. 

278. Finally, the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which is discussed below, has 

further derailed LU’s efforts to achieve financial sustainability. 

279. Despite the continued and best efforts of members of the LU administration, a fundamental 

change to the status quo is required. 

B. Impact of COVID-19 

280. Upon the declaration by the World Health Organization of the COVID-19 pandemic, LU 

halted in-person activity, restricted its facilities to staff and students and took steps to move 

to a remote delivery format in March 2020 based on recommendations from Public Health 

Ontario. 
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281. Both the Spring and Summer semesters were transferred to alternate delivery and most of 

the Fall 2020 and Winter 2021 semesters are online, with the delivery of on-campus 

activities where deemed necessary and in accordance with guidance from Public Health 

Ontario. 

282. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, LU continues to face a number of financial and 

operational challenges.  As at December 30, 2020, LU estimates that the impacts associated 

with the COVID-19 pandemic were approximately $5 million in 2019-20 and 

approximately $7.5 million in 2020-21 for a total of approximately $12.5 million since 

March 2020.  These estimates are based on increased costs and decreased revenues, such 

as: 

(a) a decrease in ancillary revenues associated with: (i) less students staying in on-

campus residences owned and operated by LU, (ii) the loss of rental income from 

events and conferences hosted on campus, (iii) the loss of parking income, (iv) the 

loss of food service income, and (iv) reduced student fees and revenue from campus 

recreation services; 

(b) an increase in the employer pension contributions in 2020-2021 and an increase in 

the associated future employee benefits liability as a result of the reduction in the 

Bank of Canada’s overnight lending rate, resulting in a decrease to the discount rate 

used in such calculations; 

(c) increased costs associated with the implementation of additional protective 

measures designed to reduce or eliminate the risk of COVID-19 transmission on-

campus when students, faculty and staff are required to be physically present; and 
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(d) endowment investment return declines related to COVID-19 affected scholarships 

paid from operations, as of April 30, 2020. 

283. LU received $0.8 million in one-time COVID relief funding from MCU.  In addition, in 

response to known and potential COVID-19 impacts, LU amended and accelerated its 

sustainability plan to reduce reliance on revenue growth and focus on cost reductions and 

structural change to address its financial challenges.   In addition, a series of one-time fiscal 

restraint measures were implemented to reduce spending in an attempt to mitigate the 

projected losses in 2020-21.  The COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, and LU 

continues to adopt strategies to ensure that students continue to receive high quality 

education in the safest possible environment at LU.  However, given that the outcome and 

timeframe to a recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic is highly unpredictable, it is 

difficult to estimate the pandemic’s effect on future operations and the financial situation 

of LU. 

C. Discussions with the Provincial Government 

284. Concurrent with the exploration of contingency planning scenarios, LU has been 

completely transparent with the MCU regarding the financial challenges it faces, has 

provided details to the MCU regarding its financial situation and the concerns that are 

described herein, and the outcome if the efforts undertaken by LU could not achieve the 

required results. 

285. Discussions regarding LU’s financial challenges occurred with MCU during the Strategic 

Mandate Agreement bilateral negotiations which took place from November 2019 to April 

2020, during the summer of 2020 and then again with LU’s external advisors joining the 

discussions in December 2020. 
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286. During these discussions, LU highlighted the benefits that it provides to the community of 

Northern Ontario, but more importantly, the costs and risks associated with attempting an 

informal restructuring outside of a proceeding and the costs and risks associated with a 

potential CCAA restructuring. 

287. In December 2020 and January 2021, I, together with LU’s external counsel and advisors, 

have regularly met with the Minister of Colleges and Universities, several senior staff 

members at the MCU, members of the Treasury Board and senior staff members at the 

Ministry of Finance. 

288. I have been advised that MCU is the lead Ministry on this matter and that MCU has also 

involved the Finance and Treasury functions of the Province and I understand that the 

Premier’s office has been made aware of the situation.  MCU has asked two sets of follow-

up questions, which LU has provided prompt and complete responses to. 

289. In the weeks and days leading up to this application, I have been in frequent communication 

with members of MCU and LU advised the MCU the date that LU would seek to commence 

CCAA proceedings. 

290. More particularly, LU and MCU exchanged correspondence in the ten days prior to filing. 

A copy of the letter from MCU to LU dated January 21, 2021 is attached hereto as 

Confidential Exhibit “EEE” and a copy of the letter from LU to MCU dated January 25, 

2021 is attached hereto as Confidential Exhibit “FFF”.

291. In summary, LU has been in continuous dialogue with MCU and intends to continue this 

dialogue throughout the CCAA proceedings. 
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VIII. OBJECTIVE OF THE CCAA FILING 

A. Proposed Restructuring of LU 

292. Leading up to this application for protection under the CCAA, I have worked with the 

Internal Team to plan for “Laurentian 2.0”.  Externally, Laurentian 2.0 will not look or feel 

much different than LU today because a vast majority of LU students take the most popular 

courses and the delivery of those courses should not materially change.  However, LU will 

be internally overhauled from an operational and financial standpoint to focus on its 

strengths and shed areas of relative weakness or unnecessary costs. 

293. Today, the future of LU could be in jeopardy due to, among others, the following factors: 

(a) a Student-to-Faculty teaching ratio that is far too low when compared to other 

Ontario universities (LU is approximately 20:1); 

(b) as described earlier, the annual cost to educate each student at LU and the Federated 

Universities is approximately $2,000 higher than the average cost when compared 

to other Ontario universities; 

(c) LU employs more faculty members than are required (355), which is one of the 

largest expense items annually for LU; 

(d) LU offers too many undergraduate programs today (132), many of which only have 

a handful of students, leading to programs that do not break-even; and 

(e) in circumstances which LU’s annual revenue is not expected to materially increase 

over the next five years due to declining demographics, LU’s total estimated 

operating expenses for 2020-21 of $156 million, plus increases for inflation, are too 

high. 
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294. To address these operational and financial issues, the implementation of Laurentian 2.0 

will seek to: 

(a) increase the Student-to-Faculty teaching ratio; 

(b) restructure its current academic model to reduce the number of undergraduate 

programs; 

(c) reduce the number of faculty members as a result of the elimination of admissions 

into certain programs and reduce or re-deploy the number of non-faculty members 

as a result of internal reorganization and the elimination of unnecessary cost 

centres; and 

(d) through these measures, significantly reduce expenses. 

295. The Laurentian 2.0 framework seeks to accomplish the foregoing through: 

(a) Restructuring the Academic Model by streamlining academic programming and 

delivery through the reduction of number of programs, restructuring academic 

supports and terminating the agreements and relationship with the Federated 

Universities; and 

(b) Restructuring the Business Model by updating business operations, restructuring 

existing obligations through a compromise in the CCAA and ultimately balancing 

the budget.

296. Due to the unique bicameral nature of the university, the structure of the Federated 

Universities and LU’s Unions and the many challenges it faces, LU requires the platform 

of a Court-supervised proceeding to effect its proposed restructuring into Laurentian 2.0. 
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297. LU intends to use this CCAA proceeding to commence an intensive mediation with certain 

of its stakeholders that can be conducted within a relatively short time frame, as a necessary 

pre-condition to determining if a financially sustainable outcome can be achieved.  Given 

LU’s significant cash requirements, the availability and extent of DIP financing, and the 

timing of the academic year for programs and students in September 2021, a determination 

must be made expeditiously as to whether, and if so on what terms, that may be 

accomplished. 

298. More particularly, during this CCAA proceeding, LU intends to: 

(a) complete its review of the breadth of academic programs offered at LU to ensure 

that adequate students are enrolling in programs and classes to justify their 

continuance at LU and engaging in discussions with the Senate of LU in respect of 

same; 

(b) re-evaluate the Federated Universities model in such a way that the historic 

significance of the Federated Universities can be preserved while ensuring that the 

relationships reflect the current realities of each organization; 

(c) use the CCAA proceeding as a platform for negotiations with its unions regarding 

what LU must look like in the future and ensuring that a restructured LU can be 

aligned with collective agreements that will facilitate its future sustainability; 

(d) identify opportunities for future revenue generation; 

(e) focus on refining the student experience at LU so that students continue to receive 

a top-notch education at a university that they enjoy attending; 
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(f) consider available options for addressing its current and long-term indebtedness to 

its lenders; and 

(g) ultimately, implement the Laurentian 2.0 framework. 

B. Evaluation of Federated Universities Model 

299. In 2019, LU provided notice of a change in the funding agreement between LU and each 

of the Federated Universities.  While this amendment was necessary to make the funding 

arrangements consistent with metrics in respect of tuition and grants from the Province, 

further work is required.  LU estimates that the Federated Universities model costs LU 

approximately $5 million each year. 

300. Currently, the Federated Universities have duplicative organizational infrastructure, 

functions and services.  Although LU respects the autonomy of the Federated Universities, 

the Federated Universities also have financial challenges.  One successful outcome of this 

CCAA proceeding may be the remolding of the Federated Universities model in such a 

way that creates economies of efficiency for LU and the Federated Universities while 

maintaining the historical significance and identities of the Federated Universities. 

301. This Court-supervised proceeding will assist LU in focusing its discussions and 

negotiations with leadership of the Federated Universities to arrive at a compromise and 

solution that is acceptable and, more importantly, ensures the long-term sustainability of 

LU.  If necessary, LU may utilize the proposed mediation to address and resolve the 

Federated Universities model. 
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C. Restructuring of Program Offerings 

302. As summarized above, LU offers too many courses with low enrolment levels that cause 

the offering of such course to be financially unsustainable.  Although LU recognizes that 

not every course offered will have consistently high levels of enrolment, LU cannot 

continue to offer courses and programs where there are less than ten students enrolled.  The 

financial resources required to continue offering such courses are too great in 

circumstances which LU is insolvent. 

303. The Provost of LU, working with members of the Senate, the various faculties and 

academic departments has taken a number of steps to academically restructure LU to save 

costs:  

(a) on July 30, 2020, by way of report to the Senate (the “July 30 Report”), the interim 

Vice-President, Academic and Provost of LU identified 17 academic programs 

requiring temporary suspension, pending review by ACAPLAN, the academic 

planning committee of the Senate.  Notwithstanding objection to the 

recommendation at the September 15, 2020 meeting of the Senate, ACAPLAN 

approved a motion on September 18, 2020, directing the Provost of LU to contact 

the programs listed in the July 30 Report to ensure the appropriate processes were 

followed; 

(b) subsequently, an additional suspension of low enrolment programs is being 

considered in accordance with the Senate-approved Institutional Quality Assurance 

Program changes; 
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(c) in Fall 2020, faculties working collegially with Deans and the Provost agreed to 

decrease the number of course offerings for the 2021 Winter Term; 

(d) there are ongoing discussions to create efficiencies by reducing the number of 

Departments and Schools at LU through realignment, mergers and closures; 

(e) LU is moving towards implementing a new responsibility-based budget model, 

which empowers and holds Deans and academic units accountable for activity-

based revenues, expenses and sustainable academic outcomes; and 

(f) in my December report to Senate, I advised that LU has one of the highest education 

costs per student in the Province and that to be sustainable, LU must find ways to 

offer attractive, compelling programming in a way that also increases our student-

to-faculty ratio and brings our cost per student in line with sustainable levels.  

304. In my experience as an academic administrator, the normal course of Senate decision 

making entails extensive collegial committee work and Senate discussions, and takes up to 

one year to complete an academic program review and is only completed every seven years.  

LU does not have the necessary liquidity to sustain it during such a process, while it seeks 

to achieve financial sustainability. 

305. Outside of a CCAA proceeding, LU will not be able to reduce the number of academic 

programs through the Senate in a timely way.  This process must also be completed in an 

expedited fashion so LU can negotiate with LUFA to facilitate a reduction in the number 

of faculty members commensurate with the reduction in academic programs.  Further, LU 

is financially unable to facilitate voluntary retirements or terminations under the LUFA CA 

due to the massive liabilities such actions precipitate, with no means of addressing same. 
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306. In conjunction with its academic restructuring efforts in the Senate, LU is working on 

reducing the number of full-time tenured faculty members such that the student to faculty 

ratios and class sizes that will be comparable to other Ontario comprehensive research 

universities.  LU predicts this will require further reductions in the faculty complement.  

To facilitate reductions, the following measures are being taken: 

(a) there will be no replacement of vacant faculty positions (except for: (i) critical 

positions approved in June 2020 as term contract hires to incentivise retirement, 

and (ii) externally funded research chairs); 

(b) recruitment has been stopped for seven existing vacancies; and 

(c) six retirements are anticipated by June 2021. 

307. In addition to restructuring its program offerings, LU plans to increase academic-related 

revenue streams by implementing various measures, including: 

(a) expanding LU’s continuing education and micro-credential offerings, commencing 

in Spring 2021 which will include additional options for post-graduate training, 

professional development, summer youth camps, bridge programs for university 

admission, customized training programs for employers, specialized opportunities 

related to leadership, management, health and wellness, Indigenous culture and 

Francophone culture.  LU has set a revenue goal for this expansion, net of costs, of 

$1.5 million for 2023; 

(b) developing and enhancing business partnerships in order to deliver programs that 

meet the needs of businesses and the general public in collaboration with other 

postsecondary institutions in the Greater Sudbury area and employers; 
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(c) continuing to focus on the attraction and retention of international students, 

including a focus on competitive international tuition rates to attract and grow 

Francophone enrolment; 

(d) restructuring student services under the leadership of AVP Student Affairs and 

AVP Student Experience, with an aligned focus on recruitment, admissions, health 

and well-being, pedagogical support and increased opportunities for lifelong 

learning; 

(e) focusing on student success, leading to strong employment outcomes that will grow 

student demand, including bilingual and Francophone students;  

(f) implementing a new marketing plan, focused on student recruitment, retention, and 

ancillary operations including targeted recruitment and retention strategies to 

increase domestic and international student enrolment (both undergraduate and 

graduate), with a minimum goal of maintaining current levels of student enrolment 

to counterbalance the declining regional demographic trends; 

(g) continuing to build partnerships with other postsecondary institutions both within 

Canada and internationally to expand articulation opportunities; 

(h) growing philanthropic revenues to support student scholarships and strategic 

priorities/initiatives; and 

(i) reducing LU’s space footprint by a minimum of 20% from current occupancy 

which will create opportunities for revenue generation. 
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IX. RELIEF BEING SOUGHT 

A. Stay of Proceedings and Limited Exemptions 

308. Given LU’s current financial situation, LU requires a broad of stay of proceedings, 

including the stay of pre-filing amounts for goods, services, and principal and interest debt 

obligations, to provide it with the breathing room required to restructure.  I am advised by 

external counsel that the stay of proceedings sought is consistent with the Model Initial 

Order commonly used in CCAA proceedings, subject to certain exemptions described 

below. 

309. As a publicly-funded university, LU is subject to information requests in respect of the 

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (“FIPPA”).  In the ordinary course, 

these requests are handled by the Office of the University Secretary and General Counsel.  

It is expected that one by-product of the CCAA proceeding will be an extraordinary influx 

of FIPPA requests.  LU’s human and financial resources are extremely thin, due in part to 

reductions undertaken over the past several years as a cost-cutting measure.  LU’s already-

thin resources are stretched further by the demands of its insolvency, this CCAA 

proceeding and the “real-time” nature of responses required to extensive information and 

documentation requests from our external advisors and stakeholders.  LU seeks an Order 

that the stay of proceedings will operate to suspend the requirement of LU to respond to 

existing and future FIPPA requests during the currency of the CCAA proceeding. 

310. If the stay of proceedings does not extend to FIPPA requests, the limited resources of LU 

will be further stressed during a critical time period that it needs to focus on its restructuring 

efforts.  This diversion of key resources could negatively affect LU’s ability to achieve a 

successful restructuring.  There are, and will continue to be, numerous means by which 
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interested parties can obtain full disclosure of all material facts throughout this CCAA 

proceeding.  That includes the website hosted by the Monitor, an extensive 

communications plan implemented by LU itself, access to up to date information on LU’s 

website, and through public statements, communications, Q&As and similar documents 

disseminated.  

Limited Stay for Students General Association 

311. As described herein, the finances and operations of LU are intertwined with certain entities 

that, while they are not related parties to LU, the commencement of proceedings under the 

CCAA may affect such parties.  At this time, LU believes that only one entity, the SGA, 

may be directly affected by the CCAA proceedings of LU due to the SGA’s credit facility 

in the amount of $8.5 million being guaranteed by LU.  At this time, LU seeks a limited 

stay of proceedings in favour of the SGA. 

312. The stay of proceedings in respect of the SGA is limited in nature in that it prevents any 

person from: (i) commencing proceedings against the SGA, (ii) terminating, repudiating, 

making any demand or otherwise altering any contractual relationships with the SGA or 

enforcing any rights or remedies, or (iii) discontinuing or ceasing to perform any 

obligations under any contractual agreements with the SGA, resulting from the 

commencement of CCAA proceeding by LU, the stay of proceedings granted to LU and 

any default or cross-default arising due to the foregoing. 

Stay of Interest Rate Swaps

313. As previously described in the summary of LU’s financial health, LU entered into a series 

of interest rate swap transactions with RBC, TD and BMO.  In each of these swap 
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transactions, LU has agreed to pay a fixed rate of interest that varies between 4% to 5% on 

a notional principal amount and LU receives a variable rate of interest a notional principal 

amount based on CDOR. 

314. Due to the low interest rate environment in Canada at this time and the decrease in the 

Bank of Canada’s Prime Rate in 2020, the net effect of the interest rate swap transactions 

is that LU is required to pay approximately $341,764.22 per month, or approximately $4.1 

million annually. 

315. Given LU’s current financial situation, LU seeks relief in the Initial Order confirming that 

the payment of any post-filing net amounts payable pursuant to the interest rate swap 

transactions is not permitted during the CCAA proceedings.  For clarity, LU is not seeking 

to amend the swap transactions.  Instead, LU simply seeks to stay payment of the net 

interest payment amounts. 

Exemptions to the Stay of Certain Pre-filing Amounts 

316. At its core, LU exists because of its students who attend the university and LU must make 

every effort to protect its students or suffer the irreparable result that it has a restructured 

university with no students to teach. 

317. LU seeks to permit the payment of all outstanding amounts in respect of the current 2020-

21 academic year and future amounts owing in respect of rebates, refunds or other amounts 

that are owing or may be owed to students or the student associations of LU, whether such 

amounts are as a result of the reimbursement of tuition fees, ancillary fees or otherwise.  

LU also seeks to permit the continued payment of pre-filing and post-filing amounts 
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payable in respect of scholarship, bursary or grants.  This exemption is limited as long as 

any such rebates, refunds or other amounts are in accordance with LU’s existing policies 

and procedures. 

318. This exemption is intended to apply to students of LU and students who take courses 

offered by the Federated Universities (but are LU students). 

319. LU intends on operating in the ordinary course during the CCAA proceeding and 

minimizing the disruption to students as much as possible. To facilitate this, LU must be 

able to process certain rebates owing to students and continue to provide students with 

scholarship and bursary money, which is a critical payment for students in need of financial 

aid.  Students represent a particularly vulnerable population in terms of their age and the 

academic pressures they face, in addition to the added stress that remote learning and 

reduced interaction and services due to COVID has had. 

B. Appointment of the Monitor 

320. On August 28, 2020, the Board approved the engagement of EY as financial advisor to LU 

through a competitive process led by external counsel to LU.  EY was engaged by the 

Board as financial advisor to assist LU in its restructuring efforts and if necessary, act as 

the Court-appointed Monitor of LU should LU decide to seek protection under the CCAA.  

The engagement letter was signed by EY and LU on September 4, 2020. 

321. EY (the “Proposed Monitor”) has consented to act as the Court-appointed Monitor of the 

Applicant, subject to its consent to any form of order of appointment that may be approved 

by the Court.  A copy of EY’s consent is attached hereto as Exhibit “GGG”.  I am advised 

by Sharon Hamilton of EY that EY is a “trustee” within the meaning of section 2 of the 
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BIA, and is not subject to any of the restrictions on who may be appointed as Monitor set 

out in section 11.7(2) of the CCAA. 

C. Appointment of Mediator 

322. In order for this restructuring to be successful, difficult negotiations are required with 

multiple stakeholders in a condensed period of time before LU runs out of cash.  As a result 

of this dynamic, the Applicant is of the view that the best way to proceed is through court-

supervised mediation in order to advance such negotiations and reach an outcome that 

results in a financially sustainable university. 

323. LU will be seeking the appointment of a neutral third-party mediator (the “Court-

Appointed Mediator”).  At the outset, the Applicant expects the Court-Appointed 

Mediator to assist with: (i) negotiations related to the review and restructuring of the 

academic programs of the Academic, and (ii) the collective agreement between the 

Applicant and LUFA.  However, the Court-Appointed Mediator’s mandate will not be 

limited to such roles and will assist with any other issues that cannot be resolved 

consensually among the stakeholders and the Applicant. 

324. The Applicant’s counsel recently reached out to one party to canvass the possibility of 

being put forward as a proposed mediator, if appointed by the Court.  That party’s existing 

schedule did not permit them to undertake the role and intense time commitment that would 

be required through February, March and April.  In our view, the need for the appointment 

of a mediator by the Court is urgent and a highest priority item, given the timeframes 

involved if key aspects of a restructuring can be effected. 
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325. The Applicant’s relations with LUFA are strained at this time, and I am of the view that a 

fresh start in the negotiations within a court-supervised mediation setting will allow the 

parties to engage in open discussions with the benefit of all financial and other information 

that will provide the best framework for success.   In my view, regardless of the skills and 

experience of any party that may be proposed by the Applicant to be appointed by the Court 

as mediator, such proposal will unfortunately face fierce objections from LUFA.  I am 

concerned that valuable time will be lost in debating or objecting to the identity of the 

mediator, when there is virtually no time that can be lost in the process.  It is critically 

important that the court-supervised mediation commence forthwith, in order to allow any 

outcome to be implemented within the availability of DIP Facility, with faculty and 

program changes that can be implemented for the Fall 2021 academic calendar, and with 

key messages of stability to students for their continued education at LU being available. 

326. I believe that, in order to avoid any debates by stakeholders as to personal preferences, 

claims of bias or any other basis for objection, it would be most appropriate for the Court 

to identify and appoint a Mediator of its choosing at the earliest opportunity.  In the 

Applicant’s view, certain criteria that would be helpful in view of the issues to be addressed 

through mediation would be someone who is:  bilingual, has experience in insolvency 

matters, is familiar with collective agreements and labour negotiations, and has the time 

available in their schedule to commit to an intensive schedule over the months of February, 

March and April.  A sitting or recently-retired judge would be welcome, and in the case of 

a sitting judge, would not result in the costs being paid from the Applicant’s strained cash 

position. 
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D. Administration Charge 

327. The Applicant seeks a super-priority charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the 

Property (as defined in the draft Initial Order) to secure the fees and disbursements incurred 

in connection with services rendered to LU both before and after the commencement of the 

CCAA proceedings by counsel and advisors to LU, the Proposed Monitor, counsel to the 

Proposed Monitor and independent counsel to the Board.  During the initial ten days until 

the comeback hearing, the Applicant seeks the Administration Charge up to the maximum 

amount of $400,000, consistent with the first ten days in the Cash Flow Forecast.  At the 

comeback hearing, the Applicant will seek to increase the Administration Charge up to 

$1.25 million, representing the estimated restructuring costs for a one-month period. 

328. It is contemplated that each of the aforementioned parties: (i) will have extensive 

involvement during the CCAA proceedings; (ii) have contributed and will continue to 

contribute to the restructuring of LU; and (iii) will ensure that there is no unnecessary 

duplication of roles among the parties. 

329. I understand that the Proposed Monitor has reviewed the proposed quantum of the 

Administration Charge and is of the view that it is reasonable and appropriate in the 

circumstances given the contemplated work required to be completed during the pendency 

of the CCAA proceedings and the services provided and to be provided by the beneficiaries 

of the Administration Charge. 

E. Directors’ Charge 

330. To provide LU with continued direction during the CCAA proceedings, LU believes that 

the continued participation of the members of the Board would be helpful in this CCAA 

proceeding.  None of the Board members receive remuneration for acting, and each brings 
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a unique perspective to the bilingual and tricultural nature of the university’s operations. 

The volunteer nature of a directorship in a non-share corporation such as LU distinguishes 

it from a directorship in a typical OBCA or CBCA share capital corporation, where 

directors are typically both compensated and insured under their own policy. The 

Directors’ Charge will also secure the fees of independent counsel to the Board. 

331. There is a concern that the members of the Board may discontinue their services during 

this restructuring unless the Initial order grants the Directors’ Charge to secure LU’s 

indemnity obligations to the directors and officers that arise post-filing in respect of 

potential personal statutory liabilities. 

332. The Applicant’s payroll is approximately $11 million per month, and is payable once each 

month with some limited exceptions.   

i. Insurance Policies 

333. LU maintains an educational errors and omissions liability insurance policy with Canadian 

Universities Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (“CURIE”) (the “E&O Policy”), which 

renews annually on January 1.  The E&O Policy provides coverage for up to $5,000,000 

in respect of claims for “wrongful acts”, as defined under the E&O Policy, save and except 

for claims for “wrongful acts” in respect of terrorism, cyber risk and asbestos, which limit 

is only $3,000,000.  It is notable that since the E&O Policy is only an errors and omissions 

policy, the E&O Policy expressly excludes, among others, the following categories of 

claim: (i) employee benefits, (ii) breach of contract, (iii) employment-related practices, 

including consequential losses, and (iv) tuition, fees or rents. 
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334. In addition, LU also maintains an excess liability insurance policy from CURIE (the 

“Excess Policy”).  The Excess Policy provides increased coverage for up to $45 million 

for each claim in excess of the $5 million covered under the E&O Policy. 

335. The proposed Initial Order contemplates that the Directors’ Charge will be in the amount 

of $2 million.  The Applicant worked with the Proposed Monitor in determining the 

proposed quantum of the Directors’ Charge and believes that the Directors’ Charge is 

reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.  The Director’s Charge is proposed to 

rank behind the Administration Charge.  At the comeback hearing, the Applicant proposes 

that the Directors’ Charge will rank in priority to the DIP Lender’s Charge up to the 

maximum amount of $2 million, with an additional amount that will rank subordinate to 

the DIP Lender’s Charge. 

336. The Proposed Monitor supports the granting of the Directors’ Charge and will expand on 

such support for the Directors’ Charge in its pre-filing report to the Court. 

337. The directors and officers of LU do not know whether CURIE will seek to deny coverage 

on the basis that the E&O Policy and the Excess Policy do not cover particular claims 

(specifically in circumstances where the E&O Policy excludes claims commonly asserted 

against directors and officers of insolvent corporations and those that could be reasonably 

anticipated in this insolvency proceeding) or that coverage limits have been exhausted. 

338. LU may not have sufficient funds available to satisfy any contractual indemnities to the 

directors or officers should the directors or officers need to call upon those indemnities.  It 

is proposed that the Directors’ Charge will only be engaged if the E&O Policy or Excess 

Policy, if applicable, fail to respond to a claim. 
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F. DIP Financing and DIP Lender’s Charge 

339. At the initial hearing for the commencement of these CCAA proceedings, LU will not be 

seeking approval of the DIP financing. 

340. At the comeback hearing, LU will seek to have the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP financing 

approved.  As demonstrated by the Cash Flow Forecast, LU forecasts that it will require an 

amount of up to $25 million of DIP financing during the first thirteen weeks of these CCAA 

proceedings. 

341. During its contingency planning process, LU, with the assistance of its external legal 

counsel, canvassed the market for interim financing and evaluated competing offers.  In 

order to preserve confidentiality, LU’s counsel required potential lenders to execute a 

redacted form of Non-Disclosure Agreement (“NDA”) prior to having LU’s identity 

disclosed to them and prior to receiving any information in respect of LU.  Once the 

redacted NDA was executed by the potential lender, external counsel to LU provided the 

potential lender with an unredacted form of NDA and requested that it be executed as well. 

342. In December 2020, four potential external lenders were contacted by LU’s counsel and 

each executed the applicable two forms of NDA.  Beginning in December 2020, the 

potential lenders were granted access to a virtual data room containing certain information 

and documents that may be relevant to interim financing and external counsel convened 

telephone calls with these lenders.  The data room was updated at various times with 

additional information. 
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343. The potential lenders requested and reviewed additional due diligence materials as 

necessary and were invited to submit interim financing term sheet proposals.  Three non-

binding term sheets were received from the four potential lenders originally contacted. 

344. In January, LU, through its external counsel, also reached out to four additional parties 

(including three of LU’s existing lenders) to see if those parties wished to provide DIP 

financing. 

345. Following this process, LU identified two proposals for DIP financing as being superior to 

all others received by LU.  LU engaged in further negotiations with the potential lenders 

in respect of the terms of their DIP financing proposals. 

346. For the reasons described below, with the assistance of counsel and on an informed basis 

and in good faith with a view to the best interests of LU and its stakeholders, LU selected 

the DIP facility (the “DIP Facility”) offered by Firm Capital Corporation (“FCC”). 

347. LU has negotiated and is seeking Court approval of the DIP Facility, described in more 

detail below, and a charge over the Property (defined below) securing the DIP Facility (the 

“DIP Lender’s Charge”), as further described in the Term Sheet between LU and FCC 

dated January 29, 2021 (the “DIP Term Sheet”) attached as Exhibit “HHH” hereto.  I am 

advised by LU’s external counsel Thornton Grout Finnigan LLP that subsequent to 

execution of the DIP Term Sheet, FCC will be assigning its interest to Firm Capital 

Mortgage Fund Inc. (the “DIP Lender”).  In addition to addressing LU’s short-term 

liquidity issues, approval of the DIP Facility will provide assurance to LU’s suppliers, 

employees, students and other stakeholders that LU has the necessary funds to continue 

operating during this CCAA proceeding. 
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348. The salient terms of the DIP Term Sheet are as follows: 

(a) the DIP Lender will make available to LU two advances of up to a maximum 

amount of $25 million; 

(b) the DIP Facility has a maturity date of May 1, 2021, which maturity date may be 

extended if LU achieves the following milestones, to the satisfaction of the DIP 

Lender in its sole and unfettered discretion: 

(i) LU enters into a negotiated settlement with LUFA with respect to the terms 

of a collective agreement between LUFA and LU; 

(ii) LU reaches a consensus among all necessary stakeholders on an academic 

restructuring of LU’s program offerings; and 

(iii) LU provides the DIP Lender with a revised cash flow forecast and a multi-

year budget demonstrating to the DIP Lender, in its sole and unfettered 

discretion, that LU is financially sustainable; 

(c) interest accrues on the outstanding indebtedness at a rate that is the greater of 8.50% 

per annum or the TD Canada Trust Posted Bank Prime Rate of Interest plus 6.05% 

per annum, which amounts are reflected in the Cash Flow Forecast; 

(d) a Commitment Fee of $500,000 that is earned and payable to the DIP Lender on 

the date that the Court approves the DIP Facility; 

(e) all amounts outstanding under the DIP Facility shall be secured by a charge on all 

of the current and future assets, undertakings and property of LU pursuant to a 

court-approved, super-priority charge (the “DIP Lender’s Charge”) that is only 

subordinate to: (i) the Administration Charge  up to the maximum of $1.25 million; 
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(ii) the Directors’ Charge up to the maximum of $2 million (with such further 

amount to be subordinate to the DIP Lender’s Charge); and (iii) any valid purchase 

money security interests, including the registrations made under the Personal 

Property Security Act (Ontario); 

(f) the DIP Facility is conditional on, among other things, LU obtaining a court order 

approving the DIP Term Sheet and the DIP Facility; and 

(g) customary reporting covenants given the size of the DIP Facility and the third party 

nature of the DIP Lender. 

349. The DIP Lender has requested a definitive DIP loan agreement to formally document the 

terms and conditions of the DIP Facility.  Prior to the comeback hearing, the Applicant and 

the DIP Lender will negotiate and finalize the DIP Loan Agreement. 

350. It is necessary to obtain the DIP Facility to support the costs to be incurred by LU after the 

commencement of the CCAA proceeding, as LU will not be further utilizing its existing 

unsecured lines of credit and has no other cash reserves on which to draw.  The DIP Facility 

will allow LU to continue to operate in the ordinary course and will allow LU the 

opportunity to undertake its operational restructuring. 

351. LU will access the DIP Facility in two tranches.  One will be shortly after the comeback 

hearing and the second is expected to be 30-45 days afterwards, based on the cash needs 

of LU. 

352. If a successful restructuring with LU’s Unions and other stakeholders can be achieved by 

April, 2021, LU expects that it will seek this Court’s approval for exit financing that would 
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allow LU’s operations to return to a position of sustainability, and to fund any payments to 

be made under a Plan of Arrangement. 

G. Ranking of Court-Ordered Charges 

353. During the first ten days of the CCAA proceedings, the Applicant proposes ranking the 

Administration Charge and the Directors’ Charge (collectively, the “CCAA Charges”) as 

follows: 

(a) first, the Administration Charge initially up to a maximum amount of $400,000; 

and 

(b) second, the Directors’ Charge initially up to a maximum amount of $2,000,000. 

354. During the first ten days of the CCAA proceedings until the comeback hearing, the CCAA 

Charges are proposed to rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, 

construction liens, charges and encumbrances, except for any person who is a “secured 

creditor” as defined in the CCAA that has not been served with the Notice of Application. 

355. At the comeback hearing, the Applicant proposes ranking the CCAA Charges, including 

the DIP Lender’s Charge, as follows: 

(a) first, the Administration Charge, which is proposed to be increased up to a 

maximum amount of $1,250,000; 

(b) second, the Directors’ Charge up to a maximum amount of $2,000,000; 

(c) third, the DIP Lender’s Charge, up to a maximum amount of $25,000,000; and 

(d) fourth, the balance of the Director’s Charge, up to a maximum amount of 

$3,000,000,
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Court File No. CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

COMMERCIAL LIST 

THE HONOURABLE CHIEF 

JUSTICE MORAWETZ 

) 
) 
) 

MONDAY, THE 31ST  

DAY OF MAY, 2021 

 
IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, 

R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 
 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF  
LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

 
Applicant 

CLAIMS PROCESS ORDER 

THIS MOTION, brought by the Applicant pursuant to the Companies' Creditors 

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”) for an order, among other 

things, establishing a claims process to identify, determine and resolve claims of creditors of the 

Applicant, was heard this day by videoconference via Zoom in Toronto, Ontario due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. 

ON READING the Applicant’s Notice of Motion, the affidavit of Dr. Robert Haché 

sworn May 21, 2021 (the “Haché Affidavit”), the Fourth Report of Ernst & Young Inc. (the 

“Monitor” or “EY”) dated May 27, 2021 (the “Fourth Report”), and on hearing the 

submissions of counsel for the Applicant, counsel for the Monitor, counsel for Toronto-

Dominion Bank, counsel for Royal Bank of Canada, counsel for Bank of Montreal, counsel for 

the Laurentian University Faculty Association, counsel for the Laurentian University Staff 

Union, counsel for Thorneloe University, counsel for the University of Sudbury, counsel for 

Huntington University, and those other parties listed on the Counsel Slip, no one else appearing 

although duly served with the Applicant’s Motion Record as appears from the Affidavit of 

Service of Derek Harland dated May 27, 2021, 
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SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and the 

Motion Record is hereby validated so that this Motion is properly returnable today and hereby 

dispenses with further service thereof. 

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

2. The following terms shall have the following meanings ascribed thereto: 

(a) “Applicant” means Laurentian University of Sudbury; 

(b) "Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which banks are 

generally open for business in Toronto, Ontario; 

(c) "CCAA" has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Order; 

(d) "Charges" means the Administration Charge and the DIP Lender’s Charge, as such 

terms are defined in the Initial Order; 

(e) "Claim" means each of: 

(i) any right of any Person against the Applicant, in connection with any 
indebtedness, liability or obligation of any kind of the Applicant whether 
liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, 
undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, unsecured, present, future, known or 
unknown, by guarantee, surety or otherwise and whether or not such right 
is executory in nature, including the right or ability of any Person to 
advance a claim for contribution or indemnity (including any claim by a 
Director or Officer against the Applicant for contribution and/or indemnity 
arising from any D&O Claim) for or otherwise with respect to any matter, 
action, cause or chose in action, whether existing at present or commenced 
in the future, which indebtedness, liability or obligation (A) is based in 
whole or in part on facts existing prior to the Filing Date, (B) relates to a 
time period prior to the Filing Date, or (C) would have been a claim 
provable in bankruptcy had the Applicant become bankrupt on the Filing 
Date (each, a "Pre-Filing Claim", and collectively, the "Pre-Filing 
Claims"); 

(ii) any indebtedness, liability or obligation of any kind arising out of the 
restructuring, termination, repudiation or disclaimer of any lease, contract, 
or other agreement or obligation on or after the Filing Date and whether 
such restructuring, termination, repudiation or disclaimer took place or 
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takes place before or after the date of this Order (each, a "Restructuring 
Claim", and collectively, the "Restructuring Claims"); or 

(iii) any right of any Person against the Directors or Officers of the Applicant, 
or any of them, that relates to any claim for which they might be liable as 
a result of any act as a Director or Officer of the Applicant (each, a "D&O 
Claim", and collectively, the "D&O Claims"), 

provided however, that "Claim" shall not include an Excluded Claim. 

(f) "Claims Bar Date" means the Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date, the Restructuring 

Claims Bar Date or the D&O Claims Bar Date, as the case may be; 

(g) "Claims Officer" means the person or persons who may be appointed by the Court; 

(h) "Compensation Claims" has the meaning ascribed to that term in paragraph 2(r)(i) of 

this Order; 

(i) “Compensation Claims Methodology” means the methodologies to be used to 

calculate the Compensation Claims; 

(j) "Court" means the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List); 

(k) "Creditor" means any Person asserting a Claim; 

(l) "Creditors' Meeting" means the meeting or meetings of Creditors scheduled 

pursuant to further Order of this Court for purposes of voting on a Plan, if and when 

filed with this Court; 

(m) "Directors" means all current and former directors of the Applicant, and "Director" 

means any one of them, and for greater certainty includes any current or former 

member of the Board of Governors of the Applicant; 

(n) "D&O Claim" has the meaning ascribed to that term in paragraph 2(e)(iii) of this 

Order; 

(o) “D&O Claims Bar Date” means 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on July 30, 

2021; 
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(p) "Dispute Notice" means a written notice to the Monitor, substantially in the form 

attached hereto as Schedule "E", delivered to the Monitor by a Creditor who has 

received a Notice of Revision or Disallowance of its intention to dispute such Notice 

of Revision or Disallowance; 

(q) “Employees” means the current and former employees of the Applicant; 

(r) "Excluded Claim" means the following claims, whether liquidated, 

unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, 

legal, equitable, secured, unsecured, present, future, known or unknown: 

(i) claims of: (A) any Employee for amounts owing to him or her in his or her 
capacity as a current or former employee of the Applicant, including 
without limitation, claims on account of wages, salaries, any other form of 
compensation (whether sales-based, incentive-based, deferred, retention-
based, share-based, or otherwise), severance or termination pay, employee 
benefits (including, but not limited to, medical and similar benefits, 
disability benefits, relocation or mobility benefits, and benefits under 
employee assistance programs), pension and retirement benefits (including 
the RHBP and SuRP), vacation pay, and employee expenses, (B) any 
Employee arising from the administration, management or oversight of 
any of the pension plans or employee benefit plans administered or 
sponsored by the Applicant, (C) any Employee in respect of grievances 
under any collective agreement to which the Applicant is party, whether 
such grievance arose prior to or after the Filing Date, (D) any labour union 
of the Applicant in respect of claims arising pursuant to section 33(5) of 
the CCAA, and (E) Huntington University, University of Sudbury, 
Thorneloe University, the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory Laboratory, the 
Mining Innovation Rehabilitation and Applied Research Corporation or 
the Centre for Excellence in Mining Innovation or any current or former 
employee of any of the foregoing entities, in each case solely in respect of 
any claims relating to the participation of their current or former 
employees in the RHBP (collectively, including Employee and Employee 
grievance claims of the above nature, "Compensation Claims"); 

(ii) claims against the Applicant by any student enrolled with the Applicant 
during the 2020-21 academic year in respect of amounts owing in respect 
of rebates, refunds, account credits or other similar amounts that are 
subject to the existing policies and procedures of the Applicant; or 

(iii) any claim entitled to the benefit of an existing or future Court-ordered 
priority charge ordered by the Court, including the Charges; 
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(s) "Filing Date" means February 1, 2021; 

(t) "Initial Order" means the Amended and Restated Initial Order dated February 11, 

2021 (as may be further supplemented, amended or varied from time to time); 

(u) "Instruction Letter" means the guide to completing the Proof of Claim form, in 

substantially the form attached as Schedule "B" hereto; 

(v) "Known Creditors" means: 

(i) those Creditors which, to the knowledge of the Applicant and the Monitor, 
were owed monies by the Applicant as of the Filing Date and which 
monies remain unpaid in whole or in part; 

(ii) the collective bargaining agents, Laurentian University Faculty 
Association and Laurentian University Staff Union; 

(iii) Huntington University, Thorneloe University and the University of 
Sudbury; 

(iv) any Person who, to the knowledge of the Applicant and the Monitor, 
commenced a legal or any other proceeding against the Applicant, which 
legal proceeding was commenced and served upon the Applicant prior to 
the Filing Date; and 

(v) any Person who is party to a lease, contract, or other agreement or 
obligation of the Applicant which was (to the knowledge of the Applicant 
and the Monitor) terminated, repudiated or disclaimed by the Applicant 
between the Filing Date and the date of this Order. 

(w) "Monitor" has the meaning ascribed to it in the preamble to this Order; 

(x) "Notice of Revision or Disallowance" means a notice, substantially in the form 

attached hereto as Schedule "D", advising a Creditor that the Monitor has revised or 

disallowed all or part of such Creditor's Claim as set out in the Creditor's Proof of 

Claim; 

(y) “Notice to Creditors” means the Notice to Creditors for publication in substantially 

the form attached as Schedule “A” hereto; 
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(z) "Officers" means all current and former officers of the Applicant, and "Officer" 

means any one of them; 

(aa) "Person" is to be interpreted broadly and includes any individual, firm, general or 

limited partnership, joint venture, trust, corporation, limited or unlimited liability 

company, unincorporated organization, association, trust, collective bargaining agent, 

joint venture, federal or provincial government body, agency or Ministry, regulatory 

body, officer or instrumentality thereof, or any juridical entity, wherever situate or 

domiciled, and whether or not having legal status, howsoever designated or 

constituted, and whether acting on their own or in a representative capacity; 

(bb) "Plan" means any plan of compromise or arrangement by the Applicant, if and when 

filed, as revised, amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance 

with its terms; 

(cc) "Pre-Filing Claim" has the meaning ascribed to that term in paragraph 2(e)(i) of this 

Order; 

(dd) "Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date" means 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on July 

30, 2021; 

(ee) "Proof of Claim" means the proof of claim to be completed and filed by a Person 

setting forth a Claim and which shall include all supporting documentation in respect 

of such Claim, substantially in the form attached hereto as Schedule "C"; 

(ff) "Proof of Claim Document Package" means a document package that includes a 

copy of the Notice to Creditors, Instruction Letter, Proof of Claim, and such other 

materials as the Monitor may consider appropriate or desirable; 

(gg) "Proven Claim" means a Claim as finally accepted by the Monitor, in consultation 

with the Applicant, or determined by the Claims Officer or by the Court, including for 

purposes of voting and/or distribution under the Plan; 

(hh) "Restructuring Claim" has the meaning ascribed to that term in paragraph 2(e)(ii) of 

this Order;  
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(ii) "Restructuring Claims Bar Date" means, in respect of each Restructuring Claim 

and each Person having a Restructuring Claim, 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) 

on the later of: (i) July 30, 2021, and (ii) the date that is 30 days after the date on 

which the Monitor sends a Proof of Claim Document Package to the Creditor with 

respect to a Restructuring Claim that arose after the Filing Date; and  

(jj) "Secured Claim" means any Claim of a Secured Creditor (as defined in the CCAA), 

but only to the extent of the value of the security in respect of the Claim. 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that all references as to time herein shall mean local time in 

Toronto, Ontario, Canada, and any reference to an event occurring on a Business Day shall mean 

prior to 5:00 p.m. on such Business Day, unless otherwise indicated herein. 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that all references to the word “including” shall mean 

“including without limitation”. 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all references to the singular herein include the plural, the 

plural include the singular, and any gender includes all genders. 

MONITOR'S ROLE 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights, duties, 

responsibilities and obligations under the CCAA and under the Initial Order, is hereby directed 

and empowered to take all such other actions and fulfill such other roles as are authorized by this 

Order or are incidental thereto, and that in taking such other actions and in fulfilling such other 

roles, the Monitor shall have the protections given to it in the Initial Order and this Order, 

including without limitation the protections provided in paragraph 33 of this Order. 

NOTICE TO CREDITORS 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that: 

(a) the Monitor shall, as soon as practicable, post a copy of the Proof of Claim Document 

Package on its website, in both French and English, at 

http://www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian; 
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(b) the Monitor shall, as soon as practicable following the issuance of this Order, on 

behalf of the Applicant, send to each of the Known Creditors with a Claim greater 

than $50 (for which the Monitor has an address) a copy of the Proof of Claim 

Document Package, provided however that the Monitor is not required to send the 

Proof of Claim Document Package, in both French and English, to any Persons that 

may have a Compensation Claim; 

(c) the Monitor shall, as soon as practicable following the issuance of this Order, cause 

the Notice to Creditors, in both French and English, to be published in The Globe and 

Mail (National Edition) and the Sudbury Star, each for one (1) Business Day; 

(d) with respect to Restructuring Claims, the Monitor shall, no later than five (5) 

Business Days following the time that the Monitor becomes aware of the effective 

date of the termination, repudiation or disclaimer of a lease, contract or other 

agreement or obligation, send to the counterparty(ies) of such agreement or obligation 

a Proof of Claim Document Package; and 

(e) the Monitor shall, as soon as reasonably possible following receipt of a request 

therefor, deliver a copy of the Proof of Claim Document Package to any Person 

claiming to be a Creditor and requesting such material. 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that a separate process to deal with Compensation Claims 

shall be established by further Order of this Court, to address the validity and quantum of any 

Compensation Claims, and that this Order shall be without prejudice to any matter relating to any 

Compensation Claims now existing or arising in the future. 

CLAIMS BAR DATES 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Proofs of Claim with respect to: (a) Pre-Filing Claims, 

shall be filed with the Monitor on or before the Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date, (b) Restructuring 

Claims, shall be filed with the Monitor on or before the Restructuring Claims Bar Date, and (c) 

D&O Claims, shall be filed with the Monitor on or before the D&O Claims Bar Date, except to 

the extent that the D&O Claim relates to a Restructuring Claim, in which case such D&O Claim 

shall be filed with the Monitor on or before the applicable Restructuring Claims Bar Date,. 
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10. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Creditor that does not file a Proof of Claim as 

provided for herein such that such Proof of Claim is received by the Monitor on or before the 

applicable Claims Bar Date: (a) shall be, and is hereby forever barred from making or enforcing 

such Claim against the Applicant or the Directors or Officers, or any of them; (b) shall not be 

entitled to vote at the applicable Creditors' Meeting in respect of the Plan or to receive any 

distribution thereunder; and (c) shall not be entitled to any further notice of, and shall not be 

entitled to participate as a Creditor in these proceedings. 

PROOFS OF CLAIM 

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that each Creditor shall file a separate Proof of Claim against 

the Applicant and shall include any and all Claims it asserts against the Applicant in a single 

Proof of Claim. 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that if a Creditor is asserting a Claim against the Applicant 

and against the Directors or Officers of the Applicant, all such Claims shall be included in the 

same Proof of Claim. 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that, where a Creditor has taken an assignment or transfer of a 

Claim after the Filing Date, that Creditor shall file a separate Proof of Claim for each assigned or 

transferred Claim. 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that where a Claim against the Applicant is based on the 

Applicant's guarantee of the repayment of a debt of any other Person, the Proof of Claim in 

respect of such Claim shall clearly state that it is based on such a guarantee. 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Claim arose in a currency other than Canadian 

dollars, then the Creditor making the Claim shall complete its Proof of Claim indicating the 

amount of the Claim in such currency, rather than in Canadian dollars or any other currency. The 

Monitor shall subsequently calculate the amount of such Claim in Canadian dollars, using the 

Bank of Canada closing rate on February 1, 2021, without prejudice to the ability of the 

Applicant to utilize a different exchange rate in any Plan. 

REVIEW OF PROOFS OF CLAIM 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in consultation with the Applicant, shall 

review all Proofs of Claim filed, and at any time: 
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(a) may request additional information from a Creditor; 

(b) may request that the Creditor file a revised Proof of Claim; 

(c) in consultation with the Applicant, may attempt to resolve and settle any issue arising 

in the Proof of Claim or in respect of a Claim; 

(d) in consultation with the Applicant, may accept (in whole or in part) the amount and/or 

status of any Claim and notify the Creditor in writing; and  

(e) in consultation with the Applicant, may by notice in writing revise or disallow (in 

whole or in part) the amount and/or status of any Claim. 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that where a Claim is revised or disallowed (in whole or in 

part, and whether as to amount and/or as to status), the Monitor shall deliver to the Creditor a 

Notice of Revision or Disallowance, attaching a form of Dispute Notice.  

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in consultation with the Applicant, is hereby 

authorized to use its reasonable discretion as to the adequacy of compliance with respect to the 

manner and timing in which forms delivered hereunder are completed and executed, and may, 

where it is satisfied that a Claim has been adequately proven, waive strict compliance with the 

requirements of this Order as to completion and execution of such forms.  Notwithstanding any 

other provision of this Order, any Claim filed with the Monitor after the applicable Claims Bar 

Date may, in the reasonable discretion of the Monitor or subject to further Order of the Court, be 

deemed to have been filed on or before the applicable Claims Bar Date, and may be reviewed by 

the Monitor in accordance with the process set out in this Order. 

DISPUTE NOTICE 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that a Creditor who intends to dispute a Notice of Revision or 

Disallowance shall file a Dispute Notice with the Monitor as soon as reasonably practicable but 

in any event such that the Dispute Notice shall be received by the Monitor on or before 5:00 p.m. 

(prevailing Eastern Time) on the day that is fourteen (14) days after the Creditor is deemed to 

have received the Notice of Revision or Disallowance in accordance with paragraph 35 of this 

Order. The filing of a Dispute Notice with the Monitor within the fourteen (14) day period 
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specified in this paragraph shall constitute an application to have the amount or status of such 

Claim determined as set out in paragraphs 21 to 25 hereof. 

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that where a Creditor that receives a Notice of Revision or 

Disallowance fails to file a Dispute Notice with the Monitor within the time period provided for 

in paragraph 19 above, the amount and status of such Creditor's Claim shall be deemed to be as 

set out in the Notice of Revision or Disallowance and such amount and status, if any, shall 

constitute such Creditor's Proven Claim. 

RESOLUTION OF CLAIMS 

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that, as soon as practicable after a Dispute Notice is received 

by the Monitor in accordance with this Order, the Monitor, in consultation with the Applicant 

and the Creditor, shall attempt to resolve and settle the amount and status of the Creditor’s 

Claim. 

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in the event that a dispute raised in a Dispute Notice is 

not settled within a reasonable time period or in a manner satisfactory to the Monitor, the 

Applicant and the applicable Creditor, the Monitor may, in its sole discretion: (a) refer the 

dispute to a Claims Officer for determination, or (b) on notice to the disputing Creditor, bring the 

dispute before the Court for determination. 

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that either the Monitor or the Applicant is hereby authorized 

to bring a motion to Court seeking an order appointing a Claims Officer in respect of any and all 

disputed Claims. 

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that subject to further order of the Court, the Claims Officer 

shall determine the status and/or amount of each Claim in respect of which a dispute has been 

referred to the Claims Officer and in doing so, the Claims Officer shall be empowered to 

determine the process in which evidence may be brought before him or her as well as any other 

procedural matters which may arise in respect of the determination of any disputed Claim. 

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Creditor may appeal the Claims 

Officer’s determination to this Court by serving upon the other (with a copy to the Monitor) and 

filing with this Court, within ten (10) calendar days of notification of the Claims Officer’s 

determination of such Creditor’s Claim, a notice of motion returnable on a date to be fixed by 
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this Court.  If a notice of motion is not filed within such period, then the Claims Officer’s 

determination shall be deemed to be final and binding and shall be such Creditor’s Proven Claim. 

DETERMINATION OF PROVEN CLAIM 

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the amount and status of every Claim, including any 

Secured Claim, as finally determined in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Order, 

shall be final for all purposes, including for voting on and/or distributions made to Creditors of 

the Applicant pursuant to the Plan, provided however, that no Claim may be allowed or may be 

established as a Proven Claim unless a Proof of Claim with respect to that Claim is filed in 

accordance with this Order.  

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that a Claim shall not be a Proven Claim in whole or in part 

unless and until the Claim has been allowed or otherwise finally determined in whole or in part 

in accordance with the procedures set out in this Order or further Order of the Court. 

NOTICE OF TRANSFEREES 

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Applicant nor the Monitor shall be obligated to 

give notice to or to otherwise deal with a transferee or assignee of a Claim as the Creditor in 

respect thereof unless and until (a) actual written notice of transfer or assignment, together with 

satisfactory evidence of such transfer or assignment, shall have been received by the Monitor, 

and (b) the Monitor shall have acknowledged in writing such transfer or assignment, and 

thereafter such transferee or assignee shall for the purposes hereof constitute the "Creditor" in 

respect of such Claim. Any such transferee or assignee of a Claim, and such Claim, shall be 

bound by any notices given or steps taken in respect of such Claim in accordance with this Order 

prior to the written acknowledgement by the Monitor of such transfer or assignment. 

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the holder of a Claim has transferred or assigned the 

whole of such Claim to more than one Person or part of such Claim to another Person or Persons, 

such transfer or assignment shall not create a separate Claim or Claims and such Claim shall 

continue to constitute and be dealt with as a single Claim notwithstanding such transfer or 

assignment, and the Applicant and the Monitor shall in each such case not be bound to 

acknowledge or recognize any such transfer or assignment and shall be entitled to give notices to 

and to otherwise deal with such Claim only as a whole and then only to and with the Person last 
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holding such Claim in whole as the Creditor in respect of such Claim. Provided that a transfer or 

assignment of the Claim has taken place in accordance with paragraph 28 of this Order and the 

Monitor has acknowledged in writing such transfer or assignment, the Person last holding such 

Claim in whole as the Creditor in respect of such Claim may by notice in writing to the Monitor 

direct that subsequent dealings in respect of such Claim, but only as a whole, shall be with a 

specified Person and, in such event, such Creditor, such transferee or assignee of the Claim and 

the whole of such Claim shall be bound by any notices given or steps taken in respect of such 

Claim by or with respect to such Person in accordance with this Order. 

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the transferee or assignee of any Claim (a) shall take the 

Claim subject to the rights and obligations of the transferor/assignor of the Claim, and subject to 

the rights of the Applicant against any such transferor or assignor, including any rights of set-off 

which the Applicant had against such transferor or assignor, and (b) cannot use any transferred or 

assigned Claim to reduce any amount owing by the transferee or assignee to the Applicant, 

whether by way of set off, application, merger, consolidation or otherwise. 

COMPENSATION CLAIMS 

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant and the Monitor, in consultation with 

representatives of the Laurentian University Faculty Association and the Laurentian University 

Staff Union, shall: 

(a) establish the primary categories of claims to be covered in a Compensation Claims 

process; 

(b) determine what information and how the information required to calculate such 

claims can be compiled with regard to the information available from the Applicant 

and third-party service providers; 

(c) establish the Compensation Claims Methodology; and 

(d) consider alternative procedures for notification and claim processing. 

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall bring a motion to Court by no later 

than July 30, 2021 seeking approval of: 
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(a) the Compensation Claims Methodology; and 

(b) the process for notification of Employees and claim processing. 

PROTECTIONS FOR MONITOR 

33. THIS COURT ORDERS that: (a) in carrying out the terms of this Order, the Monitor 

shall have all of the protections given to it by the CCAA and the Initial Order or as an officer of 

this Court, including the stay of proceedings in its favour, (b) the Monitor shall incur no liability 

or obligation as a result of the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, (c) the Monitor shall 

be entitled to rely on the books and records of the Applicant and any information provided by the 

Applicant, all without independent investigation, and (d) the Monitor shall not be liable for any 

claims or damages resulting from any errors or omissions in such books, records or information. 

DIRECTIONS 

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant or the Monitor may, at any time, and with 

such notice as this Court may require, seek directions from the Court with respect to this Order 

and the claims process set out herein, including the forms attached as Schedules hereto. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor or the Applicant, as the case may be, are at 

liberty to deliver the Proof of Claim Document Package, and any letters, notices or other 

documents to Creditors or other interested Persons, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid 

ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or electronic or digital transmission to such Persons at 

the address as last shown on the records of the Applicant and that any such service or notice by 

courier, personal delivery or electronic or digital transmission shall be deemed to be received on 

the next Business Day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by prepaid ordinary 

mail, on the third Business Day after mailing. 

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that any notice or other communication (including, without 

limitation, Proofs of Claim) to be given under this Order by a Creditor to the Monitor shall be in 

writing in substantially the form, if any, provided for in this Order and will be sufficiently given 

only if given by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or electronic or digital 

transmission addressed to: 
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ERNST & YOUNG INC.  
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury 
100 Adelaide Street West, PO Box 1  
Toronto, Ontario  
Canada M5H 0B3 
Attention: Laurentian University Claims 
Telephone: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
E-mail: LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 

 

37. Any such notice or other communication by a Creditor shall be deemed received only 

upon actual receipt thereof during normal business hours on a Business Day. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, the 

solicitation of Proofs of Claim, and the filing by a Person of any Proof of Claim, shall not, for 

that reason only, grant any Person any standing in the CCAA proceedings or rights under a Plan. 

39. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall constitute or be deemed to 

constitute an allocation or assignment of a Claim or Excluded Claim into particular affected or 

unaffected classes for the purpose of a Plan and, for greater certainty, the treatment of Claims or 

Excluded Claims, or any other claims shall be dealt with in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of a Plan and the class or classes of creditors for voting and distribution purposes shall 

be subject to the terms of any Plan or further Order of the Court. 

40. THIS COURT ORDERS AND REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court of any 

judicial, regulatory or administrative body in any province or territory of Canada (including the 

assistance of any court in Canada pursuant to Section 17 of the CCAA) and of any other nation 

or state, to act in aid of and to be complementary to this Court in carrying out the terms of this 

Order.  All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully 

requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Applicant and the Monitor, 

as an officer of the Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist 

the Applicant and the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. 
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41. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 

12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without any need for entry 

and filing. 

 

 
_________________________________ 

CHIEF JUSTICE G.B. MORAWETZ 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

NOTICE TO CREDITORS 

Court File No.: CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT 
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

(“LU” or the “Applicant”) 

NOTICE OF THE CLAIMS PROCESS AND CLAIMS BAR DATE FOR THE 
APPLICANT IN THE CCAA PROCEEDINGS 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, pursuant to an Order of the Court made on May 31, 2021, 
(the "Claims Process Order") a claims process has been commenced for the purpose of 
identifying and determining certain claims against the Applicant. Capitalized terms under this 
Notice that are not otherwise defined herein have the meaning ascribed to them in the Claims 
Process Order (a copy of which is available on the Monitor's Website). 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the claims process applies to Claims, as described in the Claims 
Process Order. The claims process has called for Pre-Filing Claims, Restructuring Claim and, 
D&O Claims. Any creditor who has not received a Claims Package and who believes that he or 
she has a Claim against the Applicant, under the Claims Process Order must contact the Monitor 
in order to obtain a Proof of Claim form or visit the Monitor’s Website. 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Employees will not be receiving a Claims Package and do not 
need to complete a Proof of Claim at this time.  Compensation Claims of Employees will be 
determined by a Court-approved Compensation Claims Methodology at a later date. 

THE PRE-FILING CLAIMS BAR DATE is 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on July 30, 2021. 
This bar date applies to all Pre-filing Claims, which does not include Restructuring Claims or 
Compensation Claims.  Proofs of Claim must be completed and filed with the Monitor using the 
procedures required in the Claims Process Order so that they are received by the Monitor on or 
before the Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date. 

THE RESTRUCTURING CLAIMS BAR DATE is 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on the date 
that is the later of: (i) July 30, 2021, and (ii) the date that is 30 days after the date on which 
the Monitor sends a Proof of Claim Document Package to the Creditor with respect to such 
Restructuring Claim.  Proofs of Claim in respect of Restructuring Claims must be completed 
and filed with the Monitor using the procedures required in the Claims Process Order so that they 
are received by the Monitor on or before the Restructuring Claims Bar Date. 
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THE D&O CLAIMS BAR DATE is 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on July 30, 2021. This bar 
date applies to all D&O Claims, which does not include Restructuring Claims or Compensation 
Claims. Proofs of Claim must be completed and filed with the Monitor using the procedures 
required in the Claims Process Order so that they are received by the Monitor on or before the 
D&O Claims Bar Date. 

HOLDERS OF CLAIMS WHO DO NOT FILE A PROOF OF CLAIM BY THE PRE-
FILING CLAIMS BAR DATE, RESTRUCTURING CLAIMS BAR DATE OR D&O 
CLAIMS BAR DATE SHALL BE FOREVER EXTINGUISHED AND BARRED FROM 
ASSERTING THEIR CLAIMS AGAINST THE APPLICANT OR THE DIRECTORS 
AND OFFICERS OF THE APPLICANT.  

CREDITORS REQUIRING INFORMATION or claims documentation may contact the 
Monitor. The Monitor's contact details for additional information relating to the Initial Order, the 
CCAA Proceedings, or the Claims Process is: 

Ernst & Young Inc.   
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury  
Ernst & Young Tower 
100 Adelaide Street West, P.O. Box 1 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0B3 
 
Hotline: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
Email:  LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 
Website:          http://www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian 
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SCHEDULE “B” 

INSTRUCTION LETTER 

Court File No.: CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT 
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 
(“LU” or the “Applicant”) 

 
INSTRUCTION LETTER 

 

 
CLAIMS PROCESS 

By Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) dated May 31, 2021 
("Claims Process Order") under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-
36, as amended (the "CCAA"), the Applicant and Ernst & Young Inc., in its capacity as Court-
appointed Monitor of the Applicant (in such capacity, the "Monitor"), have been authorized to 
conduct a claims process (the "Claims Process"). A copy of the Claims Process Order and other 
public information concerning these proceedings can be obtained from the Monitor's website at: 
http://www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian  

This letter provides general instructions for completing a Proof of Claim form. Defined terms not 
defined within this instruction letter shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Claims 
Process Order. 

The Claims Process is intended to identify and determine the amount of certain Claims against 
the Applicant or the Directors or Officers of the Applicant. 

Current and former Employees with Compensation Claims and other Excluded Claims do not 
need to complete a Proof of Claim at this time.  

Please review the Claims Process Order for the full terms of the Claims Process. 

All notices and inquiries with respect to the Claims Process should be directed to the Monitor by 
prepaid registered mail, courier, personal delivery, facsimile transmission or email at the address 
below: 
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Ernst & Young Inc.   
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury  
Ernst & Young Tower 
100 Adelaide Street West, P.O. Box 1 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0B3 
 
Hotline: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
Email:  LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 

 

FOR CREDITORS SUBMITTING A PROOF OF CLAIM 

If you believe that you have a Claim (excluding Compensation Claim) against the Applicant, you 
must complete and file a Proof of Claim form with the Monitor. 

All Proofs of Claim for Pre-Filing Claims (Claims against the Applicant arising prior to February 
1, 2021) must be received by the Monitor before 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on July 30, 2021 (the 
"Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date"), subject to the provisions of the Claims Process Order. 

All Proofs of Claim for Restructuring Claims must be received by the Monitor on the date that is 
the later of: (i) July 30, 2021, and (ii) thirty (30) calendar days following the date on which the 
Monitor sends a Claims Package with respect to such Restructuring Claim (the "Restructuring 
Claims Bar Date"), subject to the provisions of the Claims Process Order. If you do not file a 
Proof of Claim in respect of any such Restructuring Claim by the Restructuring Claims Bar Date, 
any Restructuring Claim that you may have shall be forever extinguished and barred. 

All Proofs of Claim for D&O Claims must be received by the Monitor before 5:00 p.m. (Toronto 
Time) on July 30, 2021 (the "D&O Claims Bar Date"), subject to the provisions of the Claims 
Process Order. 

All Claims denominated in a foreign currency shall be converted to Canadian Dollars at the Bank 
of Canada Canadian Dollar Daily Exchange Rate in effect as of the date of the Initial Order. 

ADDITIONAL FORMS 

Additional Proof of Claim forms can be obtained from the Monitor's website at 
http://www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian or by contacting the Monitor. 

DATED this ___ day of May, 2021 
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SCHEDULE “C” 

PROOF OF CLAIM 

Court File No.: CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT 
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

(“LU” or the “Applicant”) 

 
PROOF OF CLAIM 

 

1. PARTICULARS OF CREDITOR 

Full Legal Name of Creditor:  

Full Mailing Address of Creditor:  

Telephone Number of Creditor:  

E-mail Address of Creditor:   

Attention (Contact Person):   

 

2. PARTICULARS OF ORIGINAL CREDITOR FROM WHOM YOU ACQUIRED 
THE CLAIM, IF APPLICABLE: 

(a) Have you acquired this Claim by assignment? Yes □ No □ 

(if yes, attach documents evidencing assignment) 

a. Full Legal Name of original creditor(s): 

______________________________ 
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3. PROOF OF CLAIM 

THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFIES AS FOLLOWS: 

That I am a Creditor [or hold the position of ______________________ of the Creditor] and 
have knowledge of all the circumstances connected with the Claim described herein; 

That I have knowledge of all the circumstances connected with the Claim described and set out 
below; 

The Applicant was and is still indebted to the Creditor as follows: 

Any Claims denominated in a foreign currency shall be filed in such currency and will be 
converted to Canadian Dollars at rate as set out in the Claims Process Order. 

 Class of Claim Against the 
Applicant 

(Pre-Filing Claims, Restructuring 
Claim) 

Amount of Claim Against the Applicant 

(include the foreign currency if not Canadian 
dollars) 

1.  $ 

2.  $ 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF CLAIMS $ 

 
4. NATURE OF CLAIM 

(CHECK AND COMPLETE APPROPRIATE CATEGORY) 

□ Total Unsecured Claim of $__________________________ 

□ Total Secured Claim of $ ____________________________ 

In respect of this debt, I hold security over the assets of LU valued at $___________________, 
the particulars of which security and value are attached to this Proof of Claim form. 

 (If the Claim is secured, provide full particulars of the security, including the date on which the 
security was given the value for which you ascribe to the assets charged by your security, the 
basis for such valuation and attach a copy of the security documents evidencing the security.) 

5. PARTICULARS OF CLAIM: 

The particulars of the undersigned's total Claims (including Pre-Filing Claims, 
Restructuring Claims or any D&O Claims) are attached. 
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Provide full particulars of the Claim(s) and supporting documentation you are asserting 
a Claim against, the amount, description of transaction(s) or agreement(s) giving rise to 
the Claim(s), name of any guarantor(s) which has guaranteed the Claim(s), and amount 
of Claim(s) allocated thereto, date and number of all invoices, particulars of all credits, 
discounts, etc. claimed.  In the event that any part of your claim also includes a claim 
amount against the Directors and Officers, please particularize the exact amount claimed 
against the Directors and Officers and the accompanying legal analysis.  If you fail to 
sufficiently explain the legal analysis in respect of any claim against the Directors and 
Officers, that portion of the claim will be revised or disallowed. 

FILING OF CLAIM 

For Pre-Filing Claims, this Proof of Claim must be returned to and received by the 
Monitor by 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on the Pre-Filing Claims Bar Date (July 30, 2021). 

For Restructuring Claims, this Proof of Claim must be returned to and received by the 
Monitor by 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on the date that is the later of: (i) July 30, 2021, 
and (ii) thirty (30) calendar days following the date on which the Monitor sends a Claims 
Package with respect to such Restructuring Claim. 

For D&O Claims, this Proof of Claim must be returned to and received by the Monitor 
by 5:00 p.m. (Toronto Time) on the D&O Claims Bat Date (July 30, 2021). 

In each case, completed forms must be delivered by prepaid registered mail, courier, 
personal delivery, facsimile transmission or email to the Monitor at the following 
address: 

Ernst & Young Inc.   
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury  
Ernst & Young Tower 
100 Adelaide Street West, P.O. Box 1 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0B3 
 
Hotline: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
Email:  LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 
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Dated at _____________________ this ________ day of __________________, 20___. 

 

   Name of Creditor: _____________________  
Witness Name: 

Signature of Creditor: 
 ______________________________ 
If Creditor is other than an individual, print name 
and title of authorized signatory 

Name:    ____________________________ 
Title: ___________________________ 
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SCHEDULE “D” 

NOTICE OF REVISION OR DISALLOWANCE  

Court File No.: CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 
1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF 
LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY (“LU” or the “Applicant”) 

 
NOTICE OF REVISION OR DISALLOWANCE 

 

 
TO:  

Terms not otherwise defined in this Notice have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Claims 
Process Order. The Claims Process Order can be accessed on the Monitor’s website at 
www.ey.com/ca/Laurentian.   

 
This Notice of Revision or Disallowance is issued pursuant to the Claims Process Order.  The 
Monitor hereby gives you notice that it has reviewed your Proofs of Claim and has revised or 
disallowed your Claim as set out below: 

 

Claim Type Amount of Claim per 
Proof of Claim 

Disallowed Amount Allowed as 
Revised 

    

    

 

If you intend to dispute this Notice of Revision or Disallowance, you must notify the Monitor of 
such intent by delivery to the Monitor of a Dispute Notice in accordance with the Claims Process 
Order, such that it is received by the Monitor by 5:00 p.m. no later than fourteen (14) calendar 
days after you receive such Notice of Revision or Disallowance at the following address by 
prepaid registered mail, courier, personal delivery, facsimile transmission or email: 
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Ernst & Young Inc.   
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury  
Ernst & Young Tower 
100 Adelaide Street West, P.O. Box 1 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0B3 
 
Hotline: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
Email:  LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 

 

If you do not deliver a Dispute Notice in accordance with the Claims Process Order, the value of 
your Claim shall be deemed to be as set out in this Notice of Revision or Disallowance. 

DATED at _____________________ this ________ day of __________________, 20____. 
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SCHEDULE “E” 

DISPUTE NOTICE 

Court File No.: CV-21-656040-00CL 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE  

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT 
ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED 

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF LAURENTIAN UNIVERSITY OF SUDBURY 

(“LU” or the “Applicant”) 

 
DISPUTE NOTICE 

 

1. PARTICULARS OF CREDITOR 

Full Legal Name of Creditor:  

Full Mailing Address of 

Creditor: 

 

Telephone Number of 

Creditor: 

 

E-mail Address of Creditor:   

Attention (Contact Person):   

 

2. PARTICULARS OF ORIGINAL CREDITOR FROM WHOM YOU ACQUIRED 
THE CLAIM, IF APPLICABLE: 

(b) Have you acquired this Claim by assignment? Yes □ No □ 

(if yes, attach documents evidencing assignment) 
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Full Legal Name of original creditor(s): ______________________________ 

3. DISPUTE OF REVISION OR DISALLOWANCE OF CLAIM: 

(Any Claims denominated in a foreign currency shall be filed in such currency and will 
be converted to Canadian dollars at the rate as set out in the Claims Process Order.) 

We hereby disagree with the value of our Claim as set out in the Notice of Revision or 
Disallowance dated ________________________, as set out below: 

Claim Type 

(Pre-filing Claim, 
Restructuring Claim) 

Claim as Allowed or 
Revised per Notice of 

Revision or Disallowance 

Claim amount per 
Creditor 

 $ $ 

 $ $ 

 $ $ 

 $ $ 

 

(Insert particulars of your Claim per Notice of Revision or Disallowance, and the value 
of your Claim as asserted by you.) 

4. REASONS FOR DISPUTE: 

Provide full particulars of the Claim and supporting documentation, including amount, 
description of transaction(s) or agreement(s) giving rise to the Claim, name of any 
guarantor(s) which has guaranteed the Claim, and amount of Claim allocated thereto, 
date and number of all invoices, particulars of all credits, discounts, etc. claimed. The 
particulars provided must support the value of the Claim, as stated by you in item 3 
above. 
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If you intend to dispute the Notice of Revision or Disallowance, you must notify the 
Monitor of such intent by delivery to the Monitor of a Dispute Notice in accordance with 
the Claims Process Order such that it is received by the Monitor by 5:00 p.m. no later 
than fourteen (14) calendar days after you receive such Notice of Revision or 
Disallowance at the following address by prepaid registered mail, courier, personal 
delivery, facsimile transmission or email: 

Ernst & Young Inc.   
Court-appointed Monitor of Laurentian University of Sudbury  
Ernst & Young Tower 
100 Adelaide Street West, P.O. Box 1 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 0B3 
 
Hotline: 1-888-338-1766 / 1-416-943-3057 
Email:  LaurentianUniversity.monitor@ca.ey.com 
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AMENDED PLAN OF COMPROMISE AND ARRANGEMENT 

This is the plan of compromise and arrangement of the Applicant pursuant to the Companies’ 
Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended. 

ARTICLE I 
INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

In this Plan, including the Schedules attached hereto, all capitalized terms and grammatical 
variations of such words and phrases shall have the following meanings: 

Administration 
Charge 

 The charge granted in the Initial Order, up to a maximum amount of 
$1,250,000 over the Applicant’s property in favour of the Monitor, counsel to 
the Monitor, counsel to the Applicant, and advisors to the Applicant, as 
security for their professional fees and disbursements incurred at their 
respective standard rates and charges. 

Administration 
Reserve 

 Has the meaning given in Section 6.2. 

Affected Claims  All Claims other than Unaffected Claims. 

Affected Creditor  A Creditor with an Affected Claim. 

Applicable Law  Any law, statute, order, decree, judgment, rule, regulation, ordinance or other 
pronouncement having the effect of law, whether in Canada or any other 
country, or any domestic or foreign state, county, province, city or other 
political subdivision of any Governmental Authority. 

Applicant  Laurentian University of Sudbury.  

Board of Governors  Board of Governors of Laurentian University of Sudbury. 

Business  The business conducted by the Applicant consisting of the ongoing operation 
of a bilingual and tri-cultural post-secondary university in the City of Sudbury. 

Business Day  A day other than a Saturday, Sunday, statutory or civic holiday in Sudbury, 
Ontario. 

Bylaws  Bylaws of the Board of Governors of Laurentian University of Sudbury. 

CCAA  Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended. 

CCAA Charges  Collectively, the Administration Charge, the Directors’ Charge, and the DIP 
Lender’s Charge, as each term is defined in the Initial Order or the DIP 
Approval Order, as applicable. 
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CCAA Priority 
Claims 

 Claims that are required to be paid pursuant to sections 6(3), 6(5), and 6(6) of 
the CCAA. 

CCAA Proceeding  The proceeding commenced by the Applicant pursuant to the CCAA on the 
Filing Date, bearing Court File No. CV-21-656040-00CL. 

Claims  Collectively, all: (a) Pre-Filing Claims, (b) Restructuring Claims, (c) D&O 
Claims, and (d) Compensation Claims. 

Claims Bar Date  The claims bar dates as set out in the Claims Process Order or the 
Compensation Claims Process Order, as applicable. 

Claims Process  The process to determine the validity and quantum of Claims pursuant to the 
Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order, as 
applicable. 

Claims Process 
Order 

 The Amended and Restated Claims Process Order granted by Chief Justice 
Morawetz dated May 31, 2021, as may be further amended. 

Compensation 
Claim 

 The following claims against the Applicant: 

(a) all claims in respect of the following: 

(i) claims of any Employee or Retiree for amounts 
owing to him or her in his or her capacity as a current 
or former employee of the Applicant, including 
without limitation, claims on account of wages, 
salaries, any other form of compensation (whether 
sales-based, incentive-based, deferred, retention-
based, share-based, or otherwise), termination or 
severance pay, employee benefits (including, but not 
limited to, medical and similar benefits, disability 
benefits, relocation or mobility benefits, and benefits 
under employee assistance programs), pension and 
retirement benefits (including the Pension Plan, 
RHBP and SuRP), vacation pay, and employee 
expenses; 

(ii) claims of any Employee or Retiree arising from the 
administration, management or oversight of any of 
the pension plans or employee benefit plans 
administered or sponsored by the Applicant 
(including the Pension Plan, RHBP and SuRP); and 

(iii) claims by any Employee or Retiree, or the surviving 
spouse or other beneficiary of any Employee or 
Retiree, for other amounts owing to such Person in 
their capacity as an Employee, as plan member, 
surviving spouse or other beneficiary of the plan, to 
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the extent not already captured in subparagraphs (i) 
or (ii) above; 

(b) claims by any Employee or Union (whether on behalf of an 
Employee or otherwise) in respect of grievances under any 
collective agreement to which the Applicant is party, whether 
such grievance arose prior to or after the Filing Date and is in 
respect of any matter that: 

(i) is based in whole or in part on facts existing prior to 
the Filing Date, related to a time period prior to the 
Filing Date; or 

(ii) arises as a result of the restructuring of the Applicant 
prior to the date of the Compensation Claims Process 
Order, including for greater certainty any grievance 
related to the Union Restructuring Agreements; 

(c) claims by any Union arising pursuant to section 33(5) of the 
CCAA; and 

(d) claims by any of the Third Parties, in each case made on 
behalf of any of their respective Third Party Employees, in 
each case solely in respect of any claims relating to the 
participation of their current or former employees in the 
RHBP. 

For greater certainty, Compensation Claims shall not include any D&O 
Claims. 

Compensation 
Claims Process 
Order 

 The Amended Compensation Claims Process Order granted by Chief Justice 
Morawetz dated August 17, 2021, as may be further amended. 

Conditional Real 
Estate Agreement 

 Has the meaning given in Section 5.1. 

Continuous 
Improvement 
Committee 

 The committee to be created to ensure that, once service-delivery and other 
operational processes, procedures, and policies have been reviewed and 
approved as contemplated in the Nous Operational Report, constant review 
occurs such that the Applicant is aware of best practices within the sector.  The 
Continuous Improvement Committee will include representation from 
employee groups and other stakeholders. 

Court  Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List).  

Creditor  A Person with a Claim, including the transferee or assignee of a transferred 
Claim that is recognized as a Creditor by the Monitor in accordance with the 
Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order, or a trustee, 
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liquidator, receiver, receiver and manager or other Person acting on behalf of 
such Person. 

CRO  Chief Redevelopment Officer Mr. Louis (Lou) Pagnutti, appointed by Order 
dated May 31, 2021.  

Cure Period  Has the meaning given in Section 5.4. 

D&O  Any Director or Officer who is or was or may be deemed to be or have been a 
director or officer of the Applicant, including any de facto director or officer 
of the Applicant at any time up to the Plan Implementation Date. 

D&O Claim  Any right of any Person against the Directors or Officers of the Applicant, or 
any of them, that relates to any claim for which they might be liable as a result 
of any act or omission as a Director or Officer of the Applicant. 

D&O Claims Bar 
Date 

 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) on July 30, 2021. 

D&O Indemnity 
Claim 

 Has the meaning given in Section 6.1. 

Designated Real 
Estate Assets 

 The specific real estate assets that may be identified in the future as being 
subject to a sale by the Applicant to: (a) the Province, or (b) as directed or 
consented to by the Province pursuant to the process described in Article V. 

DIP Approval 
Order 

 The Order granted by Chief Justice Morawetz dated January 27, 2022. 

DIP Facility  The debtor-in-possession (DIP) financing in the principal amount of $35 
million provided by the DIP Lender to the Applicant to effect a refinancing of 
the debtor-in-possession facility originally fully advanced by Firm Capital 
Corporation as original DIP lender, which refinancing occurred on January 
29, 2022. 

DIP Lender  Her Majesty the Queen in right of Ontario, as represented by the Minister of 
Colleges and Universities. 

DIP Lender’s 
Charge 

 The third-ranking charge granted in the DIP Approval Order as security for 
the Applicant’s indebtedness and obligations under the DIP Facility. 

DIP Loan 
Agreement 

 The DIP Loan Agreement dated January 19, 2022, between the DIP Lender 
and the Applicant, approved by the DIP Approval Order. 

Directors  All current and former directors of the Applicant, and “Director” means any 
one of them, and for greater certainty includes any current or former member 
of the Board of Governors of the Applicant. 

Directors’ Charge  The second-ranking charge granted in the Initial Order up to a maximum 
amount of $2,000,000, and the fourth-ranking charge granted in the Initial 
Order up to a maximum amount of $3,000,000, in each case as security for the 
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indemnity provided by the Applicant to the directors, officers, and the Board 
of Governors against obligations and liabilities that may be incurred as 
directors or officers of the Applicant after the Filing Date, save and except to 
the extent that any such liability was incurred as a result of gross negligence 
or wilful misconduct. 

Distribution Date  One or more Business Days that distributions are made by the Monitor in 
accordance with the provisions of the Plan, the Sanction Order, and any other 
applicable Order made in the CCAA Proceeding. 

Distribution Pool  A cash pool from which the Monitor shall make distributions in respect of 
CCAA Priority Claims, Secured Claims, Vacation Pay Compensation Claims, 
and Affected Claims, into which shall be deposited in accordance with this 
Plan: (i) the amount funded by the Applicant required to satisfy the CCAA 
Priority Claims, Secured Claims, and Vacation Pay Compensation Claims, in 
full in accordance with this Plan, and (ii) the Net Sale Proceeds, not exceeding 
the Plan Consideration, from the disposition of the Designated Real Estate 
Assets, less any amounts reimbursed to the Applicant in accordance with 
Section 5.3.  For greater certainty, the aggregate deposits into the Distribution 
Pool from all sources, net of amounts reimbursed to the Applicant in 
accordance with Section 5.3, shall not in any circumstance exceed the Plan 
Consideration. 

Distribution Record 
Date 

 The date that is seven (7) Business Days prior to the date that any distribution 
is made under the Plan. 

Effective Time  The time on the Plan Implementation Date that the Monitor delivers its 
certificate in accordance with Section 10.3 of the Plan. 

EI Confirmation  In respect of a Creditor with a Compensation Claim, confirmation from 
Employment and Social Development Canada of the amount, if any, owing by 
such Creditor pursuant to section 45 of the Employment Insurance Act 
(Canada). 

Employee  The current and former employees of the Applicant. 

Encumbrances  Any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien (statutory or otherwise), hypothec, 
security interest (whether contractual, statutory or otherwise), encumbrance, 
statutory or possessory lien, trust or deemed trust (whether contractual, 
statutory, or otherwise), execution, levy, charge, interest in property, or other 
financial or monetary claim or lease of personal property that creates a security 
interest, in respect of any assets that the Applicant owns, has an interest, or to 
which the Applicant is entitled or that secures payment or performance of an 
obligation, or similar charge of any kind. 

Excluded D&O 
Claims 

 The 12 D&O Claims filed in the Claims Process on or before the D&O Claims 
Bar Date (none of which are being determined within the Claims Process) only 
as such D&O Claims are particularized in the corresponding proof(s) of claim 
filed in the Claims Process. For the avoidance of doubt, the Excluded D&O 
Claims are only the 12 D&O Claims filed in the Claims Process prior to the 
D&O Claims Bar Date, and for each such claim, an Excluded D&O Claim is 
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strictly and narrowly defined to include only the specific claimant(s), specific 
defendant(s), specific cause(s) of action asserted, and maximum amount 
expressly asserted in each such proof of claim. In no way shall any part of this 
Plan be interpreted to define any demand of any kind by any form of entity 
(including any agent, successor, assign, administrator, or any other form of 
party) as an Excluded D&O Claim that has not been filed in the Claims 
Process (and not expressly particularized in the associated proof(s) of claim), 
such claims having been barred and extinguished by the Claims Process Order, 
the Compensation Claims Process Order, the Meeting Order, and/or the 
applicable Claims Bar Dates. Notwithstanding the above, in respect of the 
Excluded D&O Claim filed by each of the Unions, it does not prevent each of 
those two Excluded D&O Claims from being pursued by one (but not both 
of): (i) the named Union; or (ii) a named individual LUSU or LUFA member 
as authorized representative on behalf of that Union’s members, pursuant to 
Rule 12 of the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure or to the Class Proceedings 
Act, 1992, provided that such Excluded D&O Claim brought by such named 
individual LUFA or LUSU representative shall be advanced on the same basis 
(including as to costs) as if advanced by LUFA or LUSU and shall continue 
to be strictly and narrowly limited to only the specific claimant(s) on whose 
behalf such claim was expressly asserted, and the specific defendant(s), 
specific cause(s) of action asserted, and maximum amount expressly asserted, 
in the proofs of claim filed by the Unions in the Claims Process on or before 
the D&O Claims Bar Date. 

Exit Financier  A party who provides exit financing to the Applicant in an amount sufficient 
to fully and permanently repay the DIP Facility. 

Exit Financing  A loan to be obtained by the Applicant, the proceeds of which are in an amount 
sufficient to fully and permanently repay the DIP Facility. 

Exit Financing 
Documentation 

 The loan agreement and related documentation entered into by the Applicant 
and the Exit Financier in connection with the Exit Financing. 

Exit Financing 
Facility 

 The Exit Financing facility to be entered into between the Applicant and the 
Exit Financier. 

EY  Ernst & Young Inc. in respect of services provided to the Applicant before 
and after the Filing Date, including in respect of services provided in its 
capacity as Monitor, and including any of its affiliates, partners, officers, 
directors, employees, agents, subcontractors and legal counsel. 

Filing Date  February 1, 2021. 

Governmental 
Authority 

 Any government (including the Provinces and the Federal Government), 
regulatory authority, governmental department, agency, commission, bureau, 
official, minister, Crown corporation, court, board, tribunal or dispute 
settlement panel or other law, rule or regulation-making organization or entity: 
(a) having or purporting to have jurisdiction on behalf of any nation, province, 
territory or state or any other geographic or political subdivision of any of 
them; or (b) exercising, or entitled or purporting to exercise any 
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administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, policy, regulatory or taxing 
authority or power. 

Guaranteed 
Minimum Plan 
Consideration 
Amount 

 Has the meaning given in Section 5.4. 

Huntington 
Released Claims 

 Solely in respect of Huntington University, any and all demands, claims, 
actions, causes of action, counterclaims, suits, debts, sums of money, 
liabilities, accounts, covenants, damages, judgments, orders (including orders 
for injunctive relief or specific performance and compliance orders), 
expenses, executions, encumbrances and recoveries on account of any 
liability, obligation, demand or cause of action of whatever nature that any 
Person has or may be entitled to assert, whether known or unknown, matured 
or unmatured, contingent or actual, direct, indirect or derivative, at common 
law, in equity or under statute, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter 
arising, based in whole or in part on any act, omission, transaction, duty, 
responsibility, indebtedness, liability, obligation, dealing, matter or 
occurrence existing or taking place at or prior to the Effective Time, that in 
any way relate to or arise out of or in connection with: (a) the discontinuation 
of the RHBP, and (b) the discontinuation of any courses or programs 
previously offered by Huntington University. 

Implementation 
Steps 

 Has the meaning given in Section 4.1. 

Initial Order  The Initial Order granted by Chief Justice Morawetz dated February 1, 2021, 
as amended and restated from time to time. 

Insured Claims  Those Claims listed on Schedule “A”. 

LUAPSA  Laurentian University Administrative and Professional Staff Association. 

LUFA  Laurentian University Faculty Association.  

LUSU  Laurentian University Staff Union.  

Material Post-
Filing Grievances 

 A post-filing grievance that may jeopardize the ordinary course operations of 
the Applicant or may jeopardize the restructuring of the Applicant in any way 
due to the nature of the post-filing grievance. 

Meeting  The meeting of Affected Creditors held pursuant to the Meeting Order to 
consider and vote on the Plan. 

Meeting Order  An order to be obtained from the Court directing the calling and holding of a 
Meeting of Affected Creditors to consider and vote on the Plan, as such order 
may be amended from time to time. 
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Monitor  Ernst & Young Inc., solely in its capacity as the Court-appointed Monitor of 
the Applicant. 

Monitor’s Plan 
Implementation 
Certificate 

 The certificate referred to in Section 10.3 of the Plan. 

Net Sale Proceeds  The remaining proceeds of sale after deducting all costs incurred by 
Laurentian in completing the sale of the Designated Real Estate Assets, 
including without limitation, if applicable, any relocation costs that may be 
necessary, the cost of renovating new space to make it suitable for the transfer 
of facilities, programs or people including moving from other buildings or 
premises, capital expenses incurred prior to the sale of the Designated Real 
Estate Assets, holding and carrying costs, taxes, professional fees including 
any consultants that may be required to assist with the process, and costs 
incurred in connection with the sale and transfer of the Designated Real Estate 
Assets. 

Non-Released 
Claims 

 Any and all of: 

(a) the right to enforce the Unaffected Claims against the 
Applicant, to the extent that such Unaffected Claims are not 
paid in full pursuant to the Plan; 

(b) the right to enforce against the Applicant any of its 
obligations under the Plan, under the Sanction Order, or under 
any document delivered by the Applicant on the Plan 
Implementation Date pursuant to the Plan; 

(c) the right to assert the Excluded D&O Claims, but only by the 
specific claimant(s), against the specific D&Os named in the 
Excluded D&O Claims, for the specific cause(s) of action 
asserted and for the maximum amount expressly 
particularized in each corresponding proof of claim; 

(d) claims by EY, the CRO, counsel to the Applicant, counsel to 
the Monitor, and independent counsel to the Board, including 
as secured by the CCAA Charges; or   

(e) any claim against a Released Party if the Released Party is 
adjudged by the express terms of a judgment rendered on a 
final determination on the merits to have committed fraud or 
wilful misconduct. 

NOSM Endowment 
Funds 

 The amount held in the investment account of the Applicant representing 
amounts received in respect of scholarships, bursaries and designated 
donations made by third parties for the benefit of NOSM University students, 
plus accumulated investment income and gains or losses, less amounts 
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distributed to NOSM University to fund such scholarships or bursaries, to be 
determined as at the Plan Implementation Date.1 

NOSM University  Northern Ontario School of Medicine University. 

Nous Governance 
Report 

 The Governance Review of Laurentian University Report dated January 2022. 

Nous Operational 
Report 

 The Operational Review of Laurentian University Report dated January 2022. 

Officers  All current and former officers of the Applicant, and “Officer” means any one 
of them. 

Order  Any final order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ, assessment or 
arbitration award of a Governmental Authority.  

Pension Plan  The Retirement Plan of Laurentian University of Sudbury, Registration No. 
0267013, which is administered as a single employer pension plan under the 
Pension Benefits Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. P.8 and the regulations made thereunder, 
including all amendments made by the Applicant during the CCAA 
Proceeding. 

Person  An individual, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, a trust, 
an unincorporated association, a Governmental Authority or any agency, 
instrumentality or political subdivision of a Governmental Authority, or any 
other entity or body, which for greater certainty includes the Applicant. 

Plan  This Amended Plan of Compromise and Arrangement pursuant to the CCAA 
concerning, affecting and involving the Applicant and its D&Os, including all 
Schedules listed herein.  

Plan Consideration  Has the meaning given in Section 5.2. 

Plan Default  Has the meaning given in Section 5.4. 

Plan 
Implementation 
Conditions 

 Has the meaning given in Section 10.1. 

 

1 The amount of the NOSM Endowment Funds as of April 30, 2022, was $14.6 million. The actual amount of the 
NOSM Endowment Funds that will be transferred to NOSM University will be updated to reflect further investment 
income and gain or losses earned on the NOSM Endowment Funds up to the month end prior to the Plan 
Implementation Date for which the most recently available monthly investment account statement is available. For 
purposes of determining investment income and gains or losses, the aggregate investment income, gains and losses 
in the Applicant’s investment account will be allocated proportionately as between the NOSM Endowment Funds 
and other Laurentian endowment funds held in the investment account. 
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Plan 
Implementation 
Date 

 The date that the Monitor delivers to the Service List in the CCAA Proceeding 
the Monitor’s Plan Implementation Certificate. 

Post-Plan 
Implementation 
Steps 

 Has the meaning given in Section 4.2. 

Pre-Filing Claim  Any right of any Person against the Applicant, in connection with any 
indebtedness, liability or obligation of any kind of the Applicant whether 
liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, 
undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, unsecured, present, future, known or 
unknown, by guarantee, surety or otherwise and whether or not such right is 
executory in nature, including the right or ability of any Person to advance a 
claim for contribution or indemnity (including any claim by a Director or 
Officer against the Applicant for contribution and/or indemnity arising from 
any D&O Claim) for or otherwise with respect to any matter, action, cause or 
chose in action, whether existing at present or commenced in the future, which 
indebtedness, liability or obligation (a) is based in whole or in part on facts 
existing prior to the Filing Date, (b) relates to a time period prior to the Filing 
Date, or (c) would have been a claim provable in bankruptcy had the Applicant 
become bankrupt on the Filing Date. 

Pre-Filing 
Grievances 

 Grievances based in whole or in part on facts existing prior to the Filing Date 
or related to a time period prior to the Filing Date. 

Project 
Management 
Consultant 

 Has the meaning given in Section 4.2. 

Proof of Claim  A proof of claim filed in accordance with the Claims Process Order or the 
Compensation Claims Process Order, as applicable. 

Proven Claim  A Claim (or the portion thereof) that has been finally determined: (a) in the 
case of an Affected Claim, for voting and distribution purposes, and (b) in the 
case of an Unaffected Claim, for the purposes of any treatment thereof 
contemplated by the Plan. 

Province  Her Majesty the Queen in right of Ontario and all of its ministries, agencies, 
and other entities. 

Real Estate 
Purchase 
Agreement 

 Has the meaning given in Section 5.2. 

Released Claims  In respect of the Released Parties, any and all demands of any kind, whether 
in respect of any debt, obligation, or property interest of any kind, claims 
(including claims for contribution or indemnity), actions, causes of action, 
counterclaims, suits, debts, sums of money or any manner of recovery, 
accounts, covenants, damages, judgments, orders (including orders for 
injunctive relief or specific performance and compliance orders), expenses, 
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executions, Encumbrances, and other recoveries on account of any liability, 
obligation, demand or cause of action of whatever nature, that any Person has 
or may be entitled to assert, whether or not asserted or filed, reduced to 
judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed, contingent, known or unknown, 
matured or unmatured, direct, indirect or derivative, foreseen or unforeseen, 
existing or hereafter arising, directly or by guarantee, surety or otherwise, and  
whether or not executory or anticipatory in nature, based in whole or in part 
on any right, act, omission, transaction, duty (including any legal, statutory, 
equitable or fiduciary duty or standard of care), responsibility, indebtedness, 
liability, obligation, dealing, matter or other occurrence existing or taking 
place at or prior to the Effective Time, or such later time as actions are taken 
to implement the Plan, that in any way relate to, or arise out of, or are in 
connection with: 

(a) any Claims; 

(b) any Claim that has been barred or extinguished by the Claims 
Process Order, the Compensation Claims Process Order or 
the Meeting Order, including for greater certainty any Claim 
that has not been filed with the Monitor by the applicable 
Claims Bar Dates; 

(c) any and all Pre-Filing Grievances, Restructuring Grievances, 
and Material Post-Filing Grievances by the Unions; 

(d) the assets, obligations, Business, property or affairs of the 
Applicant; 

(e) the administration and/or management of the Applicant 
(including but not limited to the Pension Plan and the RHBP); 

(f) the CCAA Proceeding or any matter or thing relating to or 
occurring in or in connection with the CCAA Proceeding, 
including but not limited to the terms of the Plan (but for 
greater certainty not any enforcement of the terms of the Plan 
against the Applicant); or 

(g) matters in respect of implementation of the Plan, either on or 
after the Plan Implementation Date; 

but which, for greater certainty, and notwithstanding anything else contained 
herein, shall not include any Non-Released Claims. 

Released Parties  Shall mean: (a) the Applicant (including in its capacity as administrator and 
sponsor of the Pension Plan), (b) the CRO, (c) EY, and (d) their respective 
Representatives. 

Representatives  In relation to a Person, the directors, officers, partners, employees, 
consultants, legal counsel, actuaries, advisers, and agents, including their 
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respective heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives, 
successors and assigns, and each of their respective employees and partners. 

Required Majority  With respect to the class of Affected Creditors, the affirmative vote of a 
majority in number of all voting (in person or by proxy) Affected Creditors 
holding Affected Claims and representing not less than 66 2/3% in value of 
the Affected Claims voting (in person or by proxy) at the Meeting. 

Restructuring 
Claim 

 Any indebtedness, liability or obligation of any kind arising out of the 
restructuring, termination, repudiation or disclaimer of any lease, contract, or 
other agreement or obligation on or after the Filing Date and whether such 
restructuring, termination, repudiation or disclaimer took place or takes place 
before or after the date of the Claims Process Order. 

Restructuring 
Grievances 

 Grievances arising as a result of the restructuring of the Applicant prior to the 
date of the Compensation Claims Process Order, including for greater 
certainty any grievance related to the Union Restructuring Agreements. 

Restructuring Steps  Together, the Implementation Steps and the Post-Plan Implementation Steps. 

Retiree  A former employee of the Applicant who has retired from the Applicant, with 
such retirement being effective prior to April 30, 2021. 

RFP  Request for Proposals.   

RHBP  The Retirees Health Benefit Plan administered by the Applicant, including as 
it relates to Employees, Retirees, and Third Party Employees. 

Sanction Order  An Order under the CCAA sanctioning the Plan and other relief contemplated 
in the Plan, as such order may be amended by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, in form and content satisfactory to the Applicant. 

Schedules  Has the meaning given in Section 1.5. 

Secured Claims  All Proven Claims of a Creditor, to the extent that it is determined in the 
Claims Process that such Claims are secured by a valid Encumbrance that is 
duly and properly registered or otherwise perfected in accordance with 
Applicable Law in the appropriate jurisdiction as of the Filing Date or 
thereafter pursuant to an Order, to the extent of the value of such Encumbrance 
as at the Filing Date (having regard to the value of the assets subject to such 
Encumbrance and the priority of such Encumbrance) and which Claim is 
entitled to be proven as a secured claim pursuant to the provisions of the 
CCAA. 

Secured Creditor  Any Creditor with a Secured Claim. 

Strategic Plan  Has the meaning given in Section 4.2. 
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SuRP  All supplementary pension arrangements including the Laurentian University 
Supplemental Retirement Plan and all individual contractual supplementary 
pension arrangements. 

Third Parties  Huntington University, Thorneloe University, University of Sudbury, 
Sudbury Neutrino Observatory Laboratory, Mining Innovation Rehabilitation 
and Applied Research Corporation, and Centre for Excellence in Mining 
Innovation. 

Third Party 
Employees 

 Any current or former employee of a Third Party, including any retirees or 
surviving spouses of retirees of the Third Party, who participated in the RHBP. 

Transformation 
Consultation Group 

 Has the meaning given in Section 4.1(b). 

Unaffected Claim  Has the meaning given in Section 2.3. 

Unaffected 
Creditor 

 A Creditor of the Applicant with an Unaffected Claim, but only as it relates to 
such portion of its Claim that is an Unaffected Claim, if any. 

Undeliverable 
Distribution 

 Has the meaning given in Section 7.11. 

Union 
Restructuring 
Agreements 

 (a) The term sheet, including its schedules (including for greater 
certainty, the Pension Term Sheet dated April 7, 2021, entered into 
between the Applicant and LUFA dated April 7, 2021; 

(b) the term sheet, including its schedules (including for greater certainty, 
the Pension Term Sheet dated April 7, 2021), entered into between the 
Applicant and LUSU dated April 5, 2021, and 

(c) the memorandum of understanding entered into between the 
Applicant and LUFA dated April 7, 2021. 

Unions  Collectively, LUFA and LUSU. 

Unresolved Claim  A Claim (or the portion thereof) in respect of which a Proof of Claim has been 
filed in a proper and timely manner or a notice of claim delivered by the 
Applicant or the Monitor, in each case prior to the applicable Claims Bar Dates 
in accordance with the Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims 
Process Order, but which Claim has not been finally determined in accordance 
with the Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order.  
For greater certainty, Unresolved Claims shall not include any Claims that 
have been disallowed in the Claims Process or the Compensation Claims 
Process, which disallowance constitutes a final determination of the Claim. 

Unresolved Claims 
Reserve 

 Has the meaning given in Section 6.1. 
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Unresolved Secured 
Claim 

 An Unresolved Claim wherein the Proof of Claim asserts that such Claim (or 
a portion thereof) is secured by a valid Encumbrance. 

Vacation Pay 
Compensation 
Claim 

 The Claim of a former employee for outstanding vacation pay equal to the 
difference, if any, between: (a) unpaid vacation pay owing to such former 
employee as of the last day of employment, and (b) any amounts required to 
be paid to the former employee pursuant to section 6(5) of the CCAA, as 
determined in accordance with the Compensation Claims Process Order. 

1.2 Certain Rules of Interpretation 

For the purposes of the Plan: 

(a) any reference in the Plan to a contract, instrument, release, indenture, or other 
agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and 
conditions means that such document will be substantially in such form or 
substantially on such terms and conditions; 

(b) any reference in the Plan to an Order or an existing document or exhibit filed or to 
be filed means such Order, document or exhibit as it may have been or may be 
amended, modified, or supplemented; 

(c) unless otherwise specified, all references to currency are in Canadian dollars; 

(d) the division of the Plan into “articles” and “sections” and the insertion of a table of 
contents are for convenience of reference only and do not affect the construction or 
interpretation of the Plan, nor are the descriptive headings of “articles” and 
“sections” intended as complete or accurate descriptions of the content thereof; 

(e) the use of words in the singular or plural, or with a particular gender, including a 
definition, will not limit the scope or exclude the application of any provision of 
the Plan or a schedule hereto to such Person (or Persons) or circumstances as the 
context otherwise permits;  

(f) the words “includes” and “including” and similar terms of inclusion will not, unless 
expressly modified by the words “only” or “solely”, be construed as terms of 
limitation, but rather will mean “includes but is not limited to” and “including but 
not limited to”, so that references to included matters will be regarded as illustrative 
without being either characterizing or exhaustive; 

(g) unless otherwise specified, all references to time herein and in any document issued 
pursuant hereto mean local time in Toronto, Ontario and any reference to an event 
occurring on a Business Day means prior to 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on such 
Business Day; 

(h) unless otherwise specified, time periods within or following which any payment is 
to be made or act is to be done will be calculated by excluding the day on which 
the period commences and including the day on which the period ends and by 

TAB 2 296



 

 15 

extending the period to the next succeeding Business Day if the last day of the 
period is not a Business Day; 

(i) unless otherwise provided, any reference to a statute or other enactment of 
parliament or a legislature or Governmental Authority includes all regulations made 
thereunder, all amendments to or re-enactments of such statute or regulations in 
force from time to time, and, if applicable, any statute or regulation that 
supplements or supersedes such statute or regulation;  

(j) references to a specified “article” or “section” will, unless something in the subject 
matter or context is inconsistent therewith, be construed as references to that 
specified article or section of the Plan, whereas the terms “the Plan”, “hereof”, 
“herein”, “hereto”, “hereunder” and similar expressions will be deemed to refer 
generally to the Plan and not to any particular article, section or other portion of the 
Plan and includes any documents supplemental hereto; 

(k) references to “Affected Creditor”, or “Unaffected Creditor” refer to Creditors of 
the Applicant in such capacity; and 

(l) when a capitalized term used in the Plan references a definition in an Order or any 
other document, the Plan shall be interpreted as if the definition in that Order or 
other document is included in the Plan. 

1.3 Successors and Assigns 

The Plan will be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the heirs, administrators, executors, legal 
personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of any Person named or referred to in 
or subject to the Plan. 

1.4 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

The Plan will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario 
and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.  All questions as to the interpretation of or 
application of the Plan and all proceedings taken in connection with the Plan and its provisions 
will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court. 

1.5 Schedule 

The following Schedule to the Plan (the “Schedule”) is incorporated by reference into the Plan 
and forms a part of it: 

Schedule “A” – Insured Claims 
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ARTICLE II 
PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF THE PLAN 

2.1 Purpose 

The purposes of the Plan are to: 

(a) complete a restructuring of the Applicant by, among other things, implementation 
of the Plan, which will provide the Applicant with the opportunity to operate as a 
going concern bilingual and tri-cultural post-secondary university in the City of 
Sudbury; 

(b) provide for the compromise of all Affected Claims by providing to Affected 
Creditors with Proven Claims a distribution in accordance with the terms of the 
Plan; 

(c) effect a release and discharge of all Affected Claims, Released Claims, and the 
Huntington Released Claims; 

(d) provide a basis whereby the Applicant and its operations continue as a going 
concern, having addressed its liquidity issues, long-term financial viability issues, 
with recommendations to address operational and governance components, all with 
the expectation that the Affected Creditors will derive a greater benefit from 
implementation of the Plan than they would receive from a bankruptcy or 
liquidation of the Applicant; and 

(e) permit the Applicant to exit the CCAA Proceeding. 

2.2 Affected Claims and Released Claims 

The Plan provides for the compromise of all Affected Claims held by Affected Creditors and a 
full, final, and irrevocable release and discharge of the Released Claims and Huntington Released 
Claims.  The Plan will become effective at the Effective Time in accordance with its terms and 
will be binding on and enure to the benefit of the Applicant, the Released Parties, and all other 
Persons named or referred to in, or who are subject to, the Plan. 

2.3 Unaffected Claims 

In accordance with Section 11.1, the Plan, in its entirety, is binding on Unaffected Creditors. 
Subject to the foregoing, the Plan does not compromise in any manner the following claims 
(collectively, the “Unaffected Claims”): 

(a) CCAA Priority Claims; 

(b) Vacation Pay Compensation Claims; 

(c) Insured Claims; 
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(d) Excluded D&O Claims; 

(e) Secured Claims; and 

(f) claims by EY, the CRO, counsel to the Applicant, counsel to the Monitor, and 
independent counsel to the Board, including as secured by the CCAA Charges. 

Nothing in the Plan will affect the Applicant’s rights and defences, both legal and equitable, with 
respect to any Unaffected Claims including all rights or entitlements to set-offs or recoupments 
against such Unaffected Claims. 

2.4 Plan is Without Prejudice to Excluded D&O Claims 

(a) Subject to the express provisions hereof, the Plan does not compromise or affect in 
any manner the Excluded D&O Claims as against the D&Os. 

(b) The Claims Process was conducted for the purpose of identifying all potential 
Claims and determining the validity and quantum, if any, of Affected Claims for 
voting and distribution purposes within the CCAA Proceeding. The Claims Process 
(including any steps taken within the Claims Process or any determinations made 
in the Claims Process) is without prejudice to any positions, rights, defences or 
arguments that any Creditor, the Applicant, the D&Os, their insurer(s), or the 
Monitor have or may have, now or in the future, in respect of any Excluded D&O 
Claim.  A finding or determination of any issue respecting the validity or quantum 
of any Affected Claim against the Applicant, if any, shall not have any effect 
whatsoever beyond the Claims Process, and shall not be admissible in or have any 
effect upon, any subsequent proceeding against any D&O, including in respect of 
any applicable insurance policy. 

ARTICLE III 
CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CREDITORS AND RELATED MATTERS 

3.1 Claims Process 

The procedure for determining the validity and quantum of the Affected Claims for voting and/or 
distribution purposes under the Plan will be governed by the Claims Process Order, the 
Compensation Claims Process Order, the Meeting Order, the CCAA, the Plan, and any further 
Order of the Court.  For greater certainty, the Claims Process Order and the Compensation Claims 
Process Order will remain in full force and effect from and after the Plan Implementation Date. 

3.2 Classification of Creditors 

In accordance with the Meeting Order, Affected Creditors will be placed into a single class for 
purposes of considering and voting on the Plan at the Meeting. 
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3.3 Creditors’ Meeting 

The Meeting will be held in accordance with the Meeting Order and any further Order of the Court.  
The only Persons entitled to attend the Meeting are those specified in the Meeting Order and any 
further Order of the Court. 

3.4 Treatment of CCAA Priority Claims 

Holders of CCAA Priority Claims shall not be entitled to vote on the Plan in respect of any portion 
of their Claim that is a CCAA Priority Claim.  CCAA Priority Claims shall not be compromised 
under the Plan.  At the Effective Time, CCAA Priority Claims will be fully, finally, irrevocably 
and forever released, discharged, cancelled and barred, subject only to the right of holders of 
CCAA Priority Claims to receive distributions pursuant to Section 7.3 of the Plan. 

3.5 Treatment of Secured Claims 

Secured Creditors shall not be entitled to vote on the Plan in respect of any portion of their Claim 
that is a Secured Claim.  Secured Claims shall not be compromised under the Plan.  At the Effective 
Time, Secured Claims will be fully, finally, irrevocably and forever released, discharged, cancelled 
and barred, subject only to the right of Secured Creditors to receive distributions pursuant to 
Section 7.4 of the Plan. 

3.6 Treatment of Vacation Pay Compensation Claims 

Holders of Vacation Pay Compensation Claims shall not be entitled to vote on the Plan in respect 
of any portion of their Claim that is a Vacation Pay Compensation Claim.  Vacation Pay 
Compensation Claims shall not be compromised under the Plan.  At the Effective Time, Vacation 
Pay Compensation Claims will be fully, finally, irrevocably and forever released, discharged, 
cancelled and barred, subject only to the right of a holder of a Vacation Pay Compensation Claim 
to receive distributions pursuant to Section 7.5 of the Plan. 

3.7 Treatment of Affected Claims 

Affected Creditors shall be entitled to vote on the Plan.  Affected Claims will be compromised and 
released under the Plan.  At the Effective Time, all Affected Claims will be fully, finally, 
irrevocably and forever compromised, released, discharged, cancelled and barred, subject only to 
the right of Affected Creditors with Proven Claims to receive one or more pro rata, pari passu 
distributions from the Distribution Pool pursuant to Section 7.6 of the Plan. 

3.8 Unaffected Claims 

Unaffected Creditors shall not be entitled to vote on the Plan.  Unaffected Claims entitled to any 
payment under this Plan will be dealt with in accordance with Sections 3.4 to 3.6 and Sections 7.2 
to 7.5 of the Plan. For clarity, the Plan will be binding on the Unaffected Claims in accordance 
with Section 11.1 of the Plan. 
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3.9 Insured Claims 

(a) Holders of Insured Claims shall not be entitled to vote on the Plan. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary herein, Insured Claims shall be fully, finally, irrevocably and 
forever released, discharged, cancelled and barred as against the Released Parties by the 
Plan. From and after the Effective Time, any Person having an Insured Claim will 
irrevocably be limited to recovery in respect of such Insured Claim solely from the 
proceeds of any applicable insurance policies of the Applicant. Persons with an Insured 
Claim will have no right to, and will not, directly or indirectly, make any claim or seek any 
recoveries from the Released Parties, other than enforcing such Person’s rights to be paid 
by the applicable insurer(s) from the proceeds of the applicable insurance policies. 

(b) This Section 3.9 may be relied upon by the Applicant and any other Released Party in 
defence or estoppel of or to enjoin any claim, action or proceeding brought in contravention 
of this section.  Nothing in the Plan will prejudice, compromise, release or otherwise affect 
any right or defence of any insured or insurer in respect of an Insured Claim. 

3.10 Unresolved Claims 

No holder of an Unresolved Claim shall be entitled to receive any payment or distribution 
hereunder with respect to an Unresolved Claim or any portion thereof unless and until, and then 
only to the extent that, such Unresolved Claim is finally determined pursuant to the Claims Process 
Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order, as applicable, and becomes a Proven Claim. 

3.11 Extinguishment of Claims 

At the Effective Time, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Sanction Order, the 
treatment of Affected Claims (including Unresolved Claims), Released Claims, and Huntington 
Released Claims will be final and binding on the Applicant, the Creditors, and any Person holding 
a Released Claim or a Huntington Released Claim. Save and except as set out in the Plan, the 
Applicant and the Released Parties will have no further obligation whatsoever in respect of the 
Affected Claims and the Released Claims, as applicable, and Huntington University will have no 
further obligation whatsoever solely in respect of the Huntington Released Claims. 

3.12 Guarantees and Similar Covenants 

No Person who has a claim under any guarantee, surety, indemnity or similar covenant in respect 
of any Claim that is compromised and released under the Plan or who has any right to claim over 
in respect of, or to be subrogated to, the rights of any Person in respect of a Claim that is 
compromised under the Plan will be entitled to any greater rights as against the Applicant than the 
Person whose Claim is compromised under the Plan. 

3.13 Set-Off 

The law of set-off applies to all Claims in accordance with Applicable Law.  Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, the Applicant will be entitled to set-off from any payments or 
distributions to be made to a Creditor hereunder any amounts due and owing to the Applicant from 
such Creditor. 
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ARTICLE IV 
IMPLEMENTATION OF RESTRUCTURING 

4.1 Restructuring Steps on the Plan Implementation Date 

At the Effective Time, the following will occur, and be deemed to have occurred, as applicable, in 
the order set out below unless otherwise specified in this Section 4.1 and become effective, without 
any further act or formality: 

(a) the DIP Facility shall be repaid in full through the proceeds of the Exit Financing 
Facility in full and final satisfaction of all obligations and liabilities under the DIP 
Loan Agreement; 

(b) the Applicant shall transfer to NOSM University, or as NOSM University may 
direct, that portion of the investment account equal to the aggregate amount of the 
NOSM Endowment Funds.  For greater certainty, the Applicant shall continue to 
hold all endowment funds representing amounts received in respect of scholarships, 
bursaries, and designated donations for the benefit of the Applicant’s students, other 
than the NOSM Endowment Funds; 

(c) the Applicant shall deliver to the Monitor, in trust, the Administration Reserve in 
accordance with Section 6.2 hereof; 

(d) to the extent not already paid, the Applicant shall pay into the Distribution Pool the 
amount of cash required to satisfy the CCAA Priority Claims, the Secured Claims, 
and Vacation Pay Compensation Claims, in full, which Unaffected Claims shall be 
paid by the Monitor, for and on behalf of the Applicant, in accordance with 
Article VII.  In the case of former employees of the Applicant, payment of the 
CCAA Priority Claims and Vacation Pay Compensation Claims shall be paid ten 
Business Days after the clearance from Employment and Social Development 
Canada; 

(e) all Affected Claims shall be fully, finally, irrevocably and forever released, 
discharged, cancelled and barred as against the Applicant; and 

(f) all Released Claims and Huntington Released Claims will be fully, finally, 
irrevocably and forever released, discharged, cancelled and barred in accordance 
with Article VIII, and all notes, certificates and other instruments evidencing the 
Released Claims (and all guarantees associated with each of the foregoing) will be 
deemed cancelled and extinguished and be null and void in accordance with Section 
7.13 hereof. 

(each, an “Implementation Step” and collectively, the “Implementation Steps”). The failure of 
the Plan to incorporate any provision of a document evidencing an Implementation Step will not 
derogate from the enforceability of such provision. 
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4.2 Restructuring Steps Following Plan Implementation 

Following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will take the following actions, all being 
subject to such terms and conditions as may be contained in the Exit Financing Documentation: 

(a) within 60 calendar days following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will 
run an RFP process to engage a third party consultant or consultants to lead the 
comprehensive operational restructuring and transformation (the “Project 
Management Consultant”) recommended by Nous in the Nous Operational 
Report. The Applicant shall consult with and seek input from the Unions and 
LUAPSA with respect to the engagement of the Project Management Consultant 
through the RFP process, and will ensure that the transformational process led by 
the Project Management Consultant, once engaged, includes consultation and input 
from various constituents and stakeholders; 

(b) within 60 calendar days following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will 
undertake a process to identify individuals to consult with the Applicant and the 
Project Management Consultant regarding the recommendations in the Nous 
Operational Report (the “Transformation Consultation Group”). The 
Transformation Consultation Group that will work with the Applicant and the 
Project Management Consultant will be comprised of members selected by the 
Unions, LUAPSA, and drawn from other key stakeholder groups; 

(c) within 120 calendar days following the engagement of the Project Management 
Consultant, the Applicant will work with the Project Management Consultant, in 
consultation with and after seeking input from the Transformation Consultation 
Group, to develop a detailed plan (which shall include, among other things, the 
identification of priorities, required steps, timing, resources, sequencing, goals and 
deliverables) for undertaking the comprehensive operational restructuring and 
transformation described in the Nous Operational Report; 

(d) following completion of the comprehensive operational restructuring and 
transformation led by the Project Management Consultant, a Continuous 
Improvement Committee will be created to periodically review service-delivery 
and other operational processes, procedures and policies to ensure that the 
operational decisions of the Applicant continue to be guided by best practices in 
the sector. The Continuous Improvement Committee will include representation 
selected by the Unions, LUAPSA, and drawn from other stakeholders of the 
Applicant; 

(e) following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will consult with and seek 
input from various constituents and stakeholders in respect of the governance 
recommendations in the Nous Governance Report.  The parties to be consulted will 
include members of the Unions including individuals selected by the Unions, the 
Senate, LUAPSA and other key stakeholder groups. In the event that a committee 
is struck for the purpose of making recommendations to the Board and/or Senate 
on the issue of academics, academic freedom or collegial governance in accordance 
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with the NOUS Governance Report, LUFA will have at least one representative on 
such committee.  Nothing in this section derivates or otherwise detracts from 
LUFA’s rights under Section 2.30 of its collective agreement; 

(f) within 60 calendar days following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will 
make the following requests (jointly with LUFA and LUSU, to the extent 
applicable) to the Ministry of Colleges and Universities for an amendment to the 
The Laurentian University of Sudbury Act, 1960, to permit: 

(i) representation of up to a maximum of two (2) members from LUFA as 
voting members of the Board of Governors, to be elected by LUFA from 
LUFA membership; and 

(ii) representation of a minimum of one (1) member from LUSU as voting 
members of the Board of Governors, to be elected by LUSU from LUSU 
membership. 

(g) To the extent not already done and subject to any amendments required under the 
The Laurentian University of Sudbury Act, 1960, within 60 calendar days following 
the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will make amendments to the Bylaws 
of the Board of Governors consistent with the following principles: 

(i) establishing certain minimum requirements of the Board of Governors 
regarding the skillset and diversity of the Board of Governors that are 
consistent with best practices of other Ontario post-secondary education 
organizations; 

(ii) including maximum terms of appointment to the Board of Governors; and 

(iii) requiring regular ongoing training for current and future members of the 
Board of Governors; 

(h) within 120 calendar days following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant 
shall have completed an RFP process and retained a third-party consultant to assist 
the Applicant and its stakeholders in the development of a new strategic plan (the 
“Strategic Plan”).  The Applicant shall consult with and seek input from the 
Unions and LUAPSA with respect to the engagement of a third-party consultant 
through the RFP process and will ensure that the process led by the third-party 
consultant, once engaged, includes consultation and input from various constituents 
and stakeholders including but not limited to the Unions. The Applicant will take 
the appropriate steps to make any changes that are necessary to align the Applicant 
with the new Strategic Plan by no later than two (2) years following the Plan 
Implementation Date; and 

(i) with respect to funding received by the Applicant from and after December 20, 
2020, that are designated for restricted purposes (for example, research grants or 
restricted donations), the Applicant will ensure that appropriate internal financial 
controls and restrictions are in place such that the funds will be available and used 
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only for such intended purposes as set out in the relevant research grant 
documentation or restricted donation agreement, as applicable.  As it relates to 
funding received by the Applicant from and after December 20, 2020, including 
following the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant will continue to honour the 
contractual commitments that the Applicant made to various research and granting 
agencies. 

(collectively, the “Post-Plan Implementation Steps”). 

4.3 Corporate Approvals 

The execution, delivery, implementation and consummation of all matters contemplated under the 
Plan involving any actions of the Applicant, including the Restructuring Steps, will be authorized 
and approved under the Plan and by the Court as part of the Sanction Order or such separate Order 
of the Court as may be deemed advisable by the Applicant in all respects and for all purposes 
without any requirement of further action by any Person. 

ARTICLE V 
PLAN CONSIDERATION 

5.1 Conditional Real Estate Agreement of Purchase and Sale 

Prior to the Plan Implementation Date, the Applicant shall use best efforts to negotiate and enter 
into a conditional agreement of purchase and sale (the “Conditional Real Estate Agreement”) 
with the Province consistent with the terms and conditions set out in the letter from counsel to the 
Province dated May 6, 2022. 

5.2 Identification of Designated Real Estate Assets 

(a) The Applicant will make all of its real estate assets available for sale to the Province 
and will engage in discussions with the Province and make all information in its 
possession related to any and all of the Applicant’s real estate holdings available to 
assist the Province in undertaking its due diligence to identify the Designated Real 
Estate Assets for an aggregate purchase price of up to $53.5 million (the “Plan 
Consideration”). 

(b) The Applicant shall negotiate and enter into one or more unconditional agreements 
of purchase and sale (together, the “Real Estate Purchase Agreement”) with the 
Province in respect of the Designated Real Estate Assets for aggregate 
consideration of up to the Plan Consideration.  The terms and conditions of the Real 
Estate Purchase Agreement, including but not limited to the identification of the 
Designated Real Estate Assets, shall be satisfactory to the Province. 

(c) The Applicant and the Province will negotiate the terms of the Real Estate Purchase 
Agreement, including the determination of value to be attributed to the Designated 
Real Estate Assets and the terms for the Applicant’s continued use of the 
Designated Real Estate Assets and any other related issues.  The Applicant will 
request that the Real Estate Purchase Agreement include terms that permit the 
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Applicant’s continued use and occupation of the Designated Real Estate Assets for 
the same or similar purpose as such Designated Real Estate Assets are currently 
being used, on such terms as may be agreed with the Province.  Costs in respect of 
relocation, renovating new space to make it suitable for the transfer of facilities, 
programs or people are not anticipated to be required, or, if required in respect of 
any particular building, not to the same extent as if the real estate assets were 
marketed and sold to a third party. 

(d) The Net Sale Proceeds obtained following the sale by the Applicant of the 
Designated Real Estate Assets up to the maximum amount of the Plan 
Consideration shall be transferred to the Distribution Pool as soon as reasonably 
practicable and shall be available for distribution in accordance with the terms of 
the Plan. 

5.3 Credit from Distribution Pool 

For greater certainty, the maximum aggregate amount available for distribution to Creditors under 
the Plan is the Plan Consideration.  If the Applicant pays any amount into the Distribution Pool 
pursuant to this Plan, the Applicant shall be repaid such amount forthwith from the Net Sale 
Proceeds transferred to the Distribution Pool pursuant to Section 5.2. The Applicant shall be 
entitled to repayment in full of any amounts paid by the Applicant into the Distribution Pool prior 
to any distribution to Affected Creditors pursuant to Section 7.6. 

5.4 Plan Default 

(a) A minimum of $45.5 million (the “Guaranteed Minimum Plan Consideration 
Amount”) shall be realized from the sale of the Designated Real Estate Assets and 
transferred to the Distribution Pool by no later than the third anniversary of the Plan 
Implementation Date.  If the Guaranteed Minimum Plan Consideration Amount is 
not funded to the Distribution Pool by the third anniversary of the Plan 
Implementation Date, an event of default will have occurred under the Plan (the 
“Plan Default”).  The Monitor shall provide written notice to the Applicant that a 
Plan Default has occurred and shall file a report with the Court. 

(b) Upon the occurrence of a Plan Default, the Applicant shall have a period of twelve 
(12) months from the date that it receives written notice from the Monitor of a Plan 
Default (the “Cure Period”) to cure the Plan Default.  A Plan Default may only be 
cured by the Applicant transferring to the Monitor an amount of cash equal to the 
difference between (a) the Guaranteed Minimum Plan Consideration Amount; and 
(b) the aggregate amount transferred into the Distribution Pool on or following the 
Plan Implementation Date. 

(c) If a Plan Default is not cured within the Cure Period and a Plan Default continues 
to exist, the Monitor shall file with the Court and serve on the Service List a 
certificate confirming that a Plan Default is continuing, and the Plan is terminated 
(the “Plan Default Certificate”). Upon the Monitor filing the Plan Default 
Certificate with the Court, all Affected Creditors with Proven Claims under the Plan 
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shall have their Proven Claims reinstated with a claim in an amount equal to the 
amount of their Proven Claim less any distributions received by the Affected 
Creditor under the Plan. Such reinstated claims shall no longer be compromised, 
released, discharged, or cancelled in accordance with the Plan. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Monitor or the Applicant may bring a motion to the Court for advice 
and directions with respect to the Plan Default and termination of the Plan. 

ARTICLE VI 
UNRESOLVED CLAIMS RESERVE AND ADMINISTRATION RESERVE 

6.1 Unresolved Claims Reserve 

(a) The Monitor shall hold back from any distribution from the Distribution Pool an 
amount sufficient to pay each holder of an Unresolved Claim the amount such 
holder would be entitled to receive under the Plan if such Unresolved Claim (or 
certain portions thereof) is determined to be a Proven Claim in accordance with the 
Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order (the “Unresolved 
Claims Reserve”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Applicant shall not be 
required to pay into the Distribution Pool any amounts in respect of an Unresolved 
Secured Claim. Distributions with respect to Unresolved Secured Claims shall be 
made in accordance with Section 7.9. 

(b) The Monitor shall, in its reasonable discretion, assign a value to any Claim by a 
D&O against the Applicant for contribution or indemnity arising from an Excluded 
D&O Claim (a “D&O Indemnity Claim”) for purposes of calculating the 
Unresolved Claims Reserve.  The Monitor may reduce the Unresolved Claims 
Reserve with respect to a D&O Indemnity Claim if the Monitor, acting reasonably, 
determines that any Excluded D&O Claim is resolved or statute-barred. 

(c) The Monitor shall oversee the distribution of funds from the Unresolved Claims 
Reserve in accordance with Article VII of the Plan. 

6.2 Administration Reserve 

(a) At the Effective Time, the Applicant shall transfer to the Monitor, in trust, 
$1,000,000 (the “Administration Reserve”), as security for the fees and expenses 
of counsel to the Applicant, the Monitor and its counsel, and independent counsel 
to the Board of Governors, with respect to the continued administration and 
implementation of the Plan, including the administration of the resolution of 
Unresolved Claims in accordance with the Claims Process Order and the 
Compensation Claims Process Order, negotiation with respect to the Designated 
Real Estate Assets, distributions by the Monitor, and to perform such other 
activities as may be required after the Effective Time.  If the Administration 
Reserve is no longer required as security after the Monitor has completed its 
obligations as set out in the Plan, the Administration Reserve shall be released by 
the Monitor to the Applicant. 
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(b) Counsel to the Applicant, the Monitor and its counsel, and independent counsel to 
the Board of Governors shall be entitled to payment of their respective fees and 
expenses incurred in connection with the continued administration and 
implementation of the Plan by the Applicant in the ordinary course. 

6.3 General 

The Monitor will hold the Unresolved Claims Reserve and the Administration Reserve in trust for 
those entitled to such funds pursuant to the Plan. 

ARTICLE VII 
PROVISIONS REGARDING DISTRIBUTIONS, PAYMENTS AND CURRENCY 

7.1 Distributions Generally 

All distributions and other payments to be made pursuant to the Plan will be made from the 
Distribution Pool pursuant to and in accordance with the priority established by this Article VII, 
provided that any payments pursuant to Section 7.2 in respect of Claims secured by the 
Administration Charge shall be paid directly by the Applicant and not from the Distribution Pool.  
All payments and distributions pursuant to this Article VII will be subject to satisfaction or waiver 
of the conditions specified in Article X hereof and the occurrence of the Effective Time.  Except 
as otherwise expressly stated herein, the Monitor shall have the sole discretion to determine the 
timing for any distributions to be made under the Plan.  Notwithstanding any other provision of 
the Plan, any distribution to a Creditor with a Compensation Claim will be subject to the Applicant 
and the Monitor first obtaining EI Confirmation in respect of such Creditor and resolving any 
issues regarding applicable withholdings in respect of such distribution to the satisfaction of the 
Applicant and the Monitor, acting reasonably.  For clarity, no Creditor shall be entitled to any 
distributions with respect to a Claim for interest accruing on or after the Filing Date. 

7.2 Payments of Claims secured by the Administration Charge 

To the extent that such payments have not already been made, forthwith after the Plan 
Implementation Date, the Applicant shall pay in full all Claims secured by the Administration 
Charge as at the Plan Implementation Date. 

7.3 Payment of CCAA Priority Claims 

After the Plan Implementation Date and subject to any required clearance from Employment and 
Social Development Canada, the Monitor, on behalf of the Applicant, shall pay from the 
Distribution Pool to each holder of a CCAA Priority Claim the amounts required to satisfy such 
holder’s CCAA Priority Claim in full. 

7.4 Payment of Secured Claims 

Subject to the payment in full of the amounts described in Section 7.3 of the Plan, forthwith after 
the Plan Implementation Date (or such later date as a portion of an Unresolved Claim becomes a 
Secured Claim), the Monitor, on behalf of the Applicant, shall pay from the Distribution Pool to 
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each Secured Creditor the amount required to satisfy each Secured Creditor’s Secured Claim in 
full. 

7.5 Payment of Vacation Pay Compensation Claims 

Subject to payment in full of all amounts described in in Sections 7.3 to 7.4 of the Plan, forthwith 
after the Plan Implementation Date, the Monitor, on behalf of the Applicant, shall pay from the 
Distribution Pool to each holder of a Vacation Pay Compensation Claim the amount required to 
satisfy each Vacation Pay Compensation Claim in full. 

7.6 Payment of Affected Claims 

(a) Subject to: (i) the payment in full of all amounts described in Sections 7.3 to 7.5 of 
the Plan, and (ii) repayment to the Applicant of all amounts paid into the 
Distribution Pool by the Applicant pursuant to Section 5.3 of the Plan, the Monitor, 
on behalf of the Applicant, shall distribute the balance of the Distribution Pool to 
the Affected Creditors with Proven Claims pursuant to one or more pro rata 
distributions in full and final satisfaction of all Affected Claims.  No distributions 
will be made where the pro rata distribution is less than $10.  The Applicant’s 
liability to an Affected Creditor with a Proven Claim for any distribution in an 
amount less than $10 will be forever discharged and extinguished. 

(b) The Monitor shall have no liability as to the sufficiency of funds in the Distribution 
Pool and shall be under no obligation to take any action or make any payments for 
which there are insufficient funds. 

7.7 Method of Distribution 

The Monitor may, in its sole discretion, make distributions by way of: (a) cheque sent by prepaid 
ordinary mail to the address on file with the Applicant on the Distribution Record Date; or (b) wire 
transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by the Creditor to the 
Monitor (with any wire transfer or similar fee being satisfied from the distribution amount). 

7.8 Addresses for Distribution 

Prior to the applicable Distribution Record Date, a Creditor may, in writing to the Applicant and 
the Monitor, change its address on file with the Applicant for distribution purposes. 

7.9 Distributions in Respect of Unresolved Claims 

(a) Subject to Section 6.1, the Monitor will hold the Unresolved Claims Reserve in 
trust (as such reserve may be reduced from time to time as Unresolved Claims are 
ultimately disallowed in whole or in part) until the final determination of all 
Unresolved Claims in accordance with the Claims Process Order or the 
Compensation Claims Process Order, as applicable, or in the case of a D&O 
Indemnity Claim, the Unresolved Claims Reserve may be reduced in accordance 
with Section 6.1 of the Plan. 
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(b) To the extent that an Unresolved Claim becomes a Proven Claim, the Monitor, on 
behalf of the Applicant, shall distribute to the holder thereof an amount from the 
Unresolved Claims Reserve that such Creditor would have been entitled to receive 
in respect of its Proven Claim on such preceding Distribution Date had such 
Unresolved Claim been a Proven Claim on the preceding Distribution Date(s).  
Distribution from the Unresolved Claims Reserve shall be consistent with the 
payments described in Sections 7.3 to 7.6 of the Plan. 

(c) To the extent that an Unresolved Secured Claim becomes a Proven Claim, the 
Monitor, on behalf of the Applicant, shall make a distribution from the Distribution 
Pool to the Secured Creditor in accordance with Section 7.4.  If there are no funds 
in the Distribution Pool at such time, the Applicant shall pay into the Distribution 
Pool the amount required to satisfy an Unresolved Secured Claim that becomes a 
Proven Claim. 

(d) After all Unresolved Claims have been finally resolved in accordance with the 
Claims Process Order or the Compensation Claims Process Order, as applicable, 
and any required distributions have been made with respect to any Proven Claims, 
the Monitor, on behalf of the Applicant, will transfer the amount remaining in the 
Unresolved Claims Reserve into the Distribution Pool.  If the Monitor is of the view 
that the distribution of any amounts remaining in the Unresolved Claims Reserve 
is not economically practical (taking into consideration any anticipated future 
distributions), then the Monitor will release the amounts remaining in the 
Unresolved Claims Reserve to the Applicant. 

7.10 Allocation of Distributions 

All distributions made pursuant to the Plan to Affected Creditors with Proven Claims will be 
allocated first towards the repayment of the amount of the Proven Claim attributable to principal 
and, if greater than the amount of principal, second, towards the repayment of any amount of such 
Claim attributable to unpaid pre-filing interest. 

7.11 Treatment of Unclaimed Distributions 

If any distribution under this Article VII is returned as undeliverable (an “Undeliverable 
Distribution”), then neither the Monitor nor the Applicant will be required to make further efforts 
to deliver the distribution to such Creditor unless and until the Monitor and the Applicant are 
notified in writing by the applicable Creditor of such Creditor’s current address at which time all 
such distributions will be made to such Creditor.  If such Creditor has not notified the Monitor and 
the Applicant of its current address by the time of the final distribution, the Claim of any such 
Creditor with respect to such undelivered or unclaimed distribution shall be discharged and forever 
barred, notwithstanding any Applicable Law to the contrary, and any such cash allocable to the 
undelivered or unclaimed distribution shall be released and returned by the Monitor to the 
Applicant, free and clear of any claims of such Creditor or any other Creditors and their respective 
successors and assigns.  For greater clarity, nothing contained in the Plan shall require the Monitor 
or the Applicant to attempt to locate any holder of any Undeliverable Distributions. 
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7.12 Withholding Rights 

The Monitor, the Applicant and any other Person facilitating payments pursuant to the Plan will 
be entitled to deduct and withhold from any such payment to any Person such amounts as may be 
required to be deducted or withheld under any Applicable Law and to remit such amounts to the 
appropriate Governmental Authority or other Person entitled thereto.  To the extent that amounts 
are so withheld or deducted and remitted to the appropriate Governmental Authority or other 
Person, such withheld or deducted amounts will be treated for all purposes hereof as having been 
paid to such Person as the remainder of the payment in respect of which such withholding or 
deduction was made.  Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Monitor, on 
behalf of the Applicant, shall deduct from any distribution to a Creditor hereunder any amounts as 
indicated by Employment and Social Development Canada in a Notice of Debt and remit such 
amounts to Employment and Social Development Canada pursuant to the Employment Insurance 
Act (Canada).  Any Creditor whose address on file with the Applicant on the Distribution Record 
Date is not a Canadian address will be treated as a non-resident of Canada for purposes of any 
applicable non-resident withholding tax on all payments hereunder, subject to receipt by the 
Monitor or the Applicant of information satisfactory (in their sole discretion) that such Creditor is 
not a non-resident.  No gross-up or additional amount will be paid on any payment hereunder to 
the extent the Monitor, the Applicant or any other Person deducts or withholds amounts pursuant 
to this Section 7.12.  Notwithstanding any withholding or deduction, each Person receiving a 
payment will have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfaction and payment of any tax 
obligations imposed by any Governmental Authority (including income and other tax obligations 
on account of such distribution). 

7.13 Cancellation of Certificates and Notes, etc. 

At the Effective Time, all debentures, notes, certificates, indentures, guarantees, agreements, 
invoices and other instruments evidencing Affected Claims (and all guarantees associated with 
each of the foregoing), will not entitle any holder thereof to any compensation or participation 
other than as expressly provided for in the Plan and will be deemed cancelled and extinguished 
and be null and void. 

7.14 Calculations 

All amounts to be paid by the Monitor on behalf of the Applicant pursuant to the Plan will be 
calculated by the Monitor.  All calculations made by the Monitor will be conclusive, final and 
binding upon the Applicant and all other Persons entitled to distributions under the Plan, absent 
manifest error. 

7.15 Currency Matters 

Distributions to any Persons entitled to distributions under the Plan will be paid in Canadian dollars 
and any such Claims that are denominated in a currency other than the lawful money of Canada 
will be converted to the equivalent thereof in the lawful money of Canada at the noon rate of 
exchange as quoted by the Bank of Canada on the Filing Date, in accordance with the Claims 
Process Order and the Compensation Claims Process Order. 
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ARTICLE VIII 
RELEASES 

8.1 Plan Releases 

At the Effective Time, each of the Released Parties shall be fully, finally, and irrevocably released 
and discharged from all Released Claims, which will be fully, finally, irrevocably and forever 
waived, discharged, released, cancelled and barred as against the Released Parties, all to the fullest 
extent permitted by Applicable Law.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else contained in 
this Plan, nothing in this Section 8.1 will have the effect of releasing the Non-Released Claims. 

8.2 Injunctions 

From and after the Effective Time as set out in Section 4.1 hereof, all Persons are permanently and 
forever barred, estopped, stayed and enjoined with respect to any and all Released Claims from: 
(a) commencing, conducting, continuing or making in any manner, directly or indirectly, any 
action, suit, claim, demand or other proceeding of any nature or kind whatsoever (including any 
proceeding in a judicial, arbitral, administrative or other forum) against any of the Released 
Parties; (b) enforcing, levying, attaching, collecting or otherwise recovering or enforcing by any 
manner or means, directly or indirectly, any judgment, award, decree or Order against any of the 
Released Parties or their property; (c) commencing, conducting, continuing or making in any 
manner, directly or indirectly, any action, suit, claim, demand or other proceeding of any nature or 
kind whatsoever (including any proceeding in a judicial, arbitral, administrative or other forum) 
against any Person who makes a claim or might reasonably be expected to make a claim, in any 
manner or forum, including by way of contribution or indemnity or other relief, against one or 
more of the Released Parties; (d) creating, perfecting, asserting or otherwise enforcing, directly or 
indirectly, any Encumbrance of any kind against the Released Parties or their property; or (e) 
taking any actions to interfere with the implementation or consummation of the Plan.  All Persons 
who have previously commenced a Released Claim in any court, which Released Claim has not 
been finally determined, dismissed or discontinued prior to the Effective Time, shall forthwith 
after the Effective Time take steps to discontinue and/or dismiss, without costs, such Released 
Claim. 

8.3 Huntington Release 

At the Effective Time, Huntington University will be released and discharged from all Huntington 
Released Claims, which will be fully, finally, irrevocably and forever waived, discharged, 
released, cancelled and barred against Huntington University. 

ARTICLE IX 
COURT SANCTION 

9.1 Application for Sanction Order 

If the Plan is approved by the Required Majority of the Affected Creditors, the Applicant will 
apply for the Sanction Order on or before the date set for the Sanction Order hearing or such later 
date as the Court may set. 
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9.2 Sanction Order 

The Sanction Order will, among other things: 

(a) declare that: (i) the Plan has been approved by the Required Majority of the 
Affected Creditors in conformity with the Meeting Order and the CCAA, (ii) the 
activities of the Applicant and the Monitor have been in compliance with the 
provisions of the CCAA and the Orders of the Court made in this CCAA 
Proceeding in all respects, (iii) neither the Applicant nor Monitor have done or 
purported to do anything that is not authorized by the CCAA, and (iv) the Plan and 
the transactions contemplated thereby are fair and reasonable; 

(b) declare that the Plan, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, including the 
Plan Implementation Conditions described in Section 10.1 and all associated steps, 
compromises, transactions, arrangements, releases and reorganizations effected 
thereby are sanctioned and approved, and at the Effective Time as set out in Section 
4.1 hereof will be binding and effective upon and with respect to the Applicant, the 
Released Parties and all other Persons named or referred to in, or subject to, the 
Plan or the Sanction Order; 

(c) approve and authorize the Restructuring Steps; 

(d) as of the Effective Time and subject to Section 5.1(2) of the CCAA and Section 5.4 
of the Plan, discharge and release the Applicant and its Representatives from any 
and all Secured Claims in accordance with the Plan, and declare that the ability of 
any Person to proceed against the Applicant or its Representatives in respect of, or 
relating to any Secured Claims, whether directly, derivatively or otherwise will be 
forever discharged, enjoined and restrained, and all proceedings with respect to, in 
connection with or relating to such Secured Claims be permanently stayed, subject 
only to the right of Secured Creditors to receive distributions pursuant to the Plan 
in respect of their Secured Claims; 

(e) as of the Effective Time and subject to Section 5.1(2) of the CCAA and Section 5.4 
of the Plan, compromise, discharge and release the Applicant and its 
Representatives from any and all Affected Claims in accordance with the Plan, and 
declare that the ability of any Person to proceed against the Applicant or its 
Representatives in respect of or relating to any Affected Claims, whether directly, 
derivatively or otherwise will be forever discharged, enjoined and restrained, and 
all proceedings with respect to, in connection with or relating to such Affected 
Claims be permanently stayed, subject only to the right of Affected Creditors with 
Proven Claims to receive distributions pursuant to the Plan in respect of their 
Affected Claims; 

(f) as of the Effective Time, compromise, discharge and release the Released Parties 
from any and all Released Claims in accordance with the Plan, and declare that the 
ability of any Person to proceed against the Released Parties (or any of them) in 
respect of or relating to any Released Claim will be forever discharged and 
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restrained, and all proceedings with respect to, in connection with or relating to 
such Released Claims be permanently stayed; 

(g) as of the Effective Time, compromise, discharge and release Huntington University 
from any and all Huntington Released Claims in accordance with the Plan, and 
declare that the ability of any Person to proceed against Huntington University in 
respect of or relating to any Huntington Released Claims will be forever discharged 
and restrained, and all proceedings with respect to, in connection with or relating 
to such Huntington Released Claims be permanently stayed; 

(h) as of the Effective Time as set out in Section 4.1 hereof, bar, stop, stay and enjoin 
the commencing, taking, applying for or issuing or continuing of any and all steps 
or proceedings, including without limitation, administrative hearings and orders, 
declarations or assessments, commenced, taken or proceeded with or that may be 
commenced, taken or proceeded with against any Released Party in respect of all 
Released Claims; 

(i) declare that any Affected Claim that is not a Proven Claim or Unresolved Claim is 
forever barred and extinguished; 

(j) authorize the Applicant and the Monitor to perform their respective obligations and 
functions under the Plan and to perform all such other acts and execute such 
documents as may be required in connection with the foregoing; 

(k) declare that under no circumstances will the Monitor have any liability under any 
Applicable Law or otherwise in respect of carrying outs its obligations under the 
Plan, including making any payments required under the Plan or ordered by the 
Sanction Order; 

(l) declare that each of the CCAA Charges will be terminated, discharged, expunged 
and released upon receipt by the Applicant of an acknowledgement of payment in 
full and in the appropriate currency of the claims secured thereby and funding of 
the Administrative Reserve; 

(m) declare that, notwithstanding: (i) the pendency of the CCAA Proceeding; (ii) any 
applications for a bankruptcy, receivership or other Order now or hereafter issued 
pursuant to the BIA, the CCAA or otherwise in respect of the Applicant and any 
bankruptcy, receivership or other Order issued pursuant to any such applications; 
and (iii) any assignment in bankruptcy made or deemed to be made in respect of 
the Applicant, the transactions contemplated by the Plan will be binding on any 
trustee in bankruptcy or receiver that may be appointed in respect of the Applicant 
or their assets and will not be void or voidable by Creditors of the Applicant, nor 
will the Plan, or the payments and distributions contemplated pursuant thereto 
constitute nor be deemed to constitute a fraudulent preference, assignment, 
fraudulent conveyance, transfer at undervalue, or other reviewable transaction 
under the BIA, CCAA or any other applicable federal or provincial legislation, nor 
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will the Plan constitute oppressive or unfairly prejudicial conduct pursuant to any 
applicable federal or provincial legislation; 

(n) declare that, subject to the performance by the Applicant of its obligations under 
the Plan, all contracts, leases, agreements and other arrangements to which the 
Applicant is a party and that have not been terminated or disclaimed pursuant to the 
applicable paragraph of the Initial Order and related provision of the CCAA will be 
and remain in full force and effect, unamended as of the Effective Time as set out 
in Section 4.1 of the Plan, and no Person who is a party to any such arrangement 
may accelerate, terminate, rescind, refuse to perform or otherwise repudiate its 
obligations thereunder, or enforce or exercise any right (including any right of 
set-off, dilution or other remedy) or make any demand under or in respect of any 
such arrangement and no automatic termination will have any validity or effect, by 
reason of: 

(i) any event that occurred on or prior to the Effective Time and is not 
continuing that would have entitled such Person to enforce those rights or 
remedies (including defaults or events or default arising as a result of the 
insolvency of the Applicant); 

(ii) the insolvency of the Applicant or the fact that the Applicant sought or 
obtained relief under the CCAA; or 

(iii) any compromises or arrangements effected pursuant to the Plan, or any 
action taken or transaction effected pursuant to the Plan; 

(o) declare that the stay of proceedings under the Initial Order continues until the 
Effective Time; 

(p) approve all of the conduct of the CRO and EY in relation to the Applicant and bar 
all claims against them arising from or relating to the services provided to the 
Applicant up to and including the date of the Sanction Order; 

(q) declare that the Applicant and the Monitor may apply to the Court for advice and 
direction in respect of any matters arising from or in relation to the Plan; and 

(r) approve the Administration Reserve. 

ARTICLE X 
PLAN CONDITIONS PRECEDENT AND IMPLEMENTATION 

10.1 Conditions Precedent to Plan Implementation 

The Plan is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions (the “Plan 
Implementation Conditions”): 

(a) the Plan will have been approved by the Affected Creditors of the Applicant in 
accordance with the provisions of the Meeting Order and the CCAA; 
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(b) the Sanction Order will have been issued by the Court, consistent with the terms of 
Section 9.2 hereof; 

(c) all Pre-Filing Grievances, Restructuring Grievances, and Material Post-Filing 
Grievances shall be fully resolved or withdrawn by the applicable Union; 

(d) the Exit Financing Documentation will have been executed, delivered and become 
effective in accordance with their terms, subject only to the occurrence of the Plan 
Implementation Date; 

(e) all indebtedness and obligations under the DIP Facility shall have been fully and 
permanently repaid to the DIP Lender; 

(f) the renewal of senior management of the Applicant shall become effective no later 
than immediately prior to the Effective Time, with any such claims arising 
therefrom having been calculated in accordance with the Compensation Claims 
Process Order and constituting an Affected Claim hereunder; 

(g) all relevant Persons will have executed, delivered and filed all documents and other 
instruments that, in the opinion of the Applicant, acting reasonably, are necessary 
to implement the provisions of the Plan or the Sanction Order;  

(h) there will have been no material adverse change to the Business or the assets of the 
Applicant, in the view of the Monitor; 

(i) no action or proceeding will be pending by any third party to enjoin or prohibit the 
transactions contemplated by the Plan; and 

(j) all applicable approvals and orders of, and all applicable submissions and filings 
with, Governmental Authorities having jurisdiction for the completion of the steps 
and transactions contemplated by the Plan (including the steps and transactions 
which are Plan Implementation Conditions) will have been obtained or made, as 
the case may be, in each case to the extent deemed necessary or advisable by the 
Applicant, in form and substance satisfactory to the Applicant. 

10.2 Applicant’s Certificate – Plan Implementation 

Upon satisfaction of the Plan Implementation Conditions, the Applicant will deliver to the Monitor 
a copy of a certificate stating that each of the Plan Implementation Conditions has been satisfied 
or waived. 

10.3 Monitor’s Certificate – Plan Implementation 

As soon as practicable following receipt of the certificate referred to in Section 10.2 of the Plan, 
the Monitor will serve on the service list in the CCAA Proceeding, post on the Monitor’s Website 
and file with the Court a certificate confirming that the Plan Implementation Date has occurred. 
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ARTICLE XI 
GENERAL 

11.1 Binding Effect 

At the Effective Time, the Plan will become effective and binding on and enure to the benefit of 
the Applicant, the Released Parties, and any other Person named or referred to in or subject to the 
Plan and their Representatives.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, at the Effective 
Time: 

(a) the treatment of the Unaffected Claims, Affected Claims, Released Claims, and 
Huntington Released Claims under the Plan will be final and binding for all 
purposes and enure to the benefit of the Applicant, the Released Parties, and all 
other Persons named or referred to in, or subject to, the Plan and their respective 
heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives, successors and 
assigns; 

(b) all Affected Claims will be forever discharged and released, except only with 
respect to any distribution thereon in the manner and to the extent provided for in 
the Plan; 

(c) all Released Claims and Huntington Released Claims will be forever discharged, 
released, enjoined and barred; 

(d) subject to section 19(2) of the CCAA, each Person named or referred to in, or 
subject to, the Plan shall be deemed to have consented and agreed to all of the 
provisions of the Plan, in its entirety; and 

(e) each Person named or referred to in, or subject to, the Plan shall be deemed to have: 

(i) subject to the terms of the DIP Loan Agreement and the Exit Financing 
Documentation (including any lender consents required thereunder), 
executed and delivered to the Applicant and to the other Released Parties, 
as applicable, all consents, releases, assignments and waivers, statutory or 
otherwise, required to implement and carry out the Plan in its entirety; 

(ii) waived any default by or rescinded any demand for payment against the 
Applicant that has occurred on or prior to the Effective Time pursuant to, 
based on, or as a result of any provision, express or implied, in any 
agreement or other arrangement, written or oral, existing between such 
Person and the Applicant; and 

(iii) agreed that, if there is any conflict between the provisions, express or 
implied, of any agreement or other arrangement, written or oral, existing 
between such Person and the Applicant, as at the moment before the 
Effective Time and the provisions of the Plan, then the provisions of the 
Plan take precedence and priority and the provisions of such agreement or 
other arrangement are amended accordingly. 
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11.2 Claims Bar Date 

Nothing in this Plan extends or shall be interpreted as extending or amending the applicable Claims 
Bar Dates, or gives or shall be interpreted as giving any rights to any Person in respect of an 
Affected Claim that has been barred or extinguished pursuant to the Claims Process Order or the 
Compensation Claims Process Order. 

11.3 Deeming Provisions 

In the Plan, the deeming provisions are not rebuttable and are conclusive and irrevocable. 

11.4 Modification of the Plan 

(a) The Applicant reserves the right, at any time and from time to time, to amend, 
restate, modify and/or supplement the Plan (including to address or further address 
the treatment of claims subject to the Claims Process Order or the Compensation 
Claims Process Order), provided that any such amendment, restatement, 
modification or supplement must be contained in a written document that is filed 
with the Court and: (i) if made prior to or at the Meeting, communicated to the 
Affected Creditors in the manner contemplated by the Meeting Order, and (ii) if 
made following the Meeting, approved by the Court following notice to the 
Affected Creditors.  

(b) Notwithstanding Section 11.4(a), after the Meeting the Applicant may amend, 
restate, modify and/or supplement the Plan with the consent of the Monitor, and 
without the consent of the Affected Creditors or approval of the Court, provided 
that any such amendment, restatement, modification and/or supplement: (i) is filed 
with the Court, (ii) is posted on the website maintained by the Monitor and notice 
thereof is provided to the Affected Creditors, (iii) does not materially decrease the 
anticipated recovery of Affected Creditors under the Plan and is otherwise not 
materially adverse to the financial or economic interests of Affected Creditors, in 
each case as determined by the Monitor, and (iv) does not amend the Plan 
Implementation Conditions (including any provision of the Plan that is the subject 
of such conditions) without the consent of the party or parties for whose benefit the 
conditions exist. 

(c) Notwithstanding Section 11.4(a) and (b), any amendment, restatement, 
modification or supplement to the Plan may be made by the Applicant at any time 
and from time to time, provided that it is made with the consent of the Monitor and: 
(i) concerns a matter which is of an administrative nature required to better give 
effect to the implementation of the Plan; or (ii) is to cure any errors, omissions or 
ambiguities, and in either case is not materially adverse to the financial or economic 
interests of the Affected Creditors. 

(d) Any amended, restated, modified or supplementary Plan or Plans filed with the 
Court and, if required by this Section, approved by the Court, will for all purposes 
be and be deemed to be a part of and incorporated in the Plan. 
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11.5 Paramountcy 

From and after the Effective Time, any conflict between: 

(a) the Plan or the Sanction Order; and 

(b) the covenants, warranties, representations, terms, conditions, provisions or 
obligations, express or implied, of any contract, mortgage, security agreement, 
indenture, trust indenture, note, loan agreement, commitment letter, agreement for 
sale, lease or other agreement, written or oral and any and all amendments or 
supplements thereto existing between one or more of the Affected Creditors and 
the Applicant as at the moment before the Effective Time, 

will be deemed to be governed by the terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan and the Sanction 
Order, which will take precedence and priority. 

11.6 Severability of Plan Provisions 

If, prior to the Plan Implementation Date, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Court to 
be invalid, void or unenforceable, the Court, at the request of the Applicant and with the consent 
of the Monitor, will have the power to either: (a) sever such term or provision from the balance of 
the Plan and provide the Applicant with the option to proceed with the implementation of the 
balance of the Plan, or (b) alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable 
to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision 
held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, and such term or provision will then be applicable as so 
altered or interpreted.  Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration or interpretation, and provided 
that the Applicant proceeds with implementation of the Plan, the remainder of the terms and 
provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired 
or invalidated by such holding, alteration or interpretation. 

11.7 Protections of the Monitor 

The Monitor is acting and will continue to act in all respects in its capacity as Monitor in the CCAA 
Proceeding with respect to the Applicant (and not in its personal capacity).  The Monitor will not 
be responsible or liable for any obligations of the Applicant.  The Monitor will have the powers 
and protections granted to it by the Plan, the CCAA and any other Order made in the CCAA 
Proceeding.  EY will incur no personal liability whatsoever whether on its own part or in respect 
of any failure on the part of the Applicant to observe, perform or comply with any of its obligations 
under the Plan.  Any release, discharge or other benefit conferred upon the Monitor pursuant to 
the Plan will enure to the benefit of EY.  The Monitor in its personal capacity will be a third-party 
beneficiary to the Plan entitled to enforce such releases, discharges and benefits in accordance with 
the terms of the Plan. 

11.8 Different Capacities 

Persons who are impacted by the Plan may be impacted in more than one capacity.  Unless 
expressly provided herein to the contrary, a Person will be entitled to participate hereunder in each 
such capacity.  Any action taken by a Person in one capacity will not impact such Person in any 
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other capacity, unless otherwise provided in the Meeting Order expressly agreed by the Applicant 
and the Person in writing or unless its Claims overlap or are otherwise duplicative. 

11.9 Notices 

Any notice or other communication to be delivered hereunder must be in writing and reference the 
Plan and may, subject as hereinafter provided, be made, or given by personal delivery, ordinary 
mail or by facsimile or email addressed to the respective parties as follows: 

If to the Applicant: 

Laurentian University of Sudbury 
935 Ramsey Lake Road 
Sudbury, Ontario 
P3E 2C6 
 
Attention: Dr. Robert Haché 

With copies to (which will not constitute notice) 

Thornton Grout Finnigan LLP 
100 Wellington Street West 
Suite 3200, P.O. Box 329 
Toronto, Ontario Canada 
M5K 1K7 
 
Attention: D.J. Miller (djmiller@tgf.ca) and Mitch Grossell 
(mgrossell@tgf.ca) 

If to a Creditor: To the mailing address, facsimile number or email address provided on such 
Creditor’s Proof of Claim or such more recent address particulars of a Creditor as noted in the files 
of the Applicant or the Monitor; 

If to the Monitor: 

Ernst & Young Inc. 
EY Tower 
100 Adelaide Street W 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada  
M5H 0B3 
 
Attention: Sharon Hamilton (sharon.s.hamilton@parthenon.ey.com)  

With copies to (which will not constitute notice) 

Stikeman Elliott LLP 
5300 Commerce Court West 
199 Bay Street 
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Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
M5L 1B8 

Attention: Ashley Taylor (ataylor@stikeman.com) and Elizabeth Pillon 
(lpillon@stikeman.com)  

or to such other address as any party may from time to time notify the others in accordance with 
this section, or, in the case of an address change for the Applicant or the Monitor, by posting notice 
of such address change on the Monitor’s website (www.ey.com/ca/laurentian).  Any such 
communication so given or made will be deemed to have been given or made and to have been 
received on the day of delivery if delivered, or on the day of faxing or sending by other means of 
recorded electronic communication, provided that such day in either event is a Business Day and 
the communication is so delivered, faxed or sent before 4:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on such day.  
Otherwise, such communication will be deemed to have been given and made and to have been 
received on the next following Business Day. 

11.10 Further Assurances 

Each of the Persons named or referred to in, or subject to, the Plan will execute and deliver all 
such documents and instruments and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or desirable 
to carry out the full intent and meaning of the Plan and to give effect to the Restructuring Steps or 
any other events or transactions contemplated herein, notwithstanding any provision of the Plan 
that deems any event or transaction to occur without further formality. 

11.11 Language 

This Plan, as well as any notices, schedules or other documents related thereto has been and will 
be prepared in the English language only.  To the extent a French language or other translation is 
prepared, any such translation will be for informational purposes only, it being intended that the 
English language version will govern and prevail in all respects.  

11.12 Acts to Occur on Next Business Day 

If any distribution, payment or act under the Plan is required to be made or performed on a date 
that is not a Business Day, then the making of such distribution, payment or the performance of 
such act may be completed on the next succeeding Business Day but will be deemed to have been 
completed as of the required date. 

11.13 Non-Consummation of the Plan 

If the Plan is revoked at any time prior to the Effective Time, (a) it will be null and void in all 
respects, and (b) nothing contained in the Plan and no act taken in preparation for the 
implementation of the Plan will: (i) constitute or be deemed to constitute a waiver or release of 
any Claims by or against the Applicant or any other Person, (ii) prejudice the rights of the 
Applicant or any other Person in any further proceeding involving the Applicant, or (iii) constitute 
an admission of any sort by the Applicant or any Person. 
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DATED as of the 9th day of September, 2022. 
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Schedule “A” 

Insured Claims 

Claimant Claim Amount 

Sarah Connell $45,000,000.00 

Nina Kucheran and Mary Catherine Kucheran To be determined. 

Petra Spencer $1,000,000.00 

Zhiju Zhu $5,000,000.00 

Barbara Jean Robinson $5,000,000.00 
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affirmed October 16, 2025 
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This is Exhibit “K” referred to in the Affidavit of Tom Fenske 
affirmed October 16, 2025 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits (or as may be) 
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